NASA TECHNICAL NOTE

NASA TN D-5886



NASA TN D-5886

CASE FILE COPY

SURVEY OF HEAT TRANSFER TO NEAR-CRITICAL FLUIDS

by Robert C. Hendricks, Robert J. Simoneau, and Ray V. Smith Lewis Research Center Cleveland, Obio 44135

NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION - WASHINGTON, D. C. - NOVEMBER 1970

۱.						
	Report No. NASA TN D-5886	2. Government Acco	ession No. 3.	Recipient's Catalog	No.	
4.	Title and Subtitle		5.	Report Date November 1970	0	
;	SURVEY OF HEAT TRANS	FER TO	6.	Performing Organiz	ation Code	
	NEAR-CRITICAL FLUIDS					
7. /	Author(s) Robert C. Hendric and Ray V. Smith	ks, Robert J. S	imoneau, 8.	Performing Organiz E-5084	ation Report No.	
9. 1	Performing Organization Name and A Lewis Research Center	Address	10	Work Unit No. 129-01		
	National Aeronautics and S	pace Administra	ation	. Contract or Grant N	lo.	
	Cleveland, Ohio 44135		13	. Type of Report and	Period Covered	
12.	Sponsoring Agency Name and Addre	\$5				
	National Aeronautics and S	pace Administra	ation	Technical Note		
	Washington, D.C. 20546		14	. Sponsoring Agency	Code	
15.	Su # lementary Notes	~				
	1 - -	*:*				
16.	Abstract					
	pear to be significant to he proposed for the region. pletely satisfactory theori critical region. It does, h	eat transfer in th The report point es or correlatio	ne critical region ts out that the stat ns are not availab	; and theories w te of the art is s ble for heat tran	hich have been	
	ations and suggests proce	owever, indicat edures for appro	te the most promi aching a critical-	sing and widely point heat-trans	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	
17.	Ations and suggests proce Key Words (Suggested by Auth	owever, indicat edures for appro	te the most promi aching a critical- aching a critical- 18. Distribution State	sing and widely point heat-trans	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	
17.	Ations and suggests proce Key Words (Suggested by Auth Near-critical fluids	owever, indicat edures for appro	te the most promi aching a critical- aching a critical- 18. Distribution Stote Unclassified	sing and widely point heat-trans - unlimited	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	
17.	Ations and suggests proce Key Words (Suggested by Auth Near-critical fluids Heat transfer	owever, indicat edures for appro	te the most promi aching a critical- 18. Distribution Stote Unclassified	sing and widely point heat-trans - unlimited	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	
17.	Ations and suggests proce Key Words (Suggested by Auth Near-critical fluids Heat transfer Thermodynamics	owever, indicat edures for appro	te the most promi aching a critical- 18. Distribution Store Unclassified	sing and widely point heat-trans - unlimited	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	
17.	Ations and suggests proce Key Words (Suggested by Auth Near-critical fluids Heat transfer Thermodynamics Fluid flow	ovever, indicat	18. Distribution State Unclassified	sing and widely point heat-trans - unlimited	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	
17.	Ations and suggests proce Key Words (Suggested by Auth Near-critical fluids Heat transfer Thermodynamics Fluid flow Security Classif. (of this report)	ovever, indicat edures for appro or(s)) 20. Security Cles	te the most promi aching a critical- 18. Distribution State Unclassified sif. (of this page)	sing and widely point heat-trans - unlimited 21. No. of Pages	such that com- sfer in the used corre- sfer problem.	

.

*For sale by the Clearinghouse for Federal Scientific and Technical Information Springfield, Virginia 22151

CONTENTS

ł

ł

	Page
SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	1
NEAR-CRITICAL FLUID PROPERTIES	3
Thermodynamics of the Critical Point	3
Pressure-Density-Temperature Data - Equations of State	6
Transport Properties	9
Pseudocritical Properties	13
HEAT-TRANSFER DECIONS	15
Bogion I. Con Fluid	10
	10
Region II - Liquids	17
Region III - 1 wo Phase	17
Boundaries of Region IV - Near-Critical Region	18
NEAR-CRITICAL HEAT-TRANSFER REGION	19
Peculiarities of the Near-Critical Region	19
Heat Transfer in Free Convection Systems	25
Heat Transfer in Loops - Natural Convection Systems	28
Heat Transfer in Forced Convection Systems	32
Heated-tube experiments	32
Detailed investigations into mechanics	40
Near-Critical Heat Transfer in Relation to Conventional Geometric Effects	43
Curved tubes	43
Twisted tapes and rifle boring	46
Body-force orientation	48
Entrance effects	48
Theoretical Considerations in Forced Convection	49
Mixing length analyses	49
Acceleration - strain rates	57
Penetration model	59
Oscillations	60
General remarks	60
Thermal-acoustic oscillation	62
System oscillations	64
Choking Phenomenon	68
Zero-Gravity Operation	68

SUMMARY OF RESULTS	68
Heat-Transfer Regions	69
Near-Critical Heat-Transfer Peculiarities	69
Free and Natural Convection	70
Loops - Natural Convection Systems	70
Forced Convection - Experimental	71
Geometry Effects	72
Theoretical Considerations in Forced Convection	72
Oscillations	73
Choking	73
Zero-Gravity Operation	73
APPENDIXES	
A - SYMBOLS	74
B - HEAT-TRANSFER REGIMES AND THE PROCESS MAP	80
REFERENCES	83
BIBILOGRAPHY	102

SURVEY OF HEAT TRANSFER TO NEAR-CRITICAL FLUIDS

by Robert C. Hendricks, Robert J. Simoneau, and Ray V. Smith*

Lewis Research Center

SUMMARY

This report surveys near-critical heat transfer, including the following areas: thermal properties; heat-transfer boundaries of the near-critical region; free, natural, and forced convection experiments; oscillations; geometric effects; parameters which appear to be significant to heat transfer in the critical region; and theories which have been proposed for the region.

The report points out that the state of the art is such that completely satisfactory theories or correlations are not available for heat transfer in the critical region. It does, however, indicate the most promising and widely used correlations and suggests procedures for approaching a critical-point heat-transfer problem.

INTRODUCTION

Transport processes, particularly heat transfer, in the near-critical region have been of interest for about the last 15 years. Current emphasis stems from applications which require the use of a fluid in the near-critical condition, from inadequate information to produce satisfactory design expressions, and from an inadequate understanding of the mechanics which produce the peculiar behavior in the near-critical region.

Applications which are current or proposed include the use of near-critical helium to cool the coils of superconducting electromagnets and superconducting electronic or power-transmission equipment, the use of supercritical hydrogen as a working fluid or fuel for both chemical and nuclear rockets; the use of supercritical water in electricity generating plants, and the use of methane as a coolant and fuel for the supersonic transport.

^{*}National Bureau of Standards, Cryogenics Division, Boulder, Colorado; work partially supported by U.S. Atomic Energy Commission.

Before and during World War II, Ernst Schmidt and his associates conducted research in heat transfer by natural convection. They found the heat-transfer coefficient for a near-critical fluid to be quite high, because the specific heat and the compressibility both appeared to approach infinity at the critical point. The application they had in mind was the cooling of turbine blades in the then new jet engines.

In the mid-1950's, a substantial number of papers began to appear which reported a rather wide range of results and proposed mechanisms underlying some of the unique heat-transfer behavior. Several authors suggested that the heat-transfer characteristics of a fluid near its critical point resembled boiling. This idea persists in the literature today, but the extent and influence of this boiling-like behavior still remains to be finally established. The dominant near-critical working fluids have been hydrogen, water, carbon dioxide, Freons, and ammonia.

The reported research may be divided into two broad classes: forced and natural convection in heated tubes, and free or natural convection from heated wires and flat plates. The first class provided experimental turbulent-heat-transfer data for use in design and in establishing the reliability of correlations and theoretical analyses. The second class of studies focused more attention on the detailed mechanisms. The data from both these studies showed substantial contradiction, but there is an ever-increasing understanding of the conditions likely to produce such contradictions.

Theoretical heat-transfer analyses have not been very successful; however, this approach still shows promise in unravelling the mysteries of the near-critical region. By contrast, flow oscillations, characteristic of this region, have been examined analytically and found to be reasonably well predicted by using rather conventional concepts in mechanics.

This report surveys near-critical heat transfer, including the following areas; thermal properties; heat-transfer boundaries of the near-critical region; free, natural, and forced convection experiments; oscillations; geometric effects; parameters which appear to be significant to heat transfer in the critical region; and theories which have been proposed for the region.

The report is written with a twofold purpose: The first is to bring the information in this region together and to examine these data from a designer's point of view. The second is to examine the flow mechanisms underlying the behavior. Within the limitations of knowledge in this field, this examination lends itself not so much to selection of prime variables influencing the flow, but, more to recommendations for future work in the area.

Since this is a survey report, the authors are indebted to the entire community of researchers in the fields of near-critical heat transfer and near-critical thermodynamics for the material presented herein. In particular we are indebted to several individuals who made available their original figures for use in this report. They are Dr. J. M. H. Levelt Sengers, National Bureau of Standards; Dr. J. V. Sengers, the University of Maryland; Dr. R. S. Brokaw, NASA Lewis Research Center; Dr. R. S. Thurston of Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory; Dr. P. Giffith, Massachusetts Institute of Technology; Dr. M. Cumo, Centro Studi Nucleari, Rome, Italy; Dr. C. Gazley, Rand Corp; Dr. G. E. Tanger, Auburn University; Dr. J. R. Bartlit, Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory; Mr. S. S. Papell, NASA Lewis Research Center; Dr. L. W. B. Hall and J. D. Jackson, University of Manchester, Manchester, England; Mr. R. G. Deissler, NASA Lewis Research Center; Dr. N. Zuber, New York University; Dr. A. J. Cornelius and J. D. Parker, Oklahoma State University; Dr. R. C. Williamson, NASA Electronics Research Center.

NEAR-CRITICAL FLUID PROPERTIES

Thermodynamics of the Critical Point

The exceptional heat-transfer behavior of a near-critical fluid must ultimately be due to the influence of the unusual property behavior of a fluid near its critical point, as shown in figure 1. This is manifested both in the changes of the thermal properties themselves, and in the modifications of the flow structure caused by these changes. For any analysis to succeed, a good knowledge of the thermal properties is required.

The classical approach to the thermodynamics of the critical point is well documented in Hirschfelder, Curtiss, and Bird (ref. 1) and in Rowlinson (ref. 2). For excellent surveys of some of the more recent ideas, the reader is referred to Hammel (ref. 3), Widom (ref. 4), and Sengers and Levelt Sengers (ref. 5).

The Van der Waals equation of state

$$P = \frac{\rho RT}{1 - b_{1}\rho} - a_{1}\rho^{2}$$
(1)

where a_1 is an attraction force constant and b_1 is a repulsion force constant, is representative of the classical approach. (All symbols are defined in appendix A.) Among other things, at the critical point the Van der Waals equation (eq. (1)) yields an infinite specific heat at constant pressure and an infinite thermal expansion coefficient $(-\partial \ln \rho / \partial T)_p$, which Schmidt (ref. 6) cited as reasons why the critical fluid was an attractive heat-transfer medium.

The Van der Waals equation of state (eq. (1)) yields a cubic curve for the critical isotherm on the pressure-density $(P-\rho)$ plane and a quadratic for the coexistence curve. In reality (ref. 3), the critical isotherm is more nearly fifth degree, and the coexistence



Figure 1. - Typical thermodynamic and transport properties of near-critical parahydrogen. Ratio of pressure to critical pressure, 1.05. (Data taken from refs. 10 and 17).

curve is almost a cubic. This does not affect the primary condition for determining the critical point, that of equal saturation densities. It does, however, interject uncertainty as to the nature of the higher derivatives of P with respect to ρ .

The Van der Waals equation also yields a finite discontinuity for the specific heat at constant volume C_v at the critical point. Experimental evidence by Bagatskii, et al. (ref. 7) indicates that C_v has a logarithmic infinity with a superimposed finite discontinuity along the critical isochore. Widom's recent qualitative survey of his activities (ref. 4) proposes a three-dimensional lattice gas model to account for these difficulties.

Since near-critical thermodynamic data are somewhat scarce, the heat-transfer investigator is likely to have to extrapolate from other regions or other fluids. This prompts a comment on the law of corresponding states. To a good first-order approximation, it can be said that the thermal properties of all fluids collapse to a single curve when normalized by the appropriate critical constants. There are some problems. The second-order deviations are more severe near the critical point. For spherical nonpolar gases such as hydrogen and nitrogen, $Z_c = 0.304$ and 0.292, respectively; whereas, for the polar molecule water, $Z_c = 0.224$, approximately a 25 percent difference.

The hydrocarbons fall in between (ref. 1). When dealing in corresponding states, it is best to subdivide the fluids by molecular type. For quantum fluids, like helium, corresponding states should be avoided.

A final area of importance to heat transfer is the nonequilibrium phenomenon associated with the critical point. Maass (ref. 8) found that a hysteresis loop in density near the critical point could be obtained by first heating and then cooling along an isobar, as shown typically in figure 2. The results were very stable and reproducible even under



Figure 2. - Typical near-critical isobar exhibiting hysteresis loop according to Maass' experiment (ref. 8).

conditions of stirring. Another hysteresis example can be found in light scattering. Light scattering caused by severe density fluctuations near the critical point causes the fluid to become opaque as it passes through the critical point. The growth of the opaque condition, known as critical opalescence, is quite different depending on whether heating or cooling through the critical point is occurring. (For an excellent visual record of the critical opalescence phenomenon, the reader is referred to a motion picture produced by Siemens Aktiengesellschaft, Postfach, West Germany, entitled "Boiling and Evaporation Phenomena with Water.") These experiments demonstrate that, near the critical point, large relaxation times are required for a thermally disturbed system to return to equilibrium. One consequence of this is that the near-critical fluid under the dynamic conditions of heat transfer can be expected to experience some degree of thermodynamic nonequilibrium. This, in turn, will result in some uncertainty in applying an equation of state. In a private communication, Walter G. Zinman (Grumman Aircraft) argues that fluctuations are inherent to the thermodynamic critical point and that therefore the experimentalist may not be able to precisely locate such a point.

Also, since the paths are different, the heat-transfer process involved in cooling a near-critical fluid may be quite different than that associated with heating the same fluid.

Most of the truly severe behavior, such as the singularities in C_p , C_v , λ , and β_1 , occur precisely on the critical point. Normally, operation is not precisely on the critical point. This will tend to attenuate the influence of some of the anomalies. On the other hand, the overall large property changes, the suggested first-order effect, persist over a considerable region near the critical point.

Pressure-Density-Temperature Data - Equations of State

The availability of actual $P-\rho-T$ data near the critical point varies considerably from fluid to fluid. Probably the most detailed investigations near the critical point have been in carbon dioxide by Michels, Blaisse, and Michels (ref. 9) and in hydrogen by Goodwin, et al. (ref. 10). For other fluids of interest, like nitrogen, there is little, if any, actual data. For the most part, the heat-transfer researcher must rely on properties computed from an equation of state.

Equations of state come in all sizes and shapes. The most common are the virial type

$$P = A(T)\rho + B(T)\rho^{2} + C(T)\rho^{3} + D(T)\rho^{4} + \dots$$
(2)

Obert (ref. 11) and Hirschfelder, et al. (ref. 1) have good surveys. They list coefficients for various equations and fluids; however, they were not determined with the critical point specifically in mind. In cryogenic fluids, the Benedict-Webb-Rubin (ref. 12) equation of state, as modified by Strobridge (ref. 13) and Roder and Goodwin (ref. 14), has been very popular:

$$P = \Re T \rho + \left(\Re n_1 T + n_2 + \frac{n_3}{T} + \frac{n_4}{T^2} + \frac{n_5}{T^4} \right) \rho^2 + \left[\Re n_6 T + n_7 + \left(\frac{n_9}{T^2} + \frac{n_{10}}{T^3} + \frac{n_{11}}{T^4} \right) e^{-n_1 6 \rho^2} \right] \rho^3 + n_8 T \rho^4 + \left[\left(\frac{n_{12}}{T^2} + \frac{n_{13}}{T^3} + \frac{n_{14}}{T^4} \right) e^{-n_1 6 \rho^2} \right] \rho^5 + n_{15} \rho^6$$
(3)

6

TABLE I. - SOURCES OF NEAR-CRITICAL PROPERTIES

L.

computable by source authors	Thermal conductivity, λ	×	×	х	×				x	x			х	
	Viscosity, η	×	х	x	x				x	x			×	
	Entropy, S	x	x		x		x		х		х	х		
	Expansion coeffi- cient, $\beta_{1} = -\frac{1}{\rho} \left(\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial \mathbf{T}} \right)_{\mathbf{P}}$		×		x		×						X	
mended as	Specific heat at constant volume, C _v		x		x		х		х		х			
Properties recom	Specific heat at constant pressure, C _p		x		x		x		х					
	Enthalpy, H	Х	x	x	x		x		х		x	х		
	Pressure- density- temperature, P- <i>p</i> -T	Х	х	Х	Х	x	x		х		x	×	x	
erence	Transport properties	32, 33, 35	26, 31, 33, 35	29, 33, 35	33, 35, 176	27			33, 35	24, 25, 30, 33, 35			28, 33, 35, 185	
Source re	Equation of state	^a 22, 170	10, 14, 16, 17, 171, 172	13, 173	174, 175	15	177	^b 178	179 to 182	9, ^a 22	183	184	185	
Critical constants	Density, Pc [,] g/cm ³	0.0692	0.0314	0.311	0. 4358	0. 1625	0.210		0. 322	0.468	0. 557	0.582	0. 236	
	Temperature, T _c , K	5.3	32.99	126.2	154.8	190.7	370.0		647.3	304. 2	385. 1	418.7	406.1	
	Pressure, P _c , atm	2.26	12.80	33. 5	50.14	45.66	42.1		218.2	72.90	40.69	31.45	112.3	and of could
Fluid		Helium-4	Hydrogen	Nitrogen	Oxygen	Methane	Propane	Kerosene	Water	Carbon dioxide	Freon-12 ^c	Freon-114	Ammonia	ar imited

7

^aLimited range of application. ^bNo known equation of state. ^cDecomposition potentialities near the critical point must be recognized when using this fluid.

An alternate form of the Benedict-Webb-Rubin (BWR) equation was used by Vennix (ref. 15) to correlate his near-critical-methane data. The coefficients are of a different type than equation (3), and the exponentials are linear in ρ and T. The main difficulty with these or any <u>curve-fit</u> equation is determining other properties, such as specific heat C_p , since this requires derivatives which are often not very satisfactory near the critical point. For specific discussions of accuracy, the reader is referred to the individual references (table I).

Table I lists source references for equations of state for the fluids discussed herein. The table includes an indication as to whether the particular authors suggest computation of other useful thermodynamic properties. In some cases, $P-\rho-T$ are not used as primary variables. The table also lists transport properties. These will be taken up in the next section. For some fluids, such as hydrogen, entire computerized property packages are available (e.g., refs. 16 and 17 and a National Bureau of Standards (NBS) property package based on refs. 10 and 14).

Recently there has been considerable interest in the use of the Ising model for ferromagnets to describe the lattice gas near the critical point (refs. 18 and 19). This is discussed in the surveys (refs. 3 to 5) mentioned earlier. In drawing the analogy with the Ising model, chemical potential appears to be a more fundamental variable than pressure. Green and his co-workers (refs. 20 and 21) have offered the following equation, in which chemical potential is expressed as a function of density and temperature:

$$\frac{\left[\mu(\rho, \mathbf{T}) - \mu(\rho_{c}, \mathbf{T})\right]\rho_{c}}{\frac{P_{c}}{\left|\mathbf{t}\right|^{\beta}2^{\delta}1}} = \left|\mathbf{x}_{1}\right|^{-\beta}2^{\delta}\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{x}_{1})$$
(4)

where $t = (T - T_c)/T_c$ and $x_1 = t/[(\rho - \rho_c)/\rho_c]^{1/\beta_2}$

In reference 21 the function $h(x_1)$ had yet to be determined analytically but could be seen graphically (fig. 3(a)). In a more recent paper (refs. 22 and 23), Vicentini-Missoni, Levelt Sengers, and Green have succeeded in developing a closed-form expression for $h(x_1)$

$$h(x_{1}) = E_{1} \left(\frac{x_{1} + x_{0}}{x_{0}} \right) \left[1 + E_{2} \left(\frac{x_{1} + x_{0}}{x_{0}} \right)^{2\beta} \right]^{\beta_{2}(\delta_{1} - 1) - 1]/2\beta_{2}}$$
(4a)



Figure 3. - Scale-reduced chemical potential as function of scale-reduced density. (Data reproduced from refs. 21 and 22).

The results are shown for carbon dioxide in figure 3(b). Thus a closed-form equation of state is now available which is directed specifically at the critical region and which is subject to a very few adjustable constants, β_2 , δ_1 , E_1 , E_2 , and x_0 . Of these, only x_0 is very sensitive. Its major limitation is range. It is presently limited to ±30 percent in $\Delta \rho$ and -0.01 < t < 0.03. Thus in a practical property package, such as references 16 and 17, equations (4) and (4a) will have to be merged with the more common virial equations such as equation (3).

Transport Properties

Most of the remarks made concerning $P-\rho-T$ data can be made about transport property data. Again, the more popular fluids are better documented. There are near-critical thermal conductivity data for carbon dioxide by Sengers (ref. 24) and by Guildner (ref. 25), for hydrogen by Diller and Roder (ref. 26), for methane and ammonia by Sokolova and Golubev (refs. 27 and 28), and for nitrogen by Ziebland and Burton (ref. 29). Viscosity has been measured for carbon dioxide by Kestin, Whitelaw, and Zien (ref. 30) and for hydrogen by Diller (ref. 31).

Prior to Sengers' work, it was thought the excess of viscosity or thermal conductivity above its 'atmospheric'' value at a given temperature and pressure was a function of density alone:

$$\lambda(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{T}) - \lambda^*(\rho \to 0,\mathbf{T}) = f_1(\rho)$$
(5)

$$\eta(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{T}) - \eta^*(\rho \to 0, \mathbf{T}) = f_2(\rho)$$
 (6)

where $f_1(\rho)$ and $f_2(\rho)$ may be determined to almost the critical temperature for a gas by a density variation of the form:

$$f_1(\rho) = \lambda_1 \rho + \lambda_2 \ln \rho + \lambda_2 \rho^2 + \dots$$
 (5a)

$$f_2(\rho) = \eta_1 \rho + \eta'_2 \ln \rho + \eta_2 \rho^2 + \dots$$
 (6a)

Of course, this required a precise knowledge of ρ as a function of P and T; nevertheless, it allowed a very simple representation for viscosity and thermal conductivity. Furthermore, it could be reduced to general form by the law of corresponding states. This is still true away from the critical point, except possibly for quantum liquids such as hydrogen and helium (see refs. 26 and 32). The functional relations of equations (5) and (6) have been established for most fluids of interest by Thodos and co-workers and are summarized in a paper by Stiel and Thodos (ref. 33). Equations (5) and (6) remain valuable as a base line. In a private communication, H. J. Hanley of NBS, Boulder, Colorado, examined the hydrogen viscosity data of Diller (ref. 31) and interpreted the results to mean that there exists, at best, a weak anomaly; however, it does not occur at the critical density. Therefore, for viscosity the best evidence indicates only a weak anomaly, which can be disregarded for most fluid flow and heat-transfer calculations.

All the thermal conductivity data cited above exibit an 'anomalous spike'' in the conductivity at the critical density along near-critical isotherms, as shown in figure 4 (taken from ref. 34).



Figure 4. - Thermal conductivity of carbon dioxide exhibiting the anomalous spike. (Data reproduced from ref. 34).

The computation of the anomaly is still in developmental stages. Brokaw (ref. 35) suggests treating a near-critical fluid as a dissociating polymer and that conductivity consists of two parts

$$\lambda = \lambda_{\rm f} + \lambda_{\rm r} \tag{7}$$

Here λ_r represents the contribution due to diffusion of the dissociating clusters and λ_f the normal conductivity expressed by equation (5). The results of Brokaw's analysis are

$$\lambda_{\mathbf{r}} = \rho \mathbf{D} \; \frac{\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{ln}}}{\mathbf{D}} \; \left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{p}} \right)_{\mathbf{r}} \tag{8}$$

where D is the self-diffusion coefficient, D_{1n} is the binary diffusion coefficient of the hypothetical polymer, and $(C_p)_r$ is the specific heat in excess of the low-pressure value.

11



Figure 5. - Calculated and experimental thermal conductivities of carbon dioxide. (From ref. 35.)

Brokaw's calculations are compared to Sengers' data in figure 5. Unfortunately, the theory requires a good equation of state for computing $\begin{pmatrix} C_p \\ r \end{pmatrix}_r$ and D_{1n}/D . So far it has not been tried for other fluids.

Even though the data of Diller and Roder (ref. 26) for hydrogen and the data of Hanley and Childs (ref. 32) for helium place in considerable doubt the dependence of $\lambda - \lambda_0$ on ρ alone, even away from the critical point, equation (5) will probably have to be treated as the best available in all cases, except for liquid hydrogen and helium.

For the present, we can recommend computation of thermal conductivity by equation (7) using equation (5) to obtain λ_f and by Brokaw's theory, where an adequate equation of state is available, for λ_r . Viscosity can be computed directly from equation (6).

Many additional related properties (vapor pressure, heat of vaporization, surface tension, and others) can be found in the NBS compendium by Johnson (ref. 36).

12

Pseudocritical Properties

The unusual property behavior in the near-critical region shown on figure 1 can be examined as an extension of saturation properties.

Frequent reference is made in near-critical work to the transposed critical temperature T^* . This is normally defined as the temperature where the specific heat C_p attains a maximum for a given supercritical pressure (see fig. 1). The locus of the T^* points for hydrogen is shown in figure 6 and seems to be a very natural extension of the saturation curve. It is not, however, the same as an extension of the vapor pressure curve by the Clapeyron equation using enthalpy difference for latent heat (fig. 6) (refs. 37 and 38). Near the critical point, however, the T^* locus can be considered a pseudosaturation temperature. The T^* locus can be considered to approximately separate the pseudoliquid from the pseudovapor. Notice also on figure 6 that the T^* (or max C_p) effect has pretty well diminished at a P/P_c corresponding to the maximum in the Joule-Thompson inversion locus. Thermodynamically then, it can be said that the critical region is confined within the inversion locus.

In order to use pseudoboiling models, certain two-phase quantities in addition to the vapor pressure curve must be defined. Typical of these is latent heat of vaporization.



Figure 6. - Thermodynamic region of influence of the critical point on heat transfer. Basic locus is for hydrogen. (Clapeyron extension of saturation curve from ref. 37.)



Figure 7. - Pseudo-two-phase properties; extrapolation procedure for equivalent latent enthalpy of vaporization. (From ref. 40.)

Figure 7 shows a way of defining a pseudoheat of vaporization from the enthalpy curves, as used by Thruston and others (refs. 39 and 40). Other pseudo-two-phase quantities, such as ''saturated'' liquid and vapor densities, can be approximated in the same way (refs. 41 and 42).

In summary we can say:

(1) Classical Van der Waals models do not accurately describe the state of a nearcritical fluid, but may be satisfactory in first-order considerations.

(2) The discrepancies in the law of corresponding states are accentuated in the critical region, and the law should be used only between fluids of similar molecular structure.

(3) A thermally disturbed near-critical fluid requires long relaxation times to return to equilibrium.

(4) Equations of state of the conventional virial type can be made to accurately map a near-critical $P-\rho-T$ surface; however, they are not good for thermal properties requiring derivatives of the equation of state.

(5) A new analytic equation of state involving chemical potential, density, and temperature, based on the Ising lattice gas model, has been developed for the near-critical region. (6) The evidence for the existence of a strong anomalous spike in thermal conductivity at the critical point is overwhelming. The spike can be estimated by treating the fluid as a dissociating polymer and superimposing the results on the conventional $\lambda - \lambda^* = f_1(\rho)$ curve (eq. (5)).

(7) If a similar spike occurs in viscosity, it is sufficiently weak to be ignored. Thus, $\eta - \eta^* = f_2(\rho)$ (eq. (6)) will adequately describe viscosity.

(8) Pseudo-two-phase thermal properties can be generated by extrapolation of saturation properties and relations into the near-critical region.

HEAT-TRANSFER REGIONS

The heat-transfer problem will be broken into four parts: gases (regions I and Ia), liquids (region II), and two phase (region III), which are the three regions adjacent to the critical region; and region IV, the near-critical region itself. These four regimes are illustrated in figure 8. Although this map is based on extensive hydrogen data, a





similar map could be anticipated for other fluids. In order to determine the heat transfer and pressure drop, the region of interest must first be determined. Such a procedure is discussed and flow-charted in appendix B. In the following sections, before going to the near-critical heat-transfer problem (region IV), recommendations are offered for the adjacent regions I, Ia, II, and III.

Region I - Gas-Fluid

The data of McCarthy and Wolf (refs. 43 and 44) and Taylor (ref. 45) for hydrogen and helium give extensive heat-transfer and pressure-drop coverage of region I. The recommended equation is that of Taylor, which includes entrance effects and reduces to the successful equation of McCarthy and Wolf (refs. 43 and 44) at X/d > 25.

Nu = (Nu)_b
$$\left(\frac{T_w}{T_b}\right)^{-(0.57 - 1.59 d/X)}$$
 (9)

where

$$(Nu)_{b} = 0.023 (Re)_{b}^{0.8} (Pr)_{b}^{0.4}$$
(10)

Taylor (ref. 46) and McCarthy and Wolf (ref. 44) also determined friction factor for the data of region I. The equation of Taylor is recommended. It approaches the classic equation of Koo-Drew and McAdams at low T_w/T_b . Taylor's equation is

$$\frac{f}{2} = \left(0.0007 + \frac{0.0625}{(Re)_{W}^{0.32}}\right) \sqrt{\frac{T_{b}}{T_{w}}}$$
(11)

Region Ia - Near-Saturation, Low-Temperature Gas

This region represents an extension of region I, with gas-like behavior and strong property variations. Perroud and Rebière (ref. 47) and J. Gladden of Lewis (personal communication) investigated pressures ranging from atmospheric to several atmospheres, with inlet temperatures near saturation. Perroud's equation is

$(Nu)_b = 0.0032 (Re)_b^{0.95} (Pr)_b^{0.4}$

Taylor was able to correlate much of these data by using equation (9).

Region II - Liquids

Region II of the map (fig. 8) would be classified as liquid, with a process at lowto-moderate temperature differences. The conventional techniques of handling liquid heat transfer as given by McAdams (ref. 48), and also by equations (9) and (10), are expected to be valid (perhaps modifying the constant 0.023).

Region III - Two Phase

The two-phase regime, region III in figure 8, has been actively explored for many cryogens and noncryogens. Perroud and Rebière (ref. 47), Hsu, et al. (ref. 49), Giarratano and Smith (ref. 50), Hendricks, et al. (refs. 41 and 51), and others, have explored cryogens. Noncryogen works are extensively covered in a text by Tong (ref. 52).

Heat transfer to two-phase cryogenic fluids at high heat fluxes can be adequately correlated by the theoretical approach of Hsu, et al. (ref. 49) and the semiempirical approach of Perroud and Rebière (ref. 47). The latter is quiet similar to that of Hendricks, et al. (refs. 41 and 51). In most cases, the pressure drop is due to momentum changes, and friction pressure drop is difficult to assess.

Hsu, suggested that two-phase heat transfer could be treated with traditional singlephase correlations if the thermal and transport properties were weighted according to the void fraction; that is,

$$(\mathrm{Nu})_{\overline{\varphi}} = 0.023(\mathrm{Re})\frac{0.8}{\overline{\varphi}}(\mathrm{Pr})\frac{0.4}{\overline{\varphi}}$$
(12)

where

$$\overline{\varphi} = \alpha_l \varphi_l + \alpha_x \varphi_x$$

and φ represents any and all the fluid properties in equation (12). The reference condition x was determined empirically for hydrogen and, so far, has not been checked with other fluids (see ref. 49).

The equations given by Perroud have been applied to tubes and channels, as well as to several different cryogens. In all cases, the basic form remains the same:

$$(Nu)_{fm}(Sr)^{1/3} = f(x_{tt}) = a + \frac{d_1}{b + cx_{tt}}$$
(13)

however, the function $f(x_{tt})$ is altered slightly by differences in fluids and geometry (e.g., for hydrogen flowing through a tube, a = 1.16, b = 0.16, c = 0.3, and $d_1 = 1$; and for hydrogen flowing through a channel, a = 1.08, b = 0.135, c = 0.20, and $d_1 = 1.0$ (ref. 53).

Phenomenologically, at sufficiently high T_w/T_b values, vapor can be expected at the wall and fluid particles (filaments) in the core, while just the opposite is true for low T_w/T_b values. The occurrence of large temperature differences or large T_w/T_b is more natural in cryogenic fluids, and is one of the major reasons for the once prevalent opinion that heat transfer to cryogens and noncryogens differed. In both boiling and near-critical fluids, the range in $T_w - T_b$ or T_w/T_b is pertinent to heat transfer and will be considered more fully in the section NEAR-CRITICAL HEAT-TRANSFER REGION.

Boundaries of Region IV - Near-Critical Region

It is difficult to define the boundaries which separate the near-critical region (region IV) from its adjacent regions. There are several reasons for this: (1) For most fluids, the data are not sufficient; (2) the transition is not abrupt and sharp demarcations are difficult to determine; and (3) the near-critical influence will persist further into the adjacent regions, depending on the path (process) the fluid took to arrive at a given state point (see appendix A). This last point is particularly elusive. A gas can be precooled at critical pressure down to, and possibly even below, the transposed critical temperature T^* ; and, when run in a heated-tube experiment, it will behave as a precooled gas (i. e., similar to region I). On the other hand, if liquid is heated up through region IV to the same state point in a heated tube, the results will be quite different. Part of the near-critical heat-transfer problem is how the fluid arrives at a given state point (i. e., prior history does make a difference). This is discussed more fully in appendix A.

Nevertheless, classification of the heat-transfer regions by state conditions is convenient, uesful, and generally reasonable. For hydrogen (as shown in fig. 8), the pressure boundaries are $0.8 < P/P_c < 3$. The lowest temperature boundary is T_{sat} , corresponding to $P/P_c = 0.8$, and the upper boundary is the vicinity of T^* , the transposed critical temperature. Other fluids have not been explored extensively enough to establish

their boundaries or to confirm the universality of the hydrogen boundaries. In the absence of data, the hydrogen boundaries can probably be taken as reasonable for other fluids.

A comment is in order here concerning boundaries. What is meant in establishing these boundaries is that outside of them the influence of the critical point can be considered to be negligible and conventional variable property correlations will prevail. It does not mean that in every case within region IV conventional methods will fail. Some combinations of parameters within region IV will be amenable to conventional approaches; but, in general, this region will require analyses directed specifically at the nearcritical heat-transfer phenomenon.

The problem of heat-transfer regions can be summarized in the following manner:

(1) The near-critical heat-transfer region and its adjacent regions can be delineated in an approximate manner on a temperature-entropy state diagram.

(2) It is not possible to set precise near-critical heat-transfer boundaries for the following reasons:

(a) Data are generally insufficient.

(b) The transition from region to region is not abrupt.

(c) Most important, the extent of influence of the critical point on heat transfer is a function of the process (or path) by which the fluid approaches the critical point.

(3) Heat transfer in the adjacent regions can be correlated by conventional methods appropriate to that region. In fact, the correlatable nature of the adjacent regions helps determine the near-critical boundaries.

NEAR-CRITICAL HEAT-TRANSFER REGION

Pecularities of the Near-Critical Region

In region IV (fig. 8), standard techniques of correlating data break down. The ordidary Dittus-Boelter equation (eq. (10)) does not correlate near-critical forced convection phenomena; ordinary Rayleigh relations do not correlate pool data; standard boiling equations exhibit discontinuities; and oscillations are commonplace. Standard theoretical techniques are no better than the empirical techniques. The problem, at the risk of oversimplification, is that the heat-transfer coefficient has a strong and complex temperature dependence unlike an ordinary gas (fig. 9).

The early experiments of Schmidt, Eckert, and Grigull (ref. 6) found free and natural convection in the vicinity of the critical point to exhibit a sharp increase in heat-transfer coefficient. On the other hand, Powell (ref. 54) reported a sharp minimum in heat-transfer coefficient in the T^* region for forced convection flow of liquid oxygen



Figure 9. - Comparison between subcritical and supercritical heat-transfer behavior in forced and free convection (refs. 41, 51, 59, 62, and 63).

and nitrogen. Since then, many other investigators have found similar "peaks" in the axial wall temperature profile (refs. 42, 55 to 57). In direct opposition, there are several researchers (refs. 58 to 61) who have reported a maximum heat-transfer coefficient (fig. 9(a)). The forced convection results of figure 9(a) are for hydrogen (ref. 42) and carbon-dioxide (ref. 59), while figure 9(b) represents pool heat transfer for hydrogen (ref. 62) and water (ref. 63). The similarities in wall temperature profiles for sub-and supercritical hydrogen data are also shown.

There are two associated results which may shed some light on this problem and which bear further investigation. First, both Shitsman (ref. 56) and Yamagata, et al. (ref. 57) showed heat-transfer coefficients, when plotted against bulk enthalpy, to be a minimum near the critical enthalpy and also reported pressure oscillations in the same region. Second, all the reports of a maximum in heat-transfer coefficient came from experiments (refs. 58, 60, 61, and 64 to 66) in which the temperature difference between the wall and the bulk fluid was small when compared to experiments in which a minimum occurred (refs. 56, 57, 67, and 68).

Hsu (ref. 69) suggested that the two results can be thought of qualitatively in boiling terms. When the temperature difference is small, it can be likened to nucleate boiling, a region of very good heat transfer, thus the maximum. When the temperature difference is large, it can be compared to film boiling, a region of poor heat transfer, thus the minimum. In support of this line of thinking, examine Hauptmann's data (ref. 70)







Figure 11. - Variation of heat-transfer coefficient with heat flux in critical region exhibiting both a maximum and a minimum. Mass flow rate, 700 kilograms per square meter per second. (From ref. 74.)

shown in figure 10. The small-temperature-difference data (i. e., usually small heat flux q) exhibit a clear maximum, while the large-temperature-difference data (q = 8.4 W/cm^2) show, if anything, a minimum. A similar trend was found by Styrikovich, et al. (refs. 71 and 72) and is shown in figure 11. Wood (ref. 66) showed the heat-transfer coefficient to be a maximum near the critical point when plotted as a function of bulk temperature, and Kahn (ref. 73) showed the maximum to be a function of wall temperature. Shiralkar and Griffith (ref. 74) have found the heat-transfer coefficient to be strongly dependent on heat flux when wall temperatures are above T^* and bulk temperatures below T^* .

Pressure oscillations are a natural phenomenon of this regime and at times can be quite large, 0.3 P_{test} or 400 psi (27.2 atm) in nitrogen tetroxide as reported by McCarthy, et al. (ref. 75). Hines and Wolf (ref. 76) reported pressure oscillations of sufficient amplitude to damage their heated tubes.

Pressure drops are large and are primarily due to momentum changes (ref. 41). Friction losses become increasingly important as the heat-transfer process moves away from the near-critical regime.

The similarities in heat transfer, pressure drop, wall temperature profiles, and pressure oscillations between subcritical and the near-critical regimes is remarkable. In the early phases of the hydrogen work, the sounds of two-phase flow and supercritical flow were recorded (ref. 77). The sounds were similar, but supercritical sounds were not as "noisy." Goldman (ref. 78) has noted the same phenomenon. Researchers in this area (refs. 71, 79, and 80) often think of the fluid as pseudo-two-phase. Some of the strongest evidence in support of a pseudo-two-phase fluid comes from figure 6, from visual studies (refs. 62, and 81 to 83), and from heat-flux-against-temperature plots such as figure 9 (refs. 62, 63, and 83). Griffith and Sabersky (ref. 81) and Knapp and Sabersky (ref. 82) found the heated globules to be easily taken for bubbles. The film supplement to the work of Graham, et al. (ref. 62) gives the viewer a statistical feel for the nature of these similarities, as opposed to the instantaneous picture provided by the published photographs (e.g., ref. 82). Cumo, et al. (ref. 84) have documented the the change in fluid structure for Freon from atmospheric to the near-critical region as shown in figure 12. Nishikawa and Miyabe (ref. 83) published a set of photographs for the nucleate-film-boiling cycle and a comparative set at the reduced pressure of $P/P_c = 1.065$. The similarities at the film-boiling heat fluxes are particularly striking. The heat-flux-against-temperature-difference plots cited above, particularly those of Holt and Grosh (ref. 63), show the heat-transfer coefficient to be a function of heat flux - a phenomenon not found in normal gas heat transfer, but a trademark of boiling. One possible explanation of the unusual wall temperature profiles discussed earlier is a "boiling" model.

The strongest argument against such a pseudo-two-phase fluid is thermodynamic; a supercritical fluid in equilibrium is clearly single phase. Pseudo-two-phase-fluid

22



Reduced pressure, P/P_c: 0.17 Temperature, t, $^\circ\text{C}:$ Mass flow per unit area, G, g/cm²: 56 114



0.79 135 111.5



0.30 72 104



0.93 140 74.3







1 142 92







Figure 12. - Heat transfer to Freon-114 at various pressures. (From ref. 84).

advocates recognize this, and most, such as Miyabe (ref. 83) and others, claim that it is a nonequilibrium situation. Experimentally it is very interesting that the single-phase proponents use the same visual evidence presented by the two-phase advocates. Hauptmann (ref. 70) uses his own very dramatic photographs and reexamines the other visual experiments (refs. 70 and 81), and concludes that all of the unusual results can be explained in single-phase terms. A careful examination of all the available photographs (refs. 62, 70, and 81 to 83) reveals as many nonsimilarities to boiling as there are similarities. Really, the analyst has his choice because a strong case can be made for either model; however, it is clear that there are no sharp discontinuities in the heat-transfer data(refs. 67 and 63). Any analytic model (pseudo-two-phase or singlephase) should work throughout region IV (fig. 8) and provide smooth transition from liquid to gas if properly formulated.

The heat-transfer results change from apparatus to apparatus. For example, figure 13 illustrates changes in heat transfer for hydrogen as tube diameter is changed. At the larger diameter, the L/d effects are large and not accounted for by the pseudo-fluid or single-phase models. Thus the results appear to be system-dependent, so geometry effects must also be carefully assessed.



⁽b) Taylor equation behavior for two different tube diameters.

Figure 13. - Some geometry effects in near-criticalfluid heat transfer.

In summary we can say

(1) Some characteristics of the near-critical region are

- (a) Nonlinearities in heat flux against temperature difference
- (b) Wall temperature excursions (spikes)
- (c) Similarities to the two-phase regime
- (d) Oscillations
- (e) Large momentum pressure drops
- (f) System-dependent results
- (g) Failure of conventional correlations

(2) Modeling should be required to work throughout region IV, and should exhibit a smooth transition to the adjacent regions shown in figure 8.

Heat Transfer in Free Convection Systems

The free convection pool studies discussed in this section deal primarily with heat transfer from small test sections, such as wires, filaments, and plates. In a subsequent section, the heat transfer from natural convection loops will be considered.

The effect of the wide variations of properties appears to have a more direct influence in the pool-heat-transfer case. This is probably true because in this situation temperature differences are usually small. Pool results almost universally show enhancement in heat transfer near the critical point. Some typical experimental data where enhancement occurred are those of Dubrovina and Skripov (ref. 85) shown in figure 14.



Figure 14. - Free convection heat transfer for carbon dioxide. Data show heat-transfer-coefficient behavior as the properties near the critical point, when temperature differences are very small. (From ref. 85).

TABLE II	FREE	CONVECTION ·	-	POOLS
----------	------	--------------	---	-------

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>						
Investigator	Date	Refer-	Fluid	Geometry	Range of conditions		Constants
	of work	ence			Ratio of pressure to critical pressure, P/P _c	Ratio of temper- ature to critical temperature, T/T _c	
Doughty and Drake	1956	186	Freon-12 (CCl_2F_2)	Horizontal wire	0.28 to 1.7	0.77 to 1.04	n = 1/3 C = 0.14
Bonilla and Sigel	1960	187	n-pentane (C ₅ H ₁₂)	Horizontal plate	0.72 to 1.5	0.65 to 0.74 (fluid) 0.71 to 1.06 (surface)	C = 0.172 n = 1/3 $\beta_1 \Delta T = \ln(\rho_b / \rho_w)$
Griffith and Sabersky	1960	81	$\frac{\text{Freon-114A}}{(\text{C}_2\text{Cl}_2\text{F}_4)}$	Horizontal wire	0.42 to 1.15	0.725 to 1.08	
Skripov and Potashev	1962	188	co ₂	Vertical wire	0.82 to 1.25	1.00 to 1.02	
Brodowicz and Białokoz	1963	189	$\frac{\text{Freon-12}}{(\text{CCl}_2\text{F}_2)}$	Vertical plate	1	0.98 to 1.07	
Holt and Grosh	1963	63	н ₂ О	Horizontal wire and vertical ribbon	1.5×10 ⁻⁴ to 1.25	0.75 to 1.0 (fluid) 0.75 to 2.0 (surface)	
Fritsch and Grosh	1963	190, 191	н ₂ о	Vertical ribbon	1.03 to 1.06	1.0036 to 1.0086	
Dubrovina and Skripov	1964	85	co ₂	Horizontal wire, horizontal and vertical ribbon	0.99 to 1.3	1.00 to 1.03	
Knapp and Sabersky	1965	82	CO2	Horizontal and vertical wire	1.03 to 1.40	0.93 to 1.09	
Nishikawa and Miyabe	1965	83	co ₂	Horizontal wire	1.00 to 1.33	0.98 to 1.63	Pseudocritical properties analysis
Graham, Hendricks, and Ehlers	1965	62	Н2	Horizontal ribbon	0.32 to 1.38	0.76 to 1.19	$0.25 \leq n \leq 0.35$
Larson and Schoenhals	1966	192	н ₂ о	Vertical ribbon	1.01 to 1.03	0.98 to 1.04	$ \begin{array}{c} a = 1/3 \\ b = 0.247 \\ c = 0.137 \\ x = 0.5 \end{array} Eq.(15) $
Goldstein and Aung	1967	86	co ₂	Horizontal wire	1.03 to 1.21	0.94 to 1.09	
Daniels and Bramall	1965	193	co2	Horizontal Monel wire	0.79 to 1.16	0.86 to 1.03	

The enhancement of the heat-transfer coefficient is very pronounced but also limited to a very small temperature range. Also the enhancement peaks somewhat away from the critical point and in the region of the transposed critical temperature.

Unlike a forced convection system, the free convection system has no constraining boundaries. Consequently, it is able to respond to favorable property variations with enhanced heat transfer.

Although boiling-like behavior has been reported for pools (refs. 63 and 81), the onset of this behavior was not characterized by a marked change in the heat-transfer coefficient, as is the case with the onset of nucleate boiling. This can be seen in the supercritical curves of figure 9. Although the mechanisms for nucleate boiling and nearcritical heat transfer may be similar, some aspects of the energy transport must be different.

Some interesting near-critical free convection experiments are those of references 82, 86, and 87 using a small-diameter horizontal wire. Knapp and Sabersky (ref. 82) were the first to photograph an oscillation back and forth between laminar and turbulent flow while heating near-critical carbon dioxide. Their data indicated a sharp increase in heat transfer in going from the all-laminar to the all-turbulent region; however, the transition through the oscillating region appeared to be smooth. The authors indicate that this is probably because the data were average data, and that they suspect an oscillation in wire temperature to go with the laminar-turbulent oscillation. Goldstein and Aung (ref. 86) reported similar oscillations but no sharp increase in heat transfer. The phenomenon remains unexplained at present; however, such oscillations may well be fundamental to our understanding of the oscillations noted in forced convection and natural convection loops.

Recently, Hahne (ref. 88) conducted the classic free convection experiment between two horizontal plates, using supercritical carbon dioxide. He found 'spindle-like'' structures, rather than the classic Benard cells.

The pool experiments in the near-critical region are summarized in table II. Most of the data analyses of the papers shown in table II employ rather conventional dimensionless groups. In some cases, there have been modifications, primarily to account for the variable properties in the boundary region (refs. 89 to 91). There appears to be general agreement that somewhat away from the critical and transposed critical points the conventional correlations will hold for all fluids and for all systems, as discussed in the section HEAT-TRANSFER REGIONS. Thus, away from the critical point, McAdams basic equation (ref. 48)

$$(Nu)_{f} = C(Ra)^{n}$$
(14)

should work. Closer to the critical point, modifications of the following basic form are employed:

$$(Nu)_{x} = C(Gr)_{x}^{a}(Pr)_{x}^{b}\left(\frac{T_{\infty}}{T_{w} - T_{\infty}}\right)^{c}$$
(15)

Specific details are listed in table II. Very close to the critical point, Simon and Eckert (ref. 92) recommend

$$\frac{q\sqrt{\frac{|\mathbf{T} - \mathbf{T}_{c}|}{\mathbf{T}_{c}}}}{\rho_{c}^{\lambda}w\left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{T}}{\partial\rho}\right)_{P}} = 3.25 \times 10^{-9} \frac{(\mathrm{Ra})_{w}}{\sqrt{(\mathrm{Pr})_{w}}}$$
(16)

In summary,

(1) Pool results almost universally show an enhancement in heat transfer near the critical point. In all cases, the temperature differences are small and the enhancement occurs over a limited temperature range and peaks somewhat away from the critical point. Large temperature differences diminish the peak.

(2) Free convection systems have no constraining boundaries and consequently respond favorably to property variations.

(3) Boiling-like behavior in near-critical pools is not accompained by the marked increase in heat-transfer coefficient of nucleate boiling.

(4) Most researchers employed conventional techniques away from the critical point. However, close to the critical point, modifications such as equations (15) and (16) are employed (see table II).

(5) Laminar-to-turbulent oscillations have been observed, but the origin of this phenomenon has not been explained. These oscillations may well determine the character of near-critical oscillations found in natural and forced convection systems.

Heat Transfer in Loops - Natural Convection Systems

Historically, there has been considerable interest in the use of a natural convection loop or column (fig. 15). Here a fluid in the supercritical region can operate at high heat flux.

Experiments and analyses in natural convection loops begin with the work of Schmidt (refs. 6, and 93 to 95). As in pools, the results of loop experiments are universally an enhancement of heat transfer near the critical point when compared to noncritical fluids under similar heat-transfer conditions. And as in forced convection systems,



Figure 15. - Schematic of a typical natural convection loop.

oscillations appear to be dependent on the proximity to the critical point, as will be discussed in a later section. The laminar-to-turbulent-flow oscillations noted in nearcritical pools could be the origin of the oscillations noted in natural convection loops.

Further evidence of similarities to forced convection are the body force effects at low flow (discussed under geometry effects) and heat transfer at low $\Delta T = T_w - T_b$.

In an effort to correlate near-critical data, Holman and Boggs (ref. 96) rearranged Schmidt's basic loop equations to the form

Nu = 16(Re)²(Pr)(Gr)⁻¹
$$\left(\frac{l}{L_T}\right)\left(\frac{d}{\xi}\right)$$
 (laminar) (17)

Nu = 0.079(Re)^{11/4}(Pr)(Gr)⁻¹
$$\left(\frac{l_T}{L_T}\right)\left(\frac{d}{\xi}\right)$$
 (turbulent) (18)

To test the geometry effects, Tanger, et al. (ref. 97) compared sulfur hexafluoride



Figure 16. - Correlation of near-critical sulfur hexafluoride data in natural convection loops of different geometries. (From ref. 97.)

data obtained in two different loops. For a fixed l_T and d, the geometry factors of equations (17) and (18) of loop 1 were approximately 1.8 those of loop 2. They found no effect due to geometry variations. For the critical region, they recommend

$$\frac{\text{Nu(Gr)}_{f}}{\text{Pr}} = 0.00982(\text{Re})^{11/4}$$
(19)

The results are shown in figure 16. Merlini (ref. 98) found a very strong influence of the transposed critical temperature on both heat transfer and oscillations. He used the experimentally determined film-to-centerline fluid temperature ratio T_x/T_{ξ} to correlate his data

Nu = Const(Re)^{0.65}(Pr)^{0.15}
$$\left(\frac{T_x}{T_{t}}\right)^{-5.27}$$
 (19a)

where

Const =
$$\begin{cases} 0.287 & \frac{T_x}{T_{t}} > 1.2 \\ 0.196 & \frac{T_x}{T_{t}} < 1.2 \end{cases}$$

30

Investigator	Date	Refer-	Fluid	Geometry	Range of conditions			
	of work	ence			Ratio of pressure to critical pressure, P/P _c	Ratio of temperature to critical temperature, T/T _c		
Schmidt, Eckert, and Grigull	1939	6	Ammonia (NH ₃)	Loop: 0.59 in. i.d., 7.4 ft long	0.52 to 1.29	0.6 to 1.25		
Schmidt	1951	93	н ₂ о	Turbine blades (hollow core)	1	0.77 to 1.07		
Van Putte and Grosh	1960	194	н ₂ о	Test section: 5 ft long, 0.245 in. i.d.	0.03 to 1.25	Up to 1.12		
Merlini	1968	98	н ₂ О	Loop: 0.742 in. i.d., 42 ft long	1.06 to 1.24	0.735 to 1.016		
Holman and Boggs	1966	96	$\frac{\text{Freon-12}}{(\text{CCl}_2\text{F}_2)}$	Loop: 0.43 in. i.d. 49 ft long	0.84 to 1.5	0.88 to 1.39		
Harden and Boggs	1964	155	$\frac{\text{Freon-114}}{(\text{C}_2\text{Cl}_2\text{F}_4)}$	Loop: 0.93 in. i.d., 49 ft long				
Cornelius and Parker	1965	151	$\frac{\text{Freon-114}}{(\text{C}_2\text{Cl}_2\text{F}_4)}$	Loop: 0.93 in. i.d., 49 ft long	1.0 to 1.1	0.86 to 1.0		
Tanger, Lytle, and Vachon	1968	97	Sulfur hexafluoride (SF ₆)	2 loops: 43 in. i.d., 28 and 38 ft long, varied vertical distribution between condition and heater	0.98 to 1.64	0.995 to 1.14		
Hahne	1965	195	со ₂	Closed inclined tube	Constant volu ature experin	me and temper- nent		

TABLE III. - NATURAL CONVECTION - LOOPS

Because of this equation's extreme dependence on T_{χ}/T_{ξ} , the reader should become familiar with reference 98 and exercise caution where applying equation (19a). The experiments in natural convection loops are summarized in table III.

The results obtained in free convection pools bear many similarities to the results for natural convection loops; however, there are also many similarities between loops and forced convection systems.

In summary,

(1) In free convection pools and natural convection loops, close proximity of the fluid to the critical point appears to enhance heat transfer. This is possibly the result of a free boundary system being able to respond to enhancing property variations when the temperature differences are low. As will be shown, forced convection systems at low temperature differences exhibit similar trends.

(2) Reasonable success has been achieved in correlating the data of both the pools and natural convection loops by variable property modifications to the standard equations for the given configuration.

(3) The pool experiments have produced considerable support for a pseudo-two-phase modeling of a near-critical fluid. On the other hand, the success of single-phase correlations indicates either approach may be successful.

(4) To date no single correlation has been tested against all the available data.

(5) Since these experiments operate very close to the critical point, there is a continuning need for improved property data and equations of state.

(6) System oscillations which are commonplace in a natural convection loop near the critical point are similar to those observed in forced convection systems.

Heat Transfer in Forced Convection Systems

The experimental work in near-critical forced convection can be broken into two major categories. First are the conventional heated-tube experiments which have been used so successfully in determining Nusselt correlations for gases. In the second category are experiments which examine one or two details of the heat-transfer process in order to explain the mechanism of near-critical heat transfer.

<u>Heated-tube experiments</u>. - In the past 17 years, over 30 experiments in forced convection heat transfer to supercritical fluids, which fall into the broad classification known as heated-tube experiments, have been conducted. All these experiments were very similar in design, operating procedure, measurements, and to some extent, results. These experiments can be surveyed as a group, pointing out specifics where necessary. The range of these experiments, which by now is quite extensive, is summarized in table IV. The most popular fluids have been water, hydrogen, and carbon
Investigator	Date	Refer-	Fluid	Range of conditions								Correlation attempts		
	work	ence		Ratio of pressure to critical pressure, P/P _c	Ratio of bulk to critical temperature, T _b /T _c	Ratio of wall to critical temperature, T _w /T _c	Heat flux, q, W/cm ²	Mass flow per unit area, G, g/cm ² -sec	Character- istic length (diameter) d, cm	Length- diameter ratio, L/d	Equa- tion	Constants		
Monroe, Bristow, and Newell	1952	80	02	1.03 to 2.74	0.99 to 1.29	1.07 to 1.60	0, 29 to 12.8	2, 72 to 71.5	12.7	75 to 220	None			
Chalfant Randall Goldman	1954 1956 1961	196 197 198	} _{H2} O	1.56	0.74 to 1.25	0.74 to 1.60	32 to 940	210 to 550	1.27 to 1.90	10 to 120	None			
Dean and Thompson	1956	79	N2	0.61 to 1.22	0.64 to 0.66	0.8 to 9.0	65 to 810		4.75	Average	None			
Bringer and Smith	1957	100	co ₂	1.12	0.97 to 1.06	1.02 to 1.12	3.2 to 32	54 to 220	4,57	0 to 133	(15)	$ \begin{array}{l} C = 0.0266, \ a = 0.77, \\ (Pr)_{X}^{b} = (Pr)_{W}^{0.55}, \ p = 0, \\ x = f[(T*-T_{b})/(T_{W} - T_{b})] \end{array} $		
Powell	1957	54	0 ₂	1.20 to 1.44	0.63 to 3.6	2.5 to 7.4	190 to 800	300 to 2740	4,93	31 to 371	Mixing length			
Miropolskii, Picus, and Shitsman Miropolskii and Shitsman	1966 1957	105 102	} ₄₂ 0	0.018 to 1.29	0.43 to 1.07		29 to 2320	17 to 3000	2.9 to 8.2	10 to 40	(17)			
Dickinson and Welch	1958	64	H ₂ O	1.09, 1.41	0.58 to 1.25	0.65 to 1.33	870 to 1820	220 to 340	7.62	25 to 180	(15)	C = 0.023, $a = 0.8$, $b = 0.4$, p = 0, $x = 0$		
Morra and Barger DelBene and Barger	1958 1959	199 200	}cc12F2	0.98 to 1.30	0.97 to 1.22	0.98 to 1.72	0.55 to 10.7	21 to 71	8.90	0 to 131	None			
Schmidt	1951	67	н ₂ о	0,78 to 1.37	0.73 to 1.25	0.77 to 1.55	29 to 82	70, 120	5.0, 8.0		None			
Koppe! and Smith	1961	59	co2	1,000 to 1.03	0.96 to 1.06	1.10 to 2.10	6.3 to 63	26 to 135	4.93	2.5 to 93	None			
Petukhov, Krasnoschekov, and Protopopov	1961	60	co ₂	1.20 to 1.46	0.98 to 1.15	1.01 to 1.16	3.4 to 12.0	68	6.70	5 to 97	(19)	a = -0.11, $b = 0.35$, $c = 0$, d = 0.35 (Nu = Nu(Re, Pr, f))		
Thompson and Geery	1961	68	р-Н ₂	3.58 to 7.10	0.92 to 3.93	2.0 to 26.6	18 to 1300		4.93	20.6, 41.2	(15)	See ref. for constant		
Szetela	1962	143	р-н ₂						6.58 to 11.4	1 to 34	None			
Shitsman	1963	56	н ₂ 0	1.05 to 1.15	0.85 to 1.01	0.91 to 1.35	≤115	30 to 150	8.0	10 to 186	(17)			
Domin	1963	58	н ₂ 0	1.01 to 1.19	≤1.12	≲1.53	1.15 to 115	≤516	2.0, 4.0	Average	(17)			
Wood	1963	66	со ₂	1.004, 1.03	0.94 to 1.01	0.99 to 1.08	3.2 to 20.5	144 to 226	22.9	30.8	Mixing length			
Krasnoshchekov and Protopopov Krasnoschekov, Protopov, Feng, and Kuraeva	1964 1966	106 201	}co2	1.06, 1.33	0.96 to 1.26	0.97 to 2.6	4.6 to 260		4.08	1 to 51	(19)	a = 0, b = 0, c = 0.3, $d = f(T_b, T_w, T^*)$ (Nu = Nu(Re, Pr, f))		
Finn	1964	108	с ₃ н ₈	1.13	0.84 to 1.07	0.96 to 1.43	3.15 to 38	53 to 173	7.65	3.5 to 67	(19)	a = -0.02, $b = 0.20$, c = -0.27, $d = 0.54$		
Miller, Seader, and Trebes	1965	55	р-н ₂	2.13 to 13.3	0.85 to 3.09	<16	223 to 3910	250 to 1180	5.34	2.5 to 55	(21)	C = 0.0204, x = 0.4, a = 0.00983		
Holman, Rea, and Howard	1965	202	CC12F2	0.90 to 1.27	0.95 to 1.08	1.00 to 1.30	0,47 to 27	17 to 44	12.7×44.4 annulus		(20)	See ref. for constants		
Hendricks, Simoneau, and Friedman	1965	203	р- Н 2	5.30 to 13.3	1.00 to 3.36	2.5 to 20.0	58.5 to 1630	28 to 840	5.35 to 11.1	3.4 to 78.2	(15)	C = 0.021, a = 0.8, b = 0.4, x = 0.5, $p = 0$		
Swenson, Carver, and Kakarala	1965	61	н ₂ 0	1.03 to I.88	0,54 to 1,31	0.57 to 1,42	20 to 182	54 to 218	9.43	20.2 to 182	(19)	Slightly different form (see ref.)		

TABLE IV. - FORCED CONVECTION - HEATED-TUBE EXPERIMENTS

Investigator	Date	Refer-	Fluid	Ponte of antidates									
livestigator	of	ence	Field	Range of conditions							Correlation attempts		
	work			Ratio of pressure to critical pressure, P.P.	Ratio of bulk to critical temperature, T _b T _c	Ratio of wall to critical temperature, T _w T _c	d. q. W cm ²	Mass flow per unit area, G, g/cm ² -sec	Character- istic length (diameter) d, cm	Length- díameter ratio, L d	Equa- tion	Constants	
Bishop, Krambeck, and Sandberg	1965	204	H ₂ O	0,75 to 0.975	0.97 to 1.24	1,02 to 1,41	23 to 256	66 to 330	2.54, 5.08	30 to 385	(15)	C 0.0073. a 0.886. b 0.61. x 0.5. p = C. plus L/d term	
Hendricks, Graham, Hsu, and Friedman	1966	41	^{р-н} 2	0.43 to 4.37	0,75 to 8,38	2.0 to 15.0	33 to 540	14 to 510	4,75 to 12.8	5 to 114	(22)		
Tanaka, Nishiwaki, and Hirata	1967	65	co2	1.06	0.987 to 1.02 .997 to 1.03		^a 1.43 to 5.20 ^b 1.43 to 8.14	50 to 100	10.0	5 to 95	Mixing length		
Yamagata, Nishikawa, Hasegawa, and Fujii	1967	57	H ₂ O	1.15	0.607 to 1.25	0.915 to 1.50	11.6 to 93	32.3 (0 108	10.0	10 to 190	(19)	Constant $f[(T^* - T_b)/(T_w - T_b)]$ (see ref.)	
Schnurr	1969	101	co ₂	1.003 to 1.03	0.97 to 1.04	1.07 to 1.39	25 to 189		2,64	1 to 75	(15)	$ \begin{array}{l} C & 0.0266, \ u = 0.77, \\ \left(\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{X}}^{b} = \left(\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{W}}^{00}, 55, \ \mathbf{p} = 0, \\ \mathbf{x} = i \left[(\mathbf{T}^* - \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{b}}) / (\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{b}}) \right] \\ \left(\mathrm{Nu} + \mathrm{Nu}(\mathrm{Re}, \mathrm{Pr}, f) \right) \end{array} $	
Armand, Tarasova, and Konkov	1959	205	н ₂ 0	1.04 to 1.19			18.7 to 73.5	45 to 65	6.0.8.0	3.1 to 37	(17)	C 0.0215	
Shitsman	1962	206	н ₂ о	1.03 to 1, 19	0.89 to 1.03	0, 82 to 1, 01	^b 29 to 580	10 to 250	8.0	4 to 18	(19)	a -0.25, b 0.33, c 0, d 0.35 (Nu Nu(Re, Pr, f))	
Krasnoschekov and Protopopov	1959	145	co ₂	1.23 to 1.37					6.70	5 to 95	(19)	For regions see ref.	
Glickstein and Whitesides	1966	207	сн ₄	0.3 to 1.2	0.3 to 1.8		to 374	89 to 362	8.5	99	(22)	Not x _{it} dependent	
Beech ^c	1967	208	Kerosene	0.83 to 3.0	0.43 to 0.46	0.44 to 1,17	to 250	250 to 265	6.0	51.5		St(Pr) ^{0,6} 0,0034 Tube in a rectangular passage	
Kafengauz	1969	153	Diisopropyl cyclohexane	1.5 to 2.5					0.8 to 2.3	13 to 38	None		
Von Berg, Williamson, and Edeskuty	1969	209	N ₂	0.81 to 1.22	0.70 to 1.23		1.9 to 7.5	1.1 to 6.8	34.8	131	(10)		
Нау	1969	210	He	1.7 to 10.2	0,80 to 1.50	0.85 to 1.60		3.9 to 22	0.25	600	None		
Povarnin and Maikina	1969	211	Various hydro- carbons	2 to 4			35	400 to 3200	1 to 3	- 100	(20)		
Touba and McFadden	1966	212	н ₂ 0	1.006 to 1.06	0.916 to 1.01	0.926 to 1.11	55.5 to 165	115 to 525	0.622 and 0.94	212 and 151		$\begin{bmatrix}, \underline{q}, \ \underline{q}, \\ (H_w - H_b)G \end{bmatrix} (Re)_b^{0, 2} = 0.0068$	
												$+ \exp\left[2.19\left(\frac{H_{10}}{H^{*}} - 0.801\right)\right]$	

i. 1

TABLE IV. - Concluded. FORCED CONVECTION - HEATED-TUBE EXPERIMENTS

^a Heating, ^bCooling, ^cAlso in an unpublished English Ministry of Technology Report by Beech and Ziebland entitled "Heat Transfer to Kerosine at Supercritical and Subcritical Pressures,"

dioxide; and the flow is normally vertically upward. The emphasis in many of these experiments was on data correlation.

The correlation attempts can be treated in a general manner as to form. Early work centered on reference temperature modifications to the basic Dittus-Boelter equation:

$$(Nu)_{x} = C(Re)_{x}^{a}(Pr)_{x}^{b} \left(\frac{T_{w}}{T_{b}}\right)^{p}$$
(20)

where x means that the fluid properties are evaluated at $T_x = T_b + x(T_w - T_b)$. Eckert (ref. 99) suggested that x may be a function of a dimensionless temperature frequently called the Eckert parameter

$$x = f\left(\frac{T^* - T_b}{T_w - T_b}\right)$$
(21)

Bringer and Smith (ref. 100) and Schnurr (ref. 101) have plotted these functions, as shown in figure 17. While this treatment handles quite a bit of data, it has never been generalized to other data and no analysis is available to predict the function.



Figure 17. - Effect of relative proximity to the critical point on Eckert reference temperature (refs. 59, 101, and 135).

Another early correlation directed specifically at heat transfer near the critical point was that of Miropolskii and Shitsman (ref. 102); using water experiments they proposed

$$(Nu)_{b} = 0.023 (Re)_{b}^{0.8} (Pr)_{min}^{0.4}$$
(22)

where $(Pr)_{min}$ is the minimum Prandtl number, defined as

$$(Pr)_{min} = \begin{cases} (Pr)_b & (Pr)_b < (Pr)_w \\ (Pr)_w & (Pr)_w < (Pr)_b \end{cases}$$
(22a)

This amazingly simple modification to the Dittus-Boelter equation produced some remarkable results. Miropolskii and Shitsman (ref. 103) made a plot (redrawn in fig. 18) for water at 230 atmospheres ($P_c = 218.2 \text{ atm}$) using equation (22). Figure 18 shows a sharp peak in heat-transfer coefficient at $T_b \rightarrow T^*$ and the peak decreases with increased heat flux until, with an order of magnitude increase in q, there is practically no peak. Compare this to the data from Hauptmann's experiment (ref. 70) for carbon dioxide flowing over a flat plate, shown in figure 10. The qualitative similarities between these data and the Miropolskii and Shitsman calculations (fig. 18) are striking. In



Figure 18. - Calculations of heat-transfer coefficient for water by Miropolsky and Shitsman correlation (eq. (22)). Ratio of pressure to critical pressure, 1.052; mass flow rate, 100 grams per square centimeter per second; tube diameter, 30 millimeters. (Data from ref. 103.)

Hauptmann's data, however, the heat-transfer coefficient first increased, then decreased with heat flux. The data also showed a marked transverse body-force effect which, of course, the correlation could not comprehend. Shitsman (ref. 104) successfully extended this correlation to include the water data of Dickinson and Welch (ref. 64), the oxygen data of Powell (ref. 54), and the carbon dioxide data of Bringer and Smith (ref. 100). Particularly interesting was the fact that the correlation comprehended both the maximum in heat-transfer coefficient reported by Dickinson and Welch and the minimum reported by Powell. Later, however, using water, Shitsman (refs. 103 and 105) also discovered experimentally the same temperature ''spikes, '' shown typically in figure 11, that Powell (ref. 54) reported for oxygen. He called this a region of ''impairment'' to heat transfer and likened it to boiling crisis. He cautioned his readers that equation (22) would not correlate this region despite the fact that it had earlier handled Powell's similar conditions. The authors have tried this equation on the hydrogen data of Hendricks, et al. (ref. 41) with unsuccessful results.

Another correlation directed at the critical point is of the form

$$Nu = (Nu)_{b} \left(\frac{\eta_{w}}{\eta_{b}}\right)^{a} \left(\frac{\lambda_{w}}{\lambda_{b}}\right)^{b} \left(\frac{\rho_{w}}{\rho_{b}}\right)^{c} \left[\frac{\overline{C}_{p}}{\left(C_{p}\right)_{b}}\right]^{d}$$
(23)

where $(Nu)_b$ is the Dittus-Boelter value (eq. (10)) and $\overline{C}_p = (H_w - H_b)/(T_w - T_b)$. Versions of equation (23) have been used for carbon dioxide (refs. 60 and 106), for water (refs. 61 and 107) and for propane (ref. 108). The key characteristic would seem to be the integrated specific heat \overline{C}_p .

The concept of using not only integrated specific heat, but all physical properties on an integrated average basis was put forth by Brokaw (ref. 109) for a reacting N_2O_4 system. The properties would be expressed as

$$\overline{\varphi} = \frac{1}{T_{w} - T_{b}} \int_{T_{b}}^{T_{w}} \varphi(t) dt$$
(24)

where $\varphi(t)$ is any fluid property. This has a tendency to smooth out the sharp nearcritical property changes, as shown in figure 19 for density. Since near-critical fluids can be thought of as dissociating, this approach could have merit. Furthermore, if the temperature profile is known, or a reasonable assumption for the profile is made, the integral average property becomes

$$\overline{\varphi}_{1} = \frac{1}{r} \int_{0}^{r} \varphi[T(y)] dy$$
(24a)



Figure 19. - Integral average properties as defined by Brokaw (ref. 109) in comparison to equilibrium properties, for parahydrogen.

Hess and Kunz (ref. 110) proposed a correlation of the form

$$(Nu)_{X} = C(Re)_{X}^{0.8} (Pr)_{X}^{0.4} \left(1 + a \frac{\nu_{W}}{\nu_{b}}\right)$$
(25)

This has worked reasonably well for hydrogen (ref. 55).

Most authors have been reluctant to propose ''pseudoboiling'' models for forced convection heat transfer. Hendricks, et al. (refs. 41 and 42) have suggested modification of two boiling concepts, the Martinelli parameter (ref. 111) and the Stermann parameter (sometimes called boiling number) (ref. 112), for use in the supercritical region:

$$(Nu)_{f} = (Nu)_{fm} f(\chi_{tt}', Sr)$$
(26)

where

 $(x_{tt})' = \left(\frac{1 - x_2}{x_2}\right)^{0.9} \left(\frac{\eta_1}{\eta_{pg,f}}\right)^{0.1} \left(\frac{\rho_{pg,f}}{\rho_1}\right)^{0.5}$ (26a)

and

$$Sr = \frac{q \,\Delta v}{u_{\rm b} \,\Delta H} \tag{26b}$$

where the subscript 1 refers to the liquid or heavy species. While the functional relation has not been specified, these parameters have shown some success in grouping the data.

Wilson (ref. 113) used a somewhat similar concept:

$$\frac{1}{(Nu)_{w}} = a + bN_{sk}$$
(26c)

where

$$N_{sk} = \frac{Q - \dot{\omega}(H_{l} - H_{inlet})}{\dot{\omega}(H_{g} - H_{l})}$$
(26d)

and

If an equation is listed as a correlating equation in table IV, it is intended to imply that the particular author used a nondimensional correlation which is one of the basic forms of equations (20) to (26), as indicated in the table. The reader is referred to the actual reference for the specific form of the correlation.

In forced convection, in addition to subdividing regions by state conditions as in figure 8, some success has been had by Yamagata, et al. (ref. 114) and others (refs. 41 and 42) in determining correlating regions by flow parameters. Figure 20 shows a typical map of heat flux against mass flow. Basically, for combinations of high flow or low heat flux, conventional correlations of the type shown in equation (9) will work even in



Figure 20. - Typical map of heat flux as a function of mass flux. (From refs. 74 and 114.)

region IV of figure 8. For high heat flux or low flow, however, conventional correlations fail and the peculiarities of the near-critical region, such as wall temperature spikes appear. This information helps considerably in reducing the size of the region of non-correlation (region IV). Unfortunately, for the present, only water and carbon dioxide have been explored in this manner.

Detailed investigations into mechanisms. - There have been several experiments directed to more specific and detailed information than available from the heated-tube experiments (refs. 66, 70, 73, and 113 and a paper entitled "Turbulent Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point" by R. J. Hanold, submitted to the 1970 International Heat Transfer Conference). Probably the most useful details concerning the flow are velocity and temperature profiles. The only experiments in which profiles have been measured were performed by Wood (refs. 66 and 115) and by Wilson (ref. 113). In both cases, they surveyed radially across a vertically oriented heated tube near the exit. Wood used carbon dioxide at an L/d of 30.7, and Wilson used hydrogen at an L/d of 128.5. Wilson's data included hot wire measurements, in addition to temperature and dynamic head profiles. In both cases, the major result was the appearance of the so-called M-shaped velocity profiles when the bulk temperature was near the transposed critical temperature, as shown typically in figure 21 and predicted analytically by Hsu and Smith. These are similar to the profiles shown in reference 116. Recent



Figure 21. - Typical M-shaped profiles as found by Wood and by Wilson (refs. 66 and 113).

experiments of Bourke et al. (ref. 117) indicate the hot wire to be a useful tool in this regime.

Kahn (ref. 73) and Hanold (in the paper mentioned on p. 40), both using carbon dioxide, conducted experiments designed to isolate some of the many interacting variables and to highlight the influence of a single parameter. Kahn's method (refs. 73 and 118) was to flow carbon dioxide at its critical point between parallel plates of large aspect ratio, with one plate heated and the other cooled at exactly the same rate so that no increase in the heat content of the fluid occurred. The heat-transfer coefficient peaked sharply when the hot wall (which was always the upper wall) approached the transposed critical temperature. The peaks became sharper as the temperature difference between the walls was decreased. Hanold used a horizontal rectangular channel with one wall heated. By changing the heated wall from upward to downward, he could compare transverse body-force effect. He found a negligible difference between the two cases and attributes it to a dominance of the flow by Kelvin-Helmholtz instability as opposed to Raleigh-Taylor type.

A different result was observed by Hauptmann (refs. 70 and 119), who flowed nearcritical carbon dioxide over a horizontal heated flat plate. Among his results are an indication of a 30-percent increase in heat transfer for the same conditions with the heater oriented upward. Hauptmann's major contribution was a set of excellent, color, highspeed motion pictures coupled with good heat-transfer data. His data have already been discussed in figure 10.

Shiralkar (ref. 74) and Jackson (ref. 120) have reported wall temperature spikes with near-critical carbon dioxide, which are discussed in the next section.

In summary of the current, forced convection work, the following general observations can be made:

(1) Proximity to the critical point produces a sharp response in wall temperature, but the nature of the response is not uniform and the question of increased or decreased heat transfer is unclear.

(2) There is evidence of a strong similarity to boiling and there seems to be little discontinuity in going from high-pressure boiling to the supercritical region. However, since the fluid is not two phase, the formulation is somewhat arbitrary.

(3) Analyses and experiments directed specifically at critical-point heat transfer have produced some very interesting variable groupings which deserve continued investigation. Among these are

(a) Average specific heat, and integrated average properties, for example,

$$\overline{C}_{p} = \frac{H_{w} - H_{b}}{T_{w} - T_{b}}$$

(b) Minimum Prandtl number, (Pr)_{min}

(c) Eckert reference temperature parameter

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{\mathbf{T}^* - \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{b}}}{\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{b}}}$$

(d) Turbulence enhancement factors (see the section Theoretical Considerations in Force Convection)

$$\frac{d(\ln \rho)}{1 + \frac{dy^+}{d(\ln u^+)}}$$

(e) Pseudoboiling parameters such as Stermann number and Martinelli parameter

(f) Stability limit (wall temperature spikes) defined by q = f(G) (see fig. 20) (4) Despite the fact that analysts developing the various correlation or mixing length methods have been able to substantiate their work with data, subsequent investigators have usually found it necessary to modify the method to fit their own data. No analysis is currently widely accepted nor has any analysis been thoroughly tested against the available data.

Near-Critical Heat Transfer in Relation to Conventional Geometric Effects

<u>Curved tubes</u>. - Systematic studies of the effects of curvature on a near-critical fluid are lacking. W. S. Miller (Rocketdyne Division, North American-Rockwell) has recently completed such a study, but the data are not yet available. Several studies have been made at higher pressures and for gases. The basic effect of curvature is to instigate a secondary flow such that the boundary layer is thinned at the concave surface (see fig. 22), and thickened at the convex surface. The flow patterns indicate that the core moves toward the concave surface and then flows back along the periphery to dump in the region of the convex surface. While the classical works of Ito (ref. 121) for turbulent flows and of Dean (ref. 122) for laminar flows deal with single-phase fully developed fluids, the results of their analyses have been applied with varying degrees of success to the near-critical fluids (refs. 123 to 126 and a personal communication from W. S. Miller).

Basically, Ito found that, for high-Reynolds-number fluids, the average friction factor for a curved tube was increased over that for a straight tube by the relation

$$\frac{f_{cr}}{f_{st}} = \left[\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^2 \right]^{0.05} = I^{0.05}$$
(27)

Hendricks and Simon (ref. 123) pointed out some effects of curvature on nearcritical hydrogen, which are summarized as follows:

(1) Rather conventionally, at high Reynolds numbers the concave surface enhances, and the convex surface degrades, heat transfer. The magnitude of these effects depends on fluid conditions, curvature-to-tube-radius ratio, and angular position along the bend.

(2) Visual studies with small-bend-angle tubes, using liquid nitrogen, indicate this fluid is centrifuged to the concave wall rather than swirled in the normal secondary flow



(b) Two-phase or near-critical flow.

Figure 22. - Models of fluid flow in curved tubes. (Information on liquid film boundary received from K. J. Bell, Oklahoma State University.)

patterns. Visual studies with steam indicated that droplets impinge on the concave wall, flow around to the convex surface, and are carried downstream.

(3) Entrance conditions, profile similarity, and fluid history greatly influence the heat-transfer coefficients. Furthermore, the effects of curvature persist downstream of the bend and appear to be propagated upstream as well.

The magnitude of these effects appears to depend on whether the wall is "wetted." For example, little circumferential variation in h was found for some subcritical pressure hydrogen tests at low T_w/T_b .

In subsequent tests at supercritical pressure and high T_w/T_b , it was found that h could vary as though the fluid was oscillating around the tube in some harmonic manner. Such oscillations were apparently instigated by a nonuniform heat-flux pattern at the upstream heating flange. They could also be induced by other factors, such as a non-uniform inlet velocity profile, or by the secondary flow itself as it moves from the core region along the periphery back to the core region.

The effects of radius of curvature to tube radius R/r for hydrogen are shown in figure 23. At large R/r, the effect is small and approaches that of the straight tube.



At smaller R/r, the effects are quite large (2:1), but data seem to indicate two possible paths at lower R/r, as shown in figure 23. Which one is correct awaits experimental verification.

McCarthy et al. (ref. 75) investigated near-critical nitrogen tetroxide and noted a nonuniform surface temperature phenomenon along the convex surface and a persistence of the curvature effects in the downstream region. Their experiment was complicated by the dissociation of nitrogen tetroxide; however, they still found up to a 2:1 increase in h_{cv} due to curvature. In the work reported in reference 124, Thompson and Geery, investigating liquid hydrogen at $P/P_c \sim 5$, also found a 2:1 increase in heat transfer because of curvature; however, they found no effects due to asymmetrical heating on noncircular flow passages.

McCarthy, et al. (ref. 125), using hydrogen, found the heat-transfer coefficient to increase as

$$h_{cr} \propto h_{st} \left(1 + 0.1 \frac{L}{d} \right) \quad \frac{L}{d} \leq 10$$
 (26)

up to (L/d) = 10 and to become fully developed thereafter. He suggested the following equations:

$$(Nu)_{cv} = (Nu)_{st} \left[1 + 1.867 \left(\frac{r}{R} \right)^{0.519} \right] \left[0.0822 (Re)_{b}^{0.155} \right]$$
(29)

$$(Nu)_{cx} = (Nu)_{st} \left[1 + 2.21 \left(\frac{r}{R} \right)^{0.894} \right] \left[0.0822 (Re)_{b}^{0.155} \right]$$
(30)

where $(Nu)_{st}$ is given by table IV-C of reference 55, and by equation (25).

Taylor (ref. 126) investigated the data of references 124 and 125 and found they could be adequately correlated by using Ito's parameter:

$$\frac{(Nu)_{cv}}{(Nu)_{calc}} = I_b^{0.05} \quad \text{Concave}$$
(31)

$$\frac{(\text{Nu})_{\text{cx}}}{(\text{Nu})_{\text{calc}}} = I_{\text{b}}^{-0.05} \quad \text{Convex}$$
(32)

where $(Nu)_{calc}$ is given as equation (9). While equations (28) to (32) were developed for hydrogen, similar correlations could be anticipated for other fluids, at high T_w/T_b values ("nonwetted" walls). "Wetted" walls and boiling have been investigated by K. J. Bell of Okalahoma State University. He found a substantial increase in h on the convex wall for wetting two-phase fluids at low T_w/T_b (private communication). The visual steam flow patterns noted by Hendricks and Simon lend credence to these results.

<u>Twisted tapes and rifle boring</u>. - If the bulk fluid is near the wall, an augmentation in the heat-transfer coefficient will occur. Bartlit and Williamson (ref. 127) induced swirl flow in liquid hydrogen using a twisted tape in a long tube and found the heattransfer coefficients to be approximately those predicted by the standard Dittus-Boelter equation. This is in contrast to the same pipe without a swirl inducer, where the experimental h was much less than the predicted h (fig. 24, see also ref. 128).

E. Michaud and C. P. Welsh (Badcock and Wilcox, Barberton, Ohio) have demonstrated a similar effect with near-critical water (personal communication, see also ref. 129). The lands of a rifle-bored tube both induce swirl and trip the flow; these geometry effects eliminated the wall temperature ''spike'' noted in a similar smooth tube under the same conditions (fig. 25).

The enhancements, of course, require a pressure-drop penalty. J. H. Van Sant (Laurence Radiation Laboratory, University of California, Livermore, Calif.) analyzed the results of Kidd (ref. 130) and found that the enhancement in heat transfer was at the



Figure 24. - Comparison of twisted-tape-insert to straight-pipe heat transfer in nearcritical hydrogen. (From ref. 127).



Figure 25. - Schematic comparison of rifle-bored (ribbed) tubes to smooth tubes in near-critical region. (Figure from E. Michaud and C. P. Welsh.)

direct expense of pressure drop (personal communication). The optimization of heat transfer, pressure drop, and heat-exchanger compactness requires much effort.

<u>Body-force orientation</u>. - Orientation of the heat-transfer apparatus with respect to gravity can have considerable influence on the results. Hall, et al. (refs. 131 and 132), Jackson and Evans-Lutterodt (ref. 120), Wood (ref. 115), and Shiralkar and Griffith (ref. 74 and 128) have found that parallel buoyancy effects can substantially alter the velocity profiles. Shiralkar et al. (ref. 74) and Jackson and Evans-Lutterodt (ref. 120) found wall temperature spikes in carbon dioxide at elevated fluxes for upward flow. In reference 120 the spikes were eliminated by downward flow. The effects also seem quite dependent on whether the bulk temperature is above or below T^* . However, the present authors found no noticeable effect with high-velocity, near-critical hydrogen in up- and downflow configurations. The first-order answer lies in the ratio of buoyancy to inertia forces which, for the authors case, was quite small $(Gr)_f/(Re)_f^2 = 4 \times 10^{-4}$. Shiralkar and Griffith (ref. 74) found the effect to be noticeable when $Gr/(Re)^2 \ge 4 \times 10^{-3}$ for water and 10^{-2} for carbon dioxide. These values and conclusions are in agreement with the computations of Hsu and Smith (ref. 133).

Transverse effects, studied by Hauptmann (ref. 70) and Hanold (in the paper cited on p. 40), have already been discussed.

<u>Entrance effects</u>. - Papell and Brown (ref. 134) investigated entrance effects in near-critical hydrogen. The experimental h at high heat fluxes were 1.5 times higher for an undeveloped entrance than for a hydrodynamically developed entrance, as illustrated by figure 26. This effect persisted an abnormally long distance down the tube. Little effect was found for the low-heat-flux case.



Figure 26. - Comparison of developing flow to fully developed flow for heat transfer in the entrance region with near-critical hydrogen. (From ref. 134.)

In summary, the geometric effects of significant interest in near-critical heat transfer are

(1) An increase of about 2:1 in the heat-transfer coefficient on the concave side can be expected because of curvature for gases and fluid systems at high T_w/T_b . This enhancement seems to be a centrifuging effect, particularly in small-bend-angle tubes.

(2) The magnitude of enhancement (or degradation on the convex side) appears to be related to the Ito parameter. As a reference for computing enhancement, for the ''dry-wall'' case, correlations of the type given in equation (9) appear to be the most satis-factory. For the ''wet-wall'' case, the augmentation can shift to the convex wall.

(3) Devices which centrifuge the high-density core to the wall or break up the lowdensity boundary layer, such as twisted tapes and spiral grooves, enhance near-critical heat transfer significantly.

(4) Experiment and analysis suggest that a parallel body force should begin to influence heat transfer when $Gr/(Re)^2 > 5 \times 10^{-3}$.

(5) Tube entrance effects persist much further down the tube in near-critical fluids than in gases.

Theoretical Considerations in Forced Convection

In the free and natural convection areas, reasonable success has been realized by using conventional variable-property approaches. For example, in natural circulation loops, the arguments of Schmidt, et al. (ref. 6) have stood the test of time and can be seen in use today in such correlating equations as equations (17) and (18). In forced convection, the fluid is not allowed to naturally seek its own circulation patterns. Consequently, the complex flow interactions caused by the rapid expansion of the nearcritical fluid are superimposed on the normal forced convection patterns, and conventional forced convection approaches seem inadequate. A fair amount of analytic attention has been turned toward explaining these phenomena. This will be briefly recapped in this section.

<u>Mixing length analyses</u>. - By far the most widely used approach is the Prandtl mixing length concept. The basic idea is that the Reynolds stress terms of the Navier-Stokes equations can be made to look like laminar shear terms by the introduction of a turbulent viscosity or eddy diffusivity. The shear and heat flux expressions assume the popular form:

$$\tau = \eta \, \frac{\mathrm{du}}{\mathrm{dy}} + \rho \epsilon \, \frac{\mathrm{du}}{\mathrm{dy}} \tag{33}$$

$$q = -\lambda \frac{dT}{dy} - \rho C_p \epsilon_h \frac{dT}{dy}$$
(34)

Subject to the following nondimensionalization, Deissler (refs. 135 and 136) proposed that these equations apply throughout a supercritical flow field:

$$u^{+} = \frac{u}{u^{*}}$$
$$y^{+} = \frac{u^{*}y}{\nu_{o}}$$
$$T^{+} = \frac{1}{\beta} \left(1 - \frac{T}{T_{o}} \right)$$
$$\beta = \frac{q_{o}u^{*}}{\left(C_{p} \right)_{o} T_{o} \tau_{o}}$$
$$\epsilon^{+} = \frac{\epsilon}{\nu_{o}}$$

where u* is the well-known shear velocity

$$u^* = \sqrt{\frac{\tau_0}{\rho_0}}$$
(35)

The nondimensional equations become, for $\epsilon_h = \epsilon$

$$\frac{\tau}{\tau_{o}} = \left(\frac{\eta}{\eta_{o}} + \frac{\rho}{\rho_{o}} \epsilon^{+}\right) \frac{\mathrm{du}^{+}}{\mathrm{dy}^{+}}$$
(36)

$$\frac{\mathbf{q}}{\mathbf{q}_{0}} = \left[\frac{\lambda}{\lambda_{0}(\mathbf{Pr})_{0}} + \frac{\rho}{\rho_{0}} \frac{\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{p}}}{\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{p}}\right)_{0}} \epsilon^{+}\right] \frac{\mathbf{dT}^{+}}{\mathbf{dy}^{+}}$$
(37)

Deissler (ref. 135) numerically integrated these equations for water at $P/P_c = 1.56$, with moderate success. He suggested using a reference temperature T_x (discussed in the section Heat Transfer in Forced Convection Systems) for evaluating properties, and Eckert (ref. 99) consolidated the data spread by introducing the following dimensionless temperature:

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{\mathbf{T}^* - \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{b}}}{\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{o}} - \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{b}}}$$
(38)

In that same year, Goldman (ref. 137) introduced a technique to transform the variable-density problem to the constant-density form. This was done by using a variable density in the shear velocity:

$$u^* = \sqrt{\frac{\tau_0}{\rho}}$$
(39)

The form of equations (36) and (37) remains unchanged, but all the nondimensional variables are changed. They are usually designated u^{++} , y^{++} , and T^{++} to indicate the change (see table V). Goldman also suggested a different form for the heat-transfer coefficient, which evolves from the Dittus-Boelter equation (ref. 138):

$$h' = \frac{q_0 d^{0.2}}{G^{0.8}}$$
(40)

These modifications have been popular, but universal success has not been achieved.

Most of the research in mixing length theories for near-critical fluids has centered on adapting the eddy diffusivity to comprehend the near-critical phenomenon. To review the basic eddy diffusivity concept, look at two prominent examples, those of Van Driest (ref. 139) and Deissler (ref. 135):

Most eddy diffusivities ϵ can be placed into two categories: (1) continuous, and (2) multiple part. In the continuous case, Van Driest (ref. 139) argues that one form of ϵ should apply over the entire regime; while for the multiple-part case, Deissler (ref. 135) points to a near-the-wall region and an away-from-the-wall region. These and other eddy diffusivities are present in table V.

Van Driest continuous approach:

$$\epsilon = K^2 y^2 \left[1 - e^{-(y/A)} \right]^2 \frac{du}{dy}$$
(41)

Dimensionless eddy diffusivity, $e^+ = e^{-i\mu}$	Constraint	Energy-momentum	Reference
$\epsilon_{\rm D}^{+} = \begin{cases} \left[1 - e^{-n^2 (\nu_{\rm W}, \nu) u^{+} y^{+}} \right] n^2 u^{+} y^{+} \\ \left[1 - e^{-K^2 (\nu_{\rm W}, \nu) (du^{+}/dy^{+})^3/(d^2 u^{+}/dy^{+}^2)^2} \right] K^2 \frac{(du^{+})^3}{(d^2 u^{+})^3} \\ \left[\frac{1}{(d^2 u^{+})^3} \right] K^2 \frac{(du^{+})^3}{(d^2 u^{+}/dy^{+})^3} \\ \left[\frac{1}{(d^2 u^{+})^3} \right] K^2 \frac{(du^{+})^3}{(d^2 u^{+})^3} $	$\epsilon, \nu \simeq 2$ $\epsilon, \nu \sim 2$	Coupled imcompressible	Deissler and Presler (ref. 213) n = 0.124 K = 0.36
$\epsilon_{VD}^{+} = \left[1 - e^{-(y^{+} A^{+})}\right]^{2} K^{2} y^{+2} \frac{du^{+}}{dy^{+}}$		Decoupled incompressible	Van Driest (ref. 139) $K = 0.4 A^{+} = 26$
$\epsilon_{D}^{+} \text{ where } u^{+} - u^{++} = \int_{0}^{u^{+}} \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\rho_{o}}} du^{+}$ $y^{+} - y^{++} = \int_{0}^{y^{+}} \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\rho_{o}}} \frac{\eta_{o}}{\eta} dy^{+}$		Coupled transform of compressible to incompres- sible	Goldman (ref. 78)
$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{u}^{+}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}^{+}} - \frac{\eta_{o}}{\eta} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{u}^{++}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}^{++}}$ $\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\mathbf{u}^{+}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}^{+2}} - \sqrt{\frac{\rho}{\rho_{o}}} \left(\frac{\eta_{o}}{\eta}\right)^{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\mathbf{u}^{++}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}^{++2}}$			
$\frac{u^{+}}{\sqrt{\frac{r_{o}}{\rho_{o}}}}$			
$y^{+} = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{\tau_{o}}{\rho_{o}}} y}{\frac{\eta_{o}}{\rho_{o}}} $ (Note: ϵ_{VD}^{+} can also be used)			
ϵ_{VD}^+ where $A^+ = 30.2 e^{-0.0285 \nu_{W}^- \nu_{b}^-}$		Decoupled	Hess and Kunz (ref. 110)
$\epsilon_{D}^{+}(1 + F_{m}) = \epsilon^{+} \qquad F_{m} = \frac{\frac{d \ln \rho}{dy^{+}}}{\frac{d \ln u}{dy^{+}}}$ $\frac{d \ln \rho}{dy^{+}}$		Coupled	Hsu and Smith (ref. 133)
$\epsilon_{\mathbf{D}}^{+}(1 + \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{h}}) = \epsilon_{\mathbf{h}}^{+} \qquad \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{h}} - \frac{\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{y}}}{\frac{\mathbf{d} \ln C_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{T}}{\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{y}}^{+}}}$			
$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\bar{\tau}(\mathbf{y})}{\tau_{0}} \\ \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{u}^{\text{H}}}{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{y}^{\text{H}}} & -1 \end{bmatrix} \frac{\frac{1}{\rho} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{r}\rho \\ \hat{r} T \end{pmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}}{\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\rho} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{r}\rho \\ \hat{r} T \end{pmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{T}=31^{O}C}} $ (A)		Coupled	Hall, Jackson, and Kahn (ref. 118); $\tau(y)$ is linear; A = 0.4; du ⁺⁺ /dy ⁺⁺ ; conven- tional velocity profile
$K\left[y^+ - 11 \tanh \frac{y^+}{11}\right]$	y ⁺ · 50	ſ	Petukhov and Popov (ref. 214)
$\frac{\mathbf{K}}{3} \mathbf{y}^{+} \left[\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{r}_{0}} \right)^{2} + 0.5 \right] \left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{r}_{0}} + 1 \right)$	y ⁺ ~ 50	Decoupled	Popov (ref. 215) Reichart (ref. 216)
$\epsilon_{\mathbf{D}}^{\dagger} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\frac{\rho}{\rho_{o}}} \mathbf{y}^{\dagger}}{\int_{0}^{\mathbf{y}^{\dagger}} \sqrt{\frac{\rho}{\rho_{o}}} \mathbf{dy}^{\dagger}} \right]$		Coupled	Melik-Pashaev (ref. 217)
$0.37y^{+}\left[1 - e^{-0.002(y^{+})^{2}}\right]$		Decoupled	Tanaka, Nishiwaki, and Hirata (ref. 65)

Deissler multiple-part approach:

$$\epsilon = n^{2} uy \left(1 - e^{-n^{2} uy/\nu}\right) \quad \frac{\epsilon}{\nu} < \gamma^{+} \approx 2$$

$$\epsilon = K^{2} \left[\frac{\left(\frac{du}{dy}\right)^{3}}{\left(\frac{d^{2}u}{dy^{2}}\right)^{2}}\right] \left[1 - e^{-(K^{2}/\nu)(du/dy)^{3}/(d^{2}u/dy^{2})^{2}}\right] \quad \frac{\epsilon}{\nu} \ge \gamma^{+} \approx 2$$

$$(42)$$

Equations (41) and (42) were developed primarily for constant-density analyses. They have been used successfully for variable-property gases (Deissler, ref. 135). The near-critical research has required modification of these basic forms. These modifications are summarized in table V. A few are discussed in this section.

Hess and Kunz (ref. 110) found that, for near-critical hydrogen, the damping factor of equation (41) had to include a term dependent on kinematic viscosity. Their work in this area led to the correlating equation most frequently used for near-critical hydrogen (eq. (25)).

Hsu and Smith (ref. 133) proposed that, in the presence of a strong density gradient, shear should be represented as the rate of change of momentum. The resulting eddy diffusivity expressions may be written in terms of equations (41) and (42) as

$$\epsilon_{\rm m} = (1 + F_{\rm m})\epsilon$$

$$\epsilon_{\rm h} = (1 + F_{\rm h})\epsilon$$
(43)

where ϵ is given by equation (42), and

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{m}} = \frac{\frac{\mathrm{d} \ln \rho}{\mathrm{d}y^{+}}}{\frac{\mathrm{d} \ln u^{+}}{\mathrm{d}y^{+}}} \qquad \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{h}} = \frac{\frac{\mathrm{d} \ln \rho}{\mathrm{d}y^{+}}}{\frac{\mathrm{d} \ln \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{T}^{+}}{\mathrm{d}y^{+}}} \right\}$$
(44)

Equation (43) reduces properly for constant density, and either form of ϵ (eq. (41) or (42)) may be used. Hsu and Smith (ref. 133) also performed a first-order force balance on a differential volume to derive an equation relating shear, buoyancy, and

pressure drop. The success of their equation in correlating the data of Bringer and Smith (ref. 100) indicates that such a modification is warranted, and is another step in the proper direction. The main problem here seems to be that, while each researcher has success correlating his own data, subsequent researchers had troubles. Further, Hall (ref. 131) using several different techniques on the data of Koppel (ref. 140) also found a degree of insensitivity in the theories, as illustrated in figure 27.

Hall (ref. 132) developed a model for flow in a vertically oriented pipe or channel in order to demonstrate some of the buoyancy effects which have been found with nearcritical fluids (see the section <u>Body-force orientation</u>). Halls' theoretical approach, while limited and analogous to the two-phase or two-component flow approach, merits attention because it isolates some governing parametric forms. The <u>first model</u> assumes a discontinuous change in transport properties and density at $y = \delta$, with ''gaslike'' properties at $y < \delta$ and liquid properties for $y > \delta$ (e.g., see fig. 28). The shear distribution is a two-part linear form (see fig. 28). The velocity profile is lami-





nar for $y \leq \delta$ and follows the conventional velocity defect law for $y > \delta$. With these assumptions, the momentum equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{dz}}{\mathrm{dy}} = \frac{\Delta p}{\Delta X} + \rho g$$

where $\Delta p / \Delta X$ = Constant, can be reduced to

$$\frac{\tau_{\delta}}{\tau_{\rm w}} = 1 - \frac{(\rm Gr)'}{\left(\rm b_{\rm H}^+\right)^2} \xi$$

Here $b_{\rm H}^+ = y^+$ evaluated at the tube radius or channel half width, $\xi = \delta/b_{\rm H}$, and $({\rm Gr})' = \rho_{\rm W}(\rho_{\rm core} - \rho_{\rm W}) {\rm gb}_{\rm H}^3 / \mu_{\rm W}^2$ is the conventional Grashof number as defined for two-phase or two-component flows.

In the second model, Hall (ref. 132), employed equations (36) and (37) with Van Driest's eddy diffusivity, equation (41). However, the shear stress distribution τ/τ_{o} was assumed to be of two parts (see the Deissler approach, eq. (42)):

$$\frac{\tau}{\tau_{0}} = 1 - \frac{y}{b_{H}} \left[1 + (1 - A_{1}) \left(\frac{1 - \xi}{\xi} \right) \right] \text{ near the wall}$$
$$\frac{\tau}{\tau_{0}} = \left(1 - \frac{y}{b} \right) A_{1} \text{ in the core}$$

where $A_1 = \tau_{\delta}/\tau_w$. Hall (ref. 132) found little difference in the results given from the two models, which reinforces an earlier remark regarding the insensitivity in the theories. Hall and Jackson (ref. 141) and Leontiev (ref. 142) have tried to relate this phenomenon to that of lamarization.

Each theoretical technique has a great deal of merit and correlates the data presented in each author's respective papers. Using near-critical hydrogen, we at NASA and also Szetela (ref. 143) have tried the techniques of Deissler (refs. 135 and 136) and Goldman (ref. 137) with very limited success. The technique of Hess and Kunz (ref. 110) was tried, and success was limited, in the main, to those data with bulk temperatures above the T* regime. The integral average property approach of Goldman (ref. 137) gave similar limited results. The modifications of Hsu and Smith (ref. 133) and Brokaw (ref. 109) were also tried again, with only limited success. Modifications of the modifications, such as using different dampening factors, including upstream effects, etc., were also attempted; however, the results were very disappointing. The solution of equations (36) and (37) (or modifications, eqs. (43) and (44)) involves the iteration of a numerical integration to attain a solution. The iteration is required to satisfy the continuity equation and to determine one parameter. In pipe flow, this parameter can be $\beta = q_0 u^* / (C_p)_0 \tau_0 T_0$, τ_0 , or r^+ . However, r^+ is usually fixed at the pipe centerline and τ_0 is considered to be known; thus q_0 and T_0 remain as adjustable constants, within the parameter β . In the boundary-layer flows, at the edge of the boundary layer δ^+ , either β or τ_0 can be considered to be the parameters; usually δ^+ is altered at a fixed β and τ_0 to give the solution. The point is that for nearadiabatic flow of a gas there exists an adjustable parameter to force a solution to the problem. However, this freedom becomes compounded when applying these equations in the near-critical region because the following factors are not known:

(1) Does $\epsilon/\epsilon_h - 1$? (Some of the best results for near-critical fluids in a pipe attained by the authors (unpublished computer programs by Robert C. Hendricks) were for $\epsilon/\epsilon_h > 1$.



Figure 29. - Heat-transfer coefficient as function of wall temperature for water. Pressure, 345 atmospheres (at 417° C); ratio of wall temperature to film temperature, 1.25; mass flow, 2150 kilograms per square meter per second; characteristic length, 9.4 millimeters. (From ref, 144.)

(2) Are the expressions for ϵ or ϵ_h correct?

(3) Is the functional form of τ/τ_0 and q/q_0 realistic (i.e., constant, linear, cubic, etc.)?

(4) Do the convective terms in the momentum and energy equations significantly alter the results? These terms are considered in the next section.

In view of these unknowns, several different velocity and energy distributions may integrate out to give the same solution. However, the convergence may be quite slow and difficult to achieve; and furthermore, the result may be meaningless.

Some of these difficulties have also been encountered by Petukhov. In a recent survey article (ref. 144), he lists three basic difficulties in attaining solutions for heat transfer in the near-critical regime:

- (1) The nonlinearity of the governing equations with variable properties
- (2) Ignorance of the laws of turbulent heat transfer with variable physical properties: To determine these laws will require detailed profile measurements in the near-critical regime - a task of considerable difficulty.
- (3) Difficulty of interpretation and generalization of near-critical data because heat transfer and pressure losses are functions of many variables

In figure 29, Petukhov (ref. 144) compares the theoretical results of Deissler (ref. 135) and Goldman (ref. 137) and the empirical equations of Miropulskii and Shitsman (ref. 103), Krasnoshchekov and Protopopov (ref. 145), and Swenson, et al. (ref. 61).

Petukhov (ref. 44) points out that the theoretical analyses are in considerable disagreement with the experimental results although no data are given in figure 29 for comparison. In reference 144, Petukhov also presents an analysis of Popov which is valid, unfortunately, only for carbon dioxide data. Petukhov (ref. 144) classifies the nearcritical heat-transfer regimes as

- (1) Normal: where the dependence of Nu on Re and Pr is approximately the same as for the constant properties case
- (2) Reduced heat transfer: where $T_{bulk} < T^*$, and certain combinations of mass flow and heat flux lead to a sharp decrease in heat transfer and a rapid increase in the wall temperature
- (3) Improved heat transfer: where $T_{bulk} < T^*$, with oscillations of sufficient amplitude (''whistling'') and high frequency (1400 to 2200 Hz) at higher heat fluxes to cause a flattening of the axial wall temperature profile

These classifications are in agreement with those presented herein but, perhaps, are formulated in a different manner.

<u>Acceleration - strain rates.</u> - Deissler (ref. 146) found the strain rate (acceleration or deceleration) to be important in turbulent heat transfer. For example, the strain effects of longitudinal acceleration on homogeneous turbulence intensities are shown in figure 30. The ordinate is the square of the turbulence intensity of the transverse veloc-



ity component normalized with respect to an initial intensity condition $\left[(\overline{v'})^2/u^2\right]/\left[(\overline{v'})^2_{u_0}/u^2_0\right]$. It can be shown that this dimensionless parameter is related to the square of a Stanton number ratio $(St)/(St)_0$ where the denominator is the initial Stanton number before acceleration

$$\left[\frac{\mathrm{St}}{\mathrm{(St)}_{0}}\right]^{2} = \frac{\frac{\mathrm{(v')}^{2}}{\mathrm{u}^{2}}}{\frac{\mathrm{(v')}^{2}}{\mathrm{u}_{0}^{2}}} = f\left[\frac{\frac{\mathrm{du}}{\mathrm{dx}}}{\frac{\mathrm{du}}{\mathrm{dx}}}\right]$$
(45)

The abscissa of figure 30 is axial position; the parameter s^+ is a strain rate. Figure 30 shows that the local intensity, or Stanton number, progressively decreases when subject to a strain rate.

Under heating conditions, a near-critical fluid would undergo large longitudinal accelerations while expanding in a constant-area pipe. Experiments by Weiland (ref. 147) and Taylor (ref. 148) with gases at high heating rates suggest that such expansion effects occur. Deissler (ref. 146) showed that the data trends in references 147 and 148 could be explained by strain or acceleration effects. Such an analogy could also be drawn for the laminarization data of Moretti and Kays (ref. 149). Perhaps some of the unusual



Figure 31. - Concept of simultaneous hydrodynamic and penetration mechanisms. (From ref. 150).

distributions of heat-transfer coefficient noted for near-critical hydrogen (refs. 41 and 134) relate to strain effects.

<u>Penetration model.</u> - An analogy between heat transfer in fluidized beds and nearcritical forced convection has been suggested by Graham (ref. 150). Using the penetration theories of fluidized beds, Graham proposed a penetration model for near-critical fluids. The mechanism (see fig. 31) was assumed to be a disruption of the sublayer by the periodic migration of fluid packets from the outer edge of the boundary layer to the wall, where they absorb energy in a transient manner. The average heat-transfer coefficient can then be expressed as a linear sum of the conventional film-heat-transfer coefficient and a penetration coefficient with the proper area weight fraction assigned to each

$$h_{av} = \frac{\mathcal{A}_p}{\mathcal{A}_{tot}} h_p + \left(1 - \frac{\mathcal{A}_p}{\mathcal{A}_{tot}}\right) h_f$$
(45a)

where

$$h_{p} = \frac{2}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{(\rho c_{p} \lambda)_{b}}{\tau_{\text{contact}}}}$$
(45b)

The theory suffers from the lack of a theoretical means of determining $\tau_{contact}$, but has the distinct advantage of reducing to the proper expression outside the near-critical region and integrates the physics of the near-critical problem in a realistic manner. The technique has been used to correlate near-critical hydrogen, carbon dioxide, and water data.

In summary, the theoretical investigation in forced convection in the near-critical region suggests

(1) Conventional mixing length theories must be modified to account for the tremendous fluid expansion in the near-critical region. These modifications could be in the equations, following Goldman's example (ref. 137); or in the eddy diffusivity, following Hsu and Smith (ref. 133); or in forming a penetration mechanism, Gral am (ref. 150).

(2) Applications of these and other modifications of mixing length theory to nearcritical data have met with limited success. The theory will probably also have to be made to comprehend upstream history, acceleration, etc., in order to achieve wide success.

(3) Further analysis of accelerated flows should consider the effects of strain rates. While the theory of Deissler predicts the proper trends, the magnitudes associated with a real near-critical fluid are not correct. Thus, the boundaries and the variation in fluid properties must be properly considered (not an easy task).

Oscillations

<u>General remarks</u>. - Fluid oscillations play a major part in near-critical phenomena, and several heat-transfer studies (refs. 42, 75, 98, 125, and 151 to 153) have reported some type of instability in natural and forced convection systems. The frequency of reported oscillations varies from 1/20 to 10 000 hertz over a considerable range in amplitude (as high as 0.3 of test pressure). The higher-frequency oscillations, 300 to 10 000 hertz, seem to be associated with longitudinal and lateral oscillations - a gaslike fluid behavior; and the lower-frequency modes are most common to the near-critical region. Thus, discussion is restricted mainly to the low-frequency spectrum.

Fluid behavior in the two-phase and near-critical regimes appears to be similar, and different modes of oscillations have been identified and analyzed. The analyses have been successful in predicting the onset and frequency of oscillation but less so in predicting the amplitudes. Flow excursions, as well as periodic flows, have been studied



Figure 32. - Percentage of heat-exchanger-test data samples showing steady operation against heat flux per unit area for unit mass flow rate. Single-tube data coil pressure, 40 to 47.5 atmospheres. (From ref. 39.)

by Zuber (ref. 39). Similar oscillations in natural and forced convection have been reported. Several authors after observing oscillations (refs. 39 and 41) have delineated correlatable and noncorrelatable data based on mass flow rate and heat flux, as illustrated in figure 32 (see also fig. 20).

Oscillations in the near-critical regime have the common characteristic of persistence for a significant period of time. This means they occur at, or very near, a natural frequency of the system, and the damping forces are insufficient to quickly arrest them.

Oscillations may be divided into four types, of which three may be separated by their frequencies. The other type is associated with the oscillation of a near-critical fluid between laminar and turbulent flow. Due to the sensitive nature of near-critical fluids to fluctuations, the laminar-turbulent oscillations may be characteristic of any heattransfer system of equal sensitivity. These oscillations were discussed in the section Heat Transfer in Free Convection Systems.

The other three types of oscillations may be classified as (1) thermal-acoustic (5 to 300 Hz); (2) system oscillations (1/20 to 5 Hz), which are concerned with the behavior of all the fluid in a loop or system; and (3) external oscillations (e.g., in pipes, in fluid conduits, and in valves). This latter type would be induced and sustained by the equipment and have a frequency which is that of the static system. They will not be discussed further.

Examples of both thermal-acoustic and system oscillations are shown in figure 33. These oscillations appear to have a significant density change as the source of their behavior, which is characteristic of the onset of the two-phase and near-critical regimes. Here, the density change becomes very sensitive to further additions in energy or changes of temperature. Generally, oscillations will occur when the bulk of the fluid is



in a liquefied condition and the boundary layer appears to be occupied by a lower-density fluid. Most analyses of oscillations assume density to change abruptly at the saturated liquid and vapor points and at the equivalent points in the near-critical region. This assumption tends to more sharply define the oscillating behavior.

<u>Thermal-acoustic oscillations</u>. - The thermal-acoustic oscillations (5 to 300 Hz) may be assumed to occur from localized events, in contrast to those of the fluid-body type, which involve the motion of the entire fluid system. Thurston (ref. 152) identified two types of these oscillations in his forced convection system. The first type is a Helmholtz oscillation, which is associated with a cavity connected to a large plenum, such as the atmosphere, with a substantial restriction between the two elements. The natural frequency of this system may be expressed by the equation

$$W_{n} = \frac{\mathcal{A}}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\gamma P}{m V_{g}} \right)^{1/2}$$
(46)

This Helmoholtz resonance has not been reported in most of the systems concerned with this type of study and may be presumed to occur only when the system obviously fits the analytical assumption rather closely.

The second type of acoustical oscillation is a sonic-wave resonance, identified by

Thurston and others, and is associated with the velocity of sound and the length of fluid in the flow loop or fluid system considered. The natural frequency of this system may be expressed by the following equation:

$$W_n = \frac{c}{2L'}$$
(47)

The period for these oscillations is that time required for the acoustic wave to tranverse one-half the fluid length. The frequency of these oscillations has been found experimentally to be a very weak function of heating rate, and appropriately it changed with fluid length.

Several authors have proposed mechanisms which would produce and reinforce these acoustic oscillations. These mechanisms examine the behavior of the boundary layer during the passing of a pressure wave. Thurston (ref. 152) suggested that such a wave would tend to compress the boundary layer, improve its thermal conductivity, and cause an increased heat-transfer rate. Immediately following this process there would be a tendency for the boundary layer to expand, with a subsequent decrease in thermal conductivity and decreased heat-transfer rate. This mechanism would reinforce the acoustic wave as it proceeds through the field.

Thurston, et al. (ref. 40) developed two similarity parameters to determine the onset and amplitude of the thermal-acoustic oscillations. One is a function of the Stermann parameter (boiling number) and the other a function of properties, fluid conditions, flow rate, and geometry of the system.

Thurston, et al. (ref. 40) proposed that the onset of these oscillations can be empirically determined as a relation between the Stermann parameter and the specific volume number described by the following expression:

$$Sr \le 0.0045(Sv)^{-0.75}$$
 (48)

- - -

where

$$Sr = \frac{q_0}{Gh_{fg}^*}$$
(48a)

and

$$Sv = \frac{v_{fg}^*}{v_f}$$
(48b)

The locus of the onset of oscillations is described by the equality in equation (48) $(Sr)_0$ and the stable points by the inequality. Other authors have identified this threshold by applying stability criteria to the fluid system, employing the general conservation equations.

The amplitude parameter developed by Thurston was roughly correlated as a function of Stermann number

Amplitude parameter:

$$Am = \frac{p^* W_n d}{Gh_{fg}^*}$$
(48c)

Amplitude correlation:

$$Am = 0.011 \left[Sr - (Sr)_0 \right]^{0.66}$$
(49)

<u>System oscillations</u>. - Thermal-ascoustic oscillations are confined to the heater section, while system oscillations involve the motion of the fluid in the entire loop. System oscillations (1/20 to 5 Hz) seem to be present to some degree in nearly all near-critical heat-transfer experiments.

Thus, while the thermal-acoustic oscillations may have a significant amplitude and this, in turn, may affect the heat-transfer and general system behavior, most facilities will not fail to function because of their presence. System oscillations however, could very conceivably prevent the operation of the loop in several different ways (e.g., a pressure variation effecting cyclic heat-transfer conditions to produce forces which may cause mechanical failure). The frequency of these oscillations is somewhat lower than for the thermal-acoustic oscillations. Also, they are one function of the energy input to the fluid, and another function of the system geometry.

Analysis of system oscillations, whether in a two-phase or in a supercritical region, tend to assume a boiling-like phenomenon with substantial density changes. The basic approach is to supplement the time-dependent, one-dimensional conservation equations (continuity, energy, and momentum) by an equation of state which exhibits a discontinuity at the saturated liquid line or at the equivalent point in the near-critical regime. Two general methods have been used to predict the onset of these oscillations. The first, attributed to Craya and Bouré (ref. 154), is called the density effect model. This method has been used and extended by a number of authors (refs. 155 to 157). Walker and Harden (ref. 156) found six independent variables which would influence the inception point. Three of these are concerned with geometry and the friction factor which could be considered essentially constant for any given system. The remaining three variables are fluid velocity, gravitational force, and subcooling. The critical frequency, the same as that of an oscillating manometer, is given by

$$W_{n} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left[\frac{2g(\rho_{f} - \rho_{g})}{c(\rho_{f} + \rho_{g})} \right]$$
(50)

Walker and Harden (ref. 157) were able to compute a threshold surface involving the three variables and to predict instabilities in a Freon-114 natural convection loop with good reliability.

The second criteria used the Nyquist-type of test to determine the stability of the system. This method is widely used for electrical systems and can be employed in fluid systems by utilizing analogous behavior. For example, the resistance and capacitance of fluid system components can be modeled electrically. Examples of such modeling can be found in the work of Zuber (ref. 39), Friedly et al. (ref. 158), and Wallis and Heasley (ref. 159). Examples of working heat-exchanger oscillations are found in reference 160.

The following remarks can be made in summary:

(1) Oscillations in near-critical flow can be divided into four groups: laminar to turbulent, thermal acoustic, system, and external.

(2) The large density changes of a near-critical fluid are the basic source of the oscillating behavior.

(3) The critical frequency for the thermal-acoustic and system oscillations can be predicted by utilizing simple concepts of mechanics.

(4) Conventional stability criteria may be employed to predict the thermal-acoustic and system oscillations with a fair degree of reliability.

(5) Attempts to predict the amplitude of the oscillations has met with only limited success.

Choking Phenomenon

Although the authors are aware of only one reported work and their own current work on this subject, choking flow in the near-critical region may be unique and of considerable interest. Choking flow, often referred to as critical flow, may be defined as the condition where the mean velocity and the mass flow rate are at a maximum with respect to further reductions in the downstream pressure (refs. 161 and 162).

W. G. Zinman, in a private communication, points to the observed similarities in various critical phenomena (e.g., choked flow, detonations, shock waves, critical points of ferromagnets, thermodynamic critical point) and suggests there should be some com-

mon theoretical base for each system. For example, the thermodynamic critical region and choking flows are essentially unstable phenomena, and experimental measurements to determine either are destined to some degree of failure. The experimental problems encountered in obtaining data for either of these critical conditions are monumental. As critical conditions are approached, changes occur very rapidly. In the thermodynamic critical region, these are property changes; and in choking flow, they are usually characterized by pressure changes in the flow direction. Because of these very rapid changes, relaxation times become important. It follows that for many systems, at the rates of change required to maintain equilibrium, it is unlikely that equilibrium will be achieved nor can the system be assumed to be frozen. Therefore, the problem of choking flow near the thermodynamic critical point is compounded by the necessity of considering two critical and elusive phenomena combined.

For a single-phase, homogeneous fluid, the critical flow rate may be described by

$$G^{2} = -\left(\frac{\partial P}{\partial v}\right)_{\text{process}}$$
(51)

If the process is assumed to be isentropic, the choking velocity is equivalent to the sonic velocity.

If it is assumed that the fluid is homogeneous in properties and velocity and in thermal equilibrium at the critical point, the choking and sonic velocities as described by $u^2 = \partial P/\partial \rho$ would be zero. This is because the derivative in equation (51) goes to zero at the critical point. Also, in the near-critical region, the value of this derivative tends to be quite low. Some experimental work reported by Williamson and Chase (ref. 163) gives the measured sonic velocity of helium in the near-critical region. This is shown in figure 34. Examination of the figure shows that, indeed, the velocity does appear to approach zero near the critical point and to be at a relatively low minimum in the region of the transposed critical. Van Dael, et al. (ref. 164) reported similar results for argon. Further, they indicate a practical lower limit on sonic velocity of about 100 meters per second.

It would appear that if, indeed, the very low choking velocities were probable in the near-critical region, some experimental measurements (a discontinuous pressure profile accompanied by abnormally large pressure loss, or visual observations) would have been reported which would indicate the presence of choking flow in the system. Since none of these conditions has been reported in the near-critical fluid flow and heat-transfer studies, it must be assumed that the choking velocities are somewhat higher than those indicated by the sonic velocity or by studies which assume thermal equilibrium with a homogeneous fluid. The work of Hesson and Peck (ref. 165) with carbon dioxide appears to be the closest to the critical region. Hesson and Peck mapped two-



Figure 34. - Overall view of sound velocity of helium-4 as function of pressure near critical point. (From ref. 163.)

phase critical flow for stagnation pressures up to the critical; however, no data were taken above critical pressure or for throat pressures in the near-critical region. A similar experimental program for nitrogen flowing in a converging-diverging nozzle is currently under way at Lewis Research Center (unpublished data by R. E. Henry, R. J. Simoneau, R. C. Hendricks, and R. Watterson). Preliminary data have been taken for stagnation temperatures ranging from 85 to 128 K and for stagnation pressures in the range of 26.4 to 41.8 atmospheres. These results indicate that the choking phenomenon in this region is characterized by a nonequilibium expansion. In addition to the conditions listed, the stagnation pressure range will be extended to 68 atmospheres in an attempt to create near-critical conditions at the nozzle throat.

For the two-phase-flow case, which should represent an extreme of the near-critical two-species choking flow, it has been shown that assumptions of nonequilibrium or of different phase velocities are necessary to explain the experimental data (refs. 166 to 168).

In summary it can be said that

(1) If a near-critical fluid were in thermodynamic equilibrium, the sonic velocity would be low and the flow might be expected to choke very easily.

(2) None of the normal indications of choking have been observed in the near-critical experiments. This suggests the possibility of thermodynamic nonequilibrium in these flows, which is also consistent with two-phase choking experience. Preliminary nozzle data for near-critical nitrogen indicate the expansion to be nonequilibrium.

Zero-Gravity Operation

The authors are aware of only one qualitative heat-transfer study of a near-critical fluid at very low gravity. Potter and Brill (ref. 169) placed 2.5 liters of liquid nitrogen on an Atlas ballistic flight. They present data for nearly 1500 seconds, during which time the gravity force increased from 6×10^{-4} to 0. 1034 g's. Liquid-nitrogen pressure level was controlled by an internal heater and periodic flows. Although Potter and Brill report that zero-gravity operation of the vessel was not significantly different from earthbound tests, their pressure profiles do indicate some differences. Data in this area are lacking and work should be performed.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Various areas of research on near-critical heat-transfer have been surveyed. The results for each area have been summarized at the end of that particular section. These summaries are repeated here for the convenience of the reader.

Fluid Properties

1. Classical Van der Waals models do not accurately describe the state of a nearcritical fluid, but may be satisfactory in first-order considerations.

2. The discrepancies in the law of corresponding states are accentuated in the critical region, and the law should be used only between fluids of similar molecular structure.

3. A thermally disturbed near-critical fluid requires long relaxation times to return to equilibrium.

4. Equations of state of the conventional virial type can be made to accurately map a near-critical pressure-density-temperature surface; however, they are not good for thermal properties requiring derivatives of the equation of state.

5. A new analytic equation of state involving chemical potential, density, and temperature, based on the Ising lattice gas model, has been developed for the near-critical region.

6. The evidence for the existence of a strong anomalous spike in thermal conductivity at the critical point is overwhelming. The spike can be estimated by treating the fluid as a dissociating polymer and superimposing the results on the conventional $\lambda - \lambda^* = f_1(\rho)$ curve (eq. (5)), where λ is thermal conductivity, λ^* is the thermal conductivity at low pressure, and $f_1(\rho)$ is a function describing variations in thermal conductivity.
7. If a similar spike occurs in viscosity, it is sufficiently weak to be ignored. Thus, $\eta - \eta^* = f_2(\rho)$ (eq. (6)) will adequately describe viscosity, where η is viscosity, η_0 is viscosity at low pressure and $f_2(\rho)$ is a function describing variations in viscosity.

8. Pseudo-two-phase thermal properties can be generated by extrapolation of saturation properties into the near-critical region.

Heat-Transfer Regions

1. The near-critical heat-transfer region and its adjacent regions can be delineated in an approximate manner on a temperature-entropy state diagram.

2. It is not possible to set precise near-critical heat-transfer boundaries for the following reasons:

(a) Data are generally insufficient.

(b) The transition from region to region is not abrupt.

(c) Most important, the extent of influence of the critical point on heat transfer is a function of the process or path by which the fluid approaches the critical point.

3. Heat transfer in the adjacent regions can be correlated by conventional methods appropriate to that region. In fact, the correlatable nature of the adjacent regions helps determine the near-critical boundaries.

Near-Critical Heat-Transfer Pecularities

1. Some characteristics of the near-critical region are

(a) Nonlinearities in heat flux against temperature difference

- (b) Wall temperature excursions (spikes)
- (c) Similarities to the two-phase regime

(d) Oscillations

- (e) Large momentum pressure drops
- (f) System-dependent results
- (g) Failure of conventional correlations

2. Modeling should be required to work throughout region IV, and to exhibit a smooth transition to the adjacent regions of figure 8.

Free and Natural Convection

1. Pool results almost universally show an enhancement in heat transfer near the critical point. In all cases, the temperature differences are small and the enhancement occurs over a limited temperature range and peaks somewhat away from the critical point. Large temperature differences diminish the peak.

2. Free convection systems have no constraining boundaries and consequently respond favorably to property variations.

3. Boiling-like behavior in near-critical pools is not accompanied by the marked increase in the heat-transfer coefficient associated with nucleate boiling.

4. Most researchers employed conventional techniques away from the critical point. However, close to the critical point, modifications such as equations (15) and (16) are employed (see table II).

5. Laminar-to-turbulent oscillations have been observed, but the origin of this phenomenon has not been explained. These oscillations may well determine the character of near-critical oscillations found in natural and forced convection systems.

Loops - Natural Convection Systems

1. In the free convection pools and natural convection loops, close proximity of the fluid to the critical point appears to enhance heat transfer. This is possibly the result of a free boundary system being able to respond to enhancing property variations where the temperature differences are low. As will be shown, forced convection systems at low temperature differences exhibit similar trends.

2. Reasonable success has been achieved in correlating the data of both the pools and natural convection loops by variable property modifications to the standard equations for the given configuration.

3. The pool experiments have produced considerable support for a pseudo-twophase modeling of a near-critical fluid. On the other hand, the success of single-phase correlations indicates either approach may be successful.

4. To date, no single correlation has been tested against all the available data.

5. Since these experiments operate very close to the critical point, there is a continuing need for improved property data and equations of state.

6. System oscillations which are commonplace in a natural convection loop near the critical point are similar to those observed in forced convection systems.

Forced Convection - Experimental

1. Proximity to the critical point produces a sharp response in wall temperature, but the nature of the response is not uniform and the question of increased or decreased heat transfer is unclear.

2. There is evidence of a strong similarity to boiling and there seems to be little discontinuity in going from high-pressure boiling to the super-critical region. However, since the fluid is not two phase, the formulation is somewhat arbitrary.

3. Analyses and experiments directed specifically at critical-point heat transfer have produced some very interesting variable groupings which deserve continued investigation. Among these are

(a) Integrated specific heat $\overline{C_p}$, and other integrated average properties,

$$\overline{C_p} = \frac{H_w - H_b}{T_w - T_b}$$

where H_w and H_b are wall and bulk enthalpy, respectively, and T_w and T_b are wall and bulk temperature, respectively.

(b) Minimum Prandtl number (Pr)_{min}

(c) Eckert reference temperature parameter

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{\mathbf{T}^* - \mathbf{T}_{b}}{\mathbf{T}_{w} - \mathbf{T}_{b}}$$

where T^* is the transposed or pseudocritical temperature.

(d) Turbulence enhancement factors (see the section Theoretical Considerations) such as

$$\frac{d(\ln \rho)}{1 + \frac{dy^+}{d(\ln u^+)}}$$
$$\frac{d(\ln u^+)}{dy^+}$$

where ρ is density, y is the coordinate normal to the flow field, y⁺ is dimensionless distance, and u⁺ is dimensionless velocity.

(e) Pseudoboiling parameters such as Stermann number and Martinelli parameter (f) Stability limit (wall temperature spikes) defined by

$$q = f(G)$$
 (see fig. 20)

where q is the heat flux and G is mass flow per unit area.

4. Despite the fact that analysts developing the various correlation or mixing length methods have been able to substantiate their work with data, subsequent investigators have usually found it necessary to modify the method to fit their own data. No analysis is currently widely accepted nor has any analysis been thoroughly tested against the available data.

Geometry Effects

1. An increase of about 2:1 in the heat-transfer coefficient on the concave side can be expected as a result of curvature for gases and fluid systems at high T_w/T_b . This enhancement seems to be a centrifuging effect, particularly in small-bend-angle tubes.

2. The magnitude of enhancement (or degradation on the convex side) appears to be related to the Ito parameter. As a reference for computing enhancement for the dry-wall case, correlations of Taylor's type (eq. (9)) appear the most satisfactory. For the wet-wall case, the augmentation can shift to the convex wall.

3. Devices which centrifuge the high-density core to the wall or break up the lowdensity boundary layer, such as twisted tapes and spiral grooves, enhance near-critical heat transfer significantly.

4. Experiment and analysis suggest that a parallel body force should begin to influence heat transfer when $Gr/Re^2 > 5 \times 10^{-3}$ (where Gr is the Grashoff number and Re is the Reynolds number).

5. Tube entrance effects persist much further down the tube in near-critical fluids than in gases.

Theoretical Considerations in Forced Convection

1. Conventional mixing length theories must be modified to account for the tremendous fluid expansion in the near-critical region. These modifications could be in the equations, following Goldman's example (ref. 137); or in the eddy diffusivity, following Hsu and Smith (ref. 133); or in forming a penetration model, Graham (ref. 150).

2. Applications of these and other modifications of mixing length theory to nearcritical data have met with limited success. The theory will probably also have to be made to comprehend upstream history, acceleration, etc., in order to achieve wide success.

3. Further analysis of accelerated flows should consider the effects of strain rates. While the theory of Deissler predicts the proper trends, the magnitudes associated with a real near-critical fluid are not correct. Thus, the boundaries and the variation in fluid properties must be properly considered (not an easy task).

Oscillations

1. Oscillations in near-critical flow can be divided into four groups: laminar to turbulent, thermal acoustic, system, and external.

2. The large density changes of a near-critical fluid are the basic source of the oscillating behavior.

3. The critical frequency for the thermal-acoustic and system oscillations can be predicted by utilizing simple concepts of mechanics.

4. Conventional stability criteria may be employed to predict the onset of thermalacoustic and system oscillations with a fair degree of reliability.

5. Attempts to predict the amplitude of the oscillations has met with only limited success.

Choking

1. If a near-critical fluid were in thermodynamic equilibrium, the sonic velocity would be low and the flow might be expected to choke very easily.

2. None of the normal indications of choking have been observed in the near-critical experiments. This suggests the possibility of thermodynamic nonequilibrium in these flows, which is also consistent with two-phase choking experience. Preliminary nozzle data for near-critical nitrogen indicates the expansion to be nonequilibrium.

Zero-Gravity Operation

The operation of a 2.5-liter dewar with internal heaters at supercritical pressure and low gravity was reported as not significantly different from operation for earthbound tests. Data in this area are lacking.

Lewis Research Center,

National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Cleveland, Ohio, June 15, 1970,

129-01.

APPENDIX A

SYMBOLS

Α	constant
Am	amplitude parameter, $PW_n d/Gh_{fg}^*$
A(T)	virial coefficient
A ₁	τ_{δ}/τ_{w}
A^+	dimensionless parameter of Van Driest (table V)
\mathcal{A}	area
^a 1	attraction force constant
B(T)	virial coefficient
^b H	channel half-width
^b 1	repulsion force constant
С	constant
C(T)	virial coefficient
C _p	specific heat at constant pressure
$\frac{1}{C_p}$	average specific heat, (H_w - H_b)/(T_w - T_b)
$\left(C_{p} \right)_{0}$	specific heat at constant pressure, 1 atm
$\left(C_{p} \right)_{r}$	excess specific heat, $C_p - (C_p)_0$
C _v	specific heat at constant volume
с	sonic velocity, wave propagation velocity
D	self-diffusion coefficient
D(T)	virial coefficient
D _{ln}	binary diffusion coefficient
d	characteristic length (diameter)
ď1	constant
Ε	Eckert parameter, $(T^* - T_b)/(T_w - T_b)$
E ₁ , E ₂	adjustable constants in analytical equation of state (eqs. (4) and (4a))

F _h	energy (heat) eddy diffusivity modification
F _m	momentum eddy diffusitivy modification
f	function factor
f()	functional form
$f_{1}(\rho), f_{2}(\rho)$	functions describing varations in thermal conductivity and viscosity, re- spectively
G	mass flow per unit area, (pu) _b
Gr	Grashoff number: two component, $\rho(\rho_l - \rho)l^3 g/\eta^2$; single component, $\beta_1 \Delta T l^3 g/\eta^2$
g	acceleration
Н	enthalpy
h	heat-transfer coefficient
h(x ₁)	function defined by equation (4a)
h'	modified heat-transfer coefficient, $q_0 d^{0.2}/G^{0.8}$
h [*] _{fg}	latent heat or pseudolatent heat of vaporization
I	Itō parameter (eq. (27))
L	axial position, length
^L T	one-half total loop length
L'	uniform fluid column length between mixing reservoirs
K	constant
l	characteristic length
ι _T	test section length
m	mass
Nu	Nusselt number, hd/λ
n	constant
ⁿ 1 ^{to n} 16	constants in modified BWR equation of state
Р	pressure
Pr	Prandtl number, $\eta C_p / \lambda$
p*	equivalent pressure amplitude when different modes of oscillations occur simultaneously

ī

Q	total heat generated
q	heat flux
R	radius of curvature
Ra	Rayleigh number, GrPr
Re	Reynolds number, $ ho u_b^{d/\eta}$
R	gas constant
r	tube radius
S	entropy
Sr	Stermann parameter (boiling number), q $\Delta v/u_b^{} \Delta H$
St	Stanton number, Nu/RePr
\mathbf{Sv}	specific volume number, v_{fg}^*/v_l
Т	temperature
\mathbf{T}^{*}	transposed critical or pseudocritical temperature (see fig. 6)
t	dimensionless temperature, $(T - T_c)/T_c$
u	velocity
u ⁺	dimensionless velocity, u/u*
u ⁺⁺	dimensionless velocity (table V)
u [*]	friction velocity, $\sqrt{\tau_0/\rho_0}$
vg	volume of gas in resonator cavity
v	specific volume, $1/\rho$
$ m v_{fg}^{*}$	change in specific volume, fluid to gas
v	velocity component normal to flow field
v'	average velocity component normal to flow field
W	frequency
х	axial position, length
x ⁺	dimensionless position
x	thermodynamic quality
x _o	adjustable constant in analytical equation of state (eqs. (4) and $(4a)$)
^x 1	dimensionless parameter of equation (4), t/ $\left[(\rho - \rho_{c})/\rho_{c}\right]^{1/\beta_{2}}$

У	coordinate normal to flow field
y ⁺	dimensionless distance, u^*y/ν_0
y++	dimensionless distance (table V)
Z	compressibility factor, $P/\rho RT$
\mathbf{Z}	pressure head between heater and cooler
α	void fraction (two-phase system)
β	reference temperature, $q_0 u^* / (C_p)_0 \tau_0 T_0$
β_1	expansion coefficient
β ₂	adjustable constant in analytical equation of state (eqs. (4) and (4a)) $\left(4a \right) = \left(4a \right) \left(4a \right)$
γ	ratio of specific heats (isentropic expansion coefficient), C_p/C_v
γ^+	changeover point in equation (42)
∆()	change in a function
δ	boundary-layer thickness
$^{\delta}$ 1	adjustable constant
δ^+	dimensionless boundary-layer thickness, $u^+ \delta / \nu_0$
€	momentum eddy diffusivity
ϵ_{h}	energy (heat) eddy diffusivity
ϵ^+	dimensionless eddy diffusivity, ϵ/ u
$\epsilon_{\rm D}^+$	dimensionless eddy diffusivity (Deissler form, eq. (42))
$\epsilon_{\rm VD}^+$	dimensionless eddy diffusivity (Van Driest form, eq. (41))
η	viscosity
η^*	viscosity ($\rho \rightarrow 0, T$)
λ	thermal conductivity
λ_{f}	thermal conductivity given by equation (5)
λ_r	dissociation contribution to thermal conductivity
λ_0^*	thermal conductivity ($\rho \rightarrow 0, T$)
μ(ρ,Τ)	chemical potential
μ_{1}	Joule-Thompson coefficient, $\mu_1 = (\partial T / \partial P)_H = 0$

ν	kinematic viscosity, η/ ho
ξ	dimensionless distance, δ/b_{H}
ρ	density
τ	shear force
$\tau_{\rm contact}$	fluid residence time (eq. (45b))
φ	property parameter (eq. (24))
$\overline{\varphi}$	integral averaged property
× _{tt}	Martinelli parameter, turbulent-turbulent flow; $\left(\frac{1-x}{x}\right)^{0.9} \left(\frac{\rho_2}{\rho_1}\right)^{0.5} \left(\frac{\eta_1}{\eta_2}\right)^{0.1}$
(x _{tt})'	modified Martinelli parameter, where x is pseudoquality
$\dot{\omega}$	mass flow rate
Subscripts:	
av	average
b	properties evaluated at bulk conditions
с	critical
calc	calculated
core	core of fluid
¢	centerline
cr	curved
cv	concave surface
cx	convex surface
f	properties evaluated at film conditions
fm	properties evaluated at mean film conditions
Н	at constant enthalpy
g	gas
l	properties evaluated at liquid conditions
min	properties evaluated according to equation (22a)
n	natural
0	properties evaluated at wall conditions

р	penetration
pg	perfect gas
sat	saturation
st	straight
test	conditions of experimental test
tot	total
w	properties evaluated at wall conditions
x	properties evaluated at reference conditions
δ	edge of boundary layer
$\overline{\varphi}$	properties evaluated at void weighted conditions
0	initial
1	heavy species Do not apply to equations (4), (4a), (5a), and (6a),
2	light species \int where 1 and 2 are ordinary subscripts.

× free stream

1

Ì

APPENDIX B

HEAT-TRANSFER REGIMES AND THE PROCESS MAP

The heat-transfer problems can be loosely classified into the four regimes, as illustrated in figure 8. However, it is not sufficient just to know what regime is of interest, the process path within these regimes must also be known. For example, a process in region IV (fig. 8) may exhibit very few of the pecularities discussed in the text if the process traverses only a small part of this regime. As a consequence, the designer would have little difficulty in applying a correction to the ordinary Dittus-Boelter equation (ref. 138) and in predicting the heat transfer with reasonable accuracy.

Consider first the problem of establishing the regime of interest, and second the problem of establishing the process path.

In establishing the regime of interest, usually only the thermodynamic limits must be examined (i. e., the operating temperature, the pressure, and the enthalpy (or entropy rise). With these data and a figure similar to figure 8, some decision can be made as to the regime. Such a procedure is flow charted as figure 35. Basically, the message of figure 35 is that if you can avoid operating in the near-critical regime you are better off as far as predicting heat transfer is concerned; however, if you must operate in this regime, the material of this text should be beneficial in delineating problems which must be considered.

In determining the process path assume that a figure similar to figure 8 has been constructed, for example, figure 36. Now examine the five typical process paths illustrated in the figure:

(1) Process path 1: This represents the standard case of a gas entering the apparatus (perhaps with moderate precooling) and exiting as a low-Mach-number gas. The heat-transfer and pressure-drop equations are available and cited herein (see the main text, the section HEAT-TRANSFER REGIONS).

(2) Process path 2: Such a process is closely related to the standard case, except that the working fluid is a liquid at the system inlet and a subcooled liquid at the system exit. This fluid may be at either subcritical or supercritical pressure in a system with low temperature differences - and, of course, there would be no change in phase or pseudophase. Again, standard equations similar to those presented in the main text (see sections HEAT-TRANSFER REGIONS and the NEAR CRITICAL HEAT-TRANSFER REGION) should apply to yield heat transfer and pressure drop.

(3) Process path 3: In such a process, there is a change of phase which complicates the prediction of heat transfer and pressure drop. The process starts as a subcritical, subcooled liquid and terminates in the two-phase regime. While it is difficult to assess



Figure 35. - Flow chart showing procedure of characterizing the heat-transfer process within the four heat-transfer regimes.



the region around the saturation locus, several analyses, as discussed in the text, are available which predict heat transfer and pressure drop with reasonable accuracy.

(4) Process path 3a: Such a process enters the system as a two-phase fluid; however, the exhausted fluid is gaseous or perhaps droplet-laden. This is a difficult regime to assess; however, the techniques of Hsu, et al. (ref. 49) should be applicable.

(5) Process path 4: These are the systems operating in the near-critical regime, where, as a general rule, heat-transfer predictions are poor. However, if the boundaries of region IV are not crossed (see fig. 36), it appears to be possible to make a reasonable prediction. If in the final analysis, the process crosses the boundaries, the problem will be a real challenge. Some of the problems involved in analyzing such a system are covered in the main text of this report.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hirschfelder, Joseph O.; Curtiss, Charles F.; and Bird, R. Byron: Molecular Theory of Gases and Liquids. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1954.
- 2. Rowlinson, John S.: Liquids and Liquid Mixtures. Butterworths Scientific Publ., 1959.
- 3. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liqiud Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, pp. 11-64.
- Widom, B.: Intermolecular Forces and the Nature of the Liquid State. Science, vol. 157, no. 3787, July 28, 1967, pp. 375-382.
- Sengers, Jan V.; and Levelt Sengers, Anneke: The Critical Region. Chem. Eng. News, vol. 46, no. 25, June 10, 1968, pp. 104-118.
- Schmidt, E.; Eckert, E. R. G.; and Grigull, U.: Heat Transfer by Liquids Near the Critical State. Trans. No. F-TS-527-RE, Air Material Command, Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio, Apr. 26, 1946.
- 7. Bagatskii, M. I.; Voronel', A. V.; and Gusak, V. G.: Measurement of the Specific Heat C_v of Argon in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. Soviet Phys.-JETP, vol. 16, no. 2, Feb. 1963, pp. 517-518.
- Maass, O.: Changes in the Liquid State in the Critical Temperature Region. Chem. Rev., vol. 23, no. 1, Aug. 1938, pp. 17-28.
- Michels, A.; Blaisse, B.; and Michels, C.: The Isotherms of CO₂ in the Neighbourhood of the Critical Point and Round the Coexistence Line. Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), Ser. A, vol. 160, no. 902, June 1, 1937, pp. 358-375.
- Goodwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100⁰ K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 67, no. 2, Mar.-Apr. 1963, pp. 173-192.
- 11. Obert, Edward F.: Concepts of Thermodynamics. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1960.
- 12. Benedict, Manson; Webb, George B.; and Rubin, Louis C.: An Empirical Equation for Thermodynamic Properties of Light Hydrocarbons and Their Mixtures.
 I. Methane, Ethane, Propane and n-Butane. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 8, no. 4, Apr. 1940, pp. 334-345.

- Strobridge, Thomas R.: The Thermodynamic Properties of Nitrogen from 64 to 300⁰ K Between 0.1 and 200 Atmospheres. Tech. Note 129, National Bureau of Standards, Jan. 1962.
- 14. Roder, Hans M.; and Goodwin, Robert D.: Provisional Thermodynamic Functions for Para-Hydrogen. Tech. Note 130, National Bureau of Standards, Dec. 1961.
- 15. Vennix, Alan J.: Low Temperature Volumetric Properties and the Development of an Equation of State for Methane. Ph.D. Thesis, Rice University, 1966.
- 16. Harry, David P., III: Formulation and Digital Coding of Approximate Hydrogen Properties for Application to Heat-Transfer and Fluid-Flow Computations. NASA TN D-1664, 1963.
- Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968.
- Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968.
- 19. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-187.
- Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117.
- Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.; and Vicentini-Missoni, M.: Thermodynamic Anomalies Near the Gas-Liquid Critical Point. Proceedings of the Fourth Symposium on Thermophysical Properties. ASME, 1968, pp. 79-86.
- Vicentini-Missoni, M.; Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.; and Green, M. S.: Thermodynamic Anomalies of CO₂, Xe, and He⁴ in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 22, no. 9, Mar. 3, 1969, pp. 389-393.
- Vicentini-Missoni, M.; Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.; and Green, M. S.: Scaling Analysis of Thermodynamic Properties in the Critical Region of Fluids. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A., Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 6, Nov.-Dec. 1969, pp. 563-583.
- 24. Sengers, Jan V.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements at Elevated Gas Densities Including the Critical Region. Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. of Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1962.

- Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Eur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348.
- 26. Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969.
- 27. Sokolova, V. P.; and Golubev, I. F.: Thermal Conductivity of Methane at Different Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal Eng., vol. 14, no. 4, 1967, pp. 123-126.
- Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal Eng., vol. 11, no. 9, 1964, pp. 78-82.
- Ziebland, H.; and Burton, J. T. A.: The Thermal Conductivity of Nitrogen and Argon in the Liquid and Gaseous States. Brit. J. Appl. Phys., vol. 9, no. 2, Feb. 1958, pp. 52-59.
- Kestin, J.; Whitelaw, J. H.; and Zien, T. F.: The Viscosity of Carbon Dioxide in the Neighbourhood of the Critical Point. Physica, vol. 30, no. 1, Jan. 1964, pp. 161-181.
- Diller, Dwain E.: Measurements of the Viscosity of Parahydrogen. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 42, no. 6, Mar. 15, 1965, pp. 2089-2100.
- Hanley, H. J. M.; and Childs, G. E.: Interim Values for the Viscosity and Thermal Conductivity Coefficients of Fluid He⁴ Between 2 and 50 K. Cryogenics, vol. 9, no. 2, Apr. 1969, pp. 106-111.
- 33. Stiel, Leonard I.; and Thodos, George: The Prediction of the Transport Properties of Pure Gaseous and Liquid Substances. Progress in International Research on Thermodynamic and Transport Properties. ASME, 1962, pp. 352-365.
- Sengers, J. V.: Transport Properties of Compressed Gases. Recent Advances in Engineering Science. Vol. 3. A. C. Eringen, ed., Gordon and Breach Science Publ., 1969, pp. 153-196.
- 35. Brokaw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. Presented at the International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968.
- 36. Johnson, Victor J., ed.: A Compendium of the Properties of Materials at Low Temperature, Phase I. National Bureau of Standards, Dec. 1959.

- 37. Zwickler, R.: Die Uterscheidung eines flüssigen und gasförmigen Zustands oberhalb des kritischen Punktes. Energie, vol. 20, no. 7/8, July/Aug. 1968, pp. 223-227.
- 38. Jones, G. O.; and Walker, P. A.: Specific Heats of Fluid Argon Near the Critical Point. Proc. Phys. Soc., Sec. B, vol. 69, pt. 12, Dec. 1956, pp. 1348-1350.
- 39. Zuber, Novak: An Analysis of Thermally Induced Flow Oscillations in the Near-Critical and Super-Critical Thermodynamic Region. General Electric Co. (NASA CR-80609), May 25, 1966.
- 40. Thurston, R. S.; Rogers, J. D.; and Skoglund, V. J.: Pressure Oscillations Induced by Forced Convection Heating of Dense Hydrogen. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 12, K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1967, pp. 438-451.
- 41. Hendricks, Robert C.; Graham, Robert W.; Hsu, Yih Y.; and Friedman, Robert: Experimental Heat-Transfer Results for Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing in Tubes at Subcritical and Supercritical Pressures to 800 Pounds Per Square Inch Absolute. NASA TN D-3095, 1966.
- 42. Hendricks, R. C.; Graham, R. W.; Hsu, Y. Y.; and Medeiros, A. A.: Correlation of Hydrogen Heat Transfer in Boiling And Supercritical Pressure States. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 2, Feb. 1962, pp. 244-252.
- McCarthy, J. R.; and Wolf, H.: The Heat Transfer Characteristics of Gaseous Hydrogen and Helium. Rep. RR 60-12, Rocketdyne Div., North American Aviation, Inc. (AEC Rep. NP-10572), Dec. 1960.
- 44. McCarthy, J. R.; and Wolf, H.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Gaseous Hydrogen at High Heat Flux and High Pressure in a Smooth, Round, Electrically Heated Tube. ARS J., vol. 30, no. 4, Apr. 1960, pp. 423-425.
- 45. Taylor, Maynard F.: Correlation of Local Heat-Transfer Coefficients for Single-Phase Turbulent Flow of Hydrogen in Tubes with Temperature Ratios up to 23. NASA TN D-4332, 1968.
- 46. Taylor, Maynard F.: A Method of Correlating Local and Average Friction Coefficients for Both Laminar and Turbulent Flow of Gases Through a Smooth Tube with Surface to Fluid Bulk Temperature Ratios from 0.35 to 7.35. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 8, Aug. 1967, pp. 1123-1128.
- 47. Perroud, Paul; and Rebière, Jean: Convection Forcee de L'Hydrogene Liquide.
 2 Ème Partie: Cas de Grands écarts de Températures entre Fluide et Paroi (Canal Cylindrique). Rep. CEA-R-2499, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, Grenoble, France, Oct. 1964.

- 48. McAdams, William H.: Heat Transmission. Third ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1954.
- Hsu, Yih-Yun; Cowgill, Glenn R.; and Hendricks, Robert C.: Mist-Flow Heat Transfer Using Single-Phase Variable-Property Approach. NASA TN D-4149, 1967.
- Giarratano, P. J.; and Smith, R. V.: Comparative Study of Forced Convection Boiling Heat Transfer Correlations for Cryogenic Fluids. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 11, K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1966, pp. 492-506.
- 51. Hendricks, R. C.; Graham, R. W.; Hsu, Y. Y.; and Friedman, R.: Experimental Heat Transfer and Pressure Drop of Liquid Hydrogen Flowing Through a Heated Tube. NASA TN D-765, 1961.
- 52. Tong, L. S.: Boiling Heat Transfer and Two-Phase Flow. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1965.
- 53. Perroud, Paul; and Rebière, Jean: Convection Forcee De L'Hydrogene Liquide.
 2 Ème (Suite): Cas de Grands écarts de Températures entre Fluide et Paroi (Canal Rectangulaire). Note ASP no. 64/06, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, May 1964.
- 54. Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957, pp. 776-783.
- Miller, W. S.; Seader, J. D.; and Trebes, D. M.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Bull. Inst. Intern. Froid, Annexe No. 2, 1965, pp. 173-190.
- 56. Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, Sept.-Oct. 1963, pp. 237-244.
- 57. Yamagata, K.; Nishikawa, K.; Hasegawa, S.; and Fujii, T.: Forced Convective Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.
- Domin, G.: Waermeuebergang in Kritischen and Überkritischen Bereichen von Wasser in Rohren. Brennstoff-Wärme-Kraft, vol. 15, no. 11, Nov. 1963, pp. 527-532.
- 59. Koppel, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 585-590.

- 60. Petukhov, B. S.; Krasnoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 569-578.
- Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.
- 62. Graham, Robert W.; Hendricks, Robert C.; and Ehlers, Robert C.: Analytical and Experimental Study of Pool Heating of Liquid Hydrogen Over a Range of Accelerations. NASA TN D-1883, 1964.
- 63. Holt, V. E.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convection Heat Transfer Up to Near-Critical Conditions. Nucleonics, vol. 21, no. 8, Aug. 1963, pp. 122-125.
- 64. Dickinson, N. L.; and Welch, C. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water. Trans. ASME, vol. 80, no. 3, Apr. 1958, pp. 746-752.
- 65. Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.
- 66. Wood, Rodney D.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region: Experimental Investigation of Radial Temperature and Velocity Profiles. Ph.D. Thesis, Northwestern University, 1963.
- 67. Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.
- Thompson, W. R.; and Geery, E. L.: Heat Transfer to Cryogenic Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 7. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1962, pp. 391-400.
- Hsu, Y. Y.: Discussion of An Investigation of Heat Transfer of Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under Supercritical Conditions. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. D-188 to D-189.
- 70. Hauptmann, Edward G.: An Experimental Investigation of Forced Convective Heat Transfer to a Fluid in the Region of Its Critical Point. Ph.D. Thesis, California Institute of Technology, 1966.
- 71. Styrikovich, M. A.; Shitsman, M. E.; and Miropolskii, Z. L.: Certain Data on the Temperature Region of Vertical Boiler Pipes at Near-Critical Pressures. Teploenergetika, vol. 3, 1956, pp. 32-36.

- 72. Styrikovich, M. A.; Miropolski, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Pressure Region Under Forced Convection. Mitt. Ver. Grosskesselbesitzer, vol. 61, Aug. 1959, pp. 288-294.
- 73. Kahn, Sardar A.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluids at the Critical Point. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Manchester, England, 1965.
- 74. Shiralkar, B. S.; and Griffith, Peter: Deterioration in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressure and High Heat Fluxes. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1, Feb. 1969, pp. 27-36.
- 75. McCarthy, J. R.; Trebes, D. M.; and Seader, J. D.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Nitrogen Tetroxide at High Heat Fluxes and in Axially Curved Flow Passages. Paper 67-HT-59, ASME, Aug. 1967.
- 76. Hines, W. S.; and Wolf, H.: Pressure Oscillations Associated with Heat Transfer Hydrocarbon Fluids at Supercritical Pressures and Temperatures. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 3, Mar. 1962, pp. 361-366.
- 77. Hsu, Y. Y.; Hendricks, R. C.; and Graham, R. W.: Discussion of Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water at 5000 psi Flowing at High Mass Flow Rates Through Round Tubes. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, pp. D-185 to D-186.
- 78. Goldmann, Kurt: Special Heat Transfer Phenomena for Supercritical Fluids. Rep. NDA-2-31, Nuclear Development Corp. of America, 1956.
- 79. Dean, L. E.; and Thompson, L. M.: Study of Heat Transfer to Liquid Nitrogen. Paper 56-SA-4, ASME, June 1956.
- Monroe, A. G.; Bristow, H. A. S.; and Newell, J. E.: Heat Transfer to Boiling Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pressures. J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pt. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624.
- Griffith, J. D.; and Sabersky, R. H.: Convection in a Fluid at Supercritical Pressures. ARS J., vol. 30, no. 3, Mar. 1960, pp. 289-291.
- Knapp, Karl K.; and Sabersky, Rolf H.: Free Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 1966, pp. 41-51.
- Nishikawa, Kaneyawu; and Miyabe, Kiyoji: On the Boiling-Like Phenomena at Supercritical Pressures. Mem. Fac. Eng. Kyushu Univ., vol. 25, no. 1, Dec. 1965, pp. 1-25.
- 84. Cumo, Maurizio; Farello, Giovanni E.; and Ferrari, Guiseppe: Bubble Flow up to the Critical Pressure. Paper 69-HT-30, ASME, Aug. 1969.

- Bubrovina, E. N.; and Skripov, V. P.: Convective Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Supercritical Region. Proceedings of the Second All-Soviet Union Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., California Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 36-45.
- 86. Goldstein, R. J.; and Aung, W.: Heat Transfer by Free Convection from a Horizontal Wire to Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Paper 67-WA/HT-2, ASME, Nov. 1967.
- 87. Grigull, U.; and Abadzic, E.: Heat Transfer From a Wire in the Critical Region. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968.
- Hahne, Erich W. P.: Natural Convection Heat Transfer Through an Enclosed Horizontal Layer of Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Wärme-und-Stoffübertragung, vol. 1, no. 3, 1968, pp. 190-196.
- Hasegawa, Shu; and Yoshioka, Keisuke: An Analysis for Free Convective Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluids. Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference. Vol. 2. AIChE, 1966, pp. 214-222.
- 90. Parker, J. D.; and Mullin, T. E.: Natural Convection in the Supercritical Region. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 1.
- 91. Sparrow, E. M.; and Gregg, J. L.: The Variable Fluid-Property Problem in Free Convection. Trans. ASME, vol. 80, no. 4, May 1958, pp. 879-886.
- 92. Simon, H. A.; and Eckert, E. R. G.: Laminar Free Convection in Carbon Dioxide Near Its Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 6, no. 8, Aug. 1963, pp. 681-690.
- 93. Schmidt, E.: Heat Transmission by Natural Convection at High Centrifugal Acceleration in Water-Cooled Gas Turbine Blades. ASME General Discussion on Heat Transfer, Sept. 11-13, 1951, pp. 361-373.
- 94. Schmidt, E.: Wärmetransport durch Natürliche Konvektion in Stoffen Bei Kritischen Zustand. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 1, no. 1, 1960, pp. 92-101.
- 95. Schmidt, E.: Heat Transfer by Natural Convection. Presented at the ASME-IME International Heat Transfer Conference, Boulder, Colo., Aug. 28-Sept. 1, 1961.
- 96. Holman, J. P.; and Boggs, J. H.: Heat Transfer to Freon 12 Near the Critical State in a Natural-Circulation Loop. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 82, no. 3, Aug. 1960, pp. 221-226.

- 97. Tanger, G. E.; Lytle, J. H.; and Vachon, R. I.: Heat Transfer to Sulfur Hexa-fluoride Near the Thermodynamic Critical Region in a Natural-Circulation Loop. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 90, no. 1, Feb. 1968, pp. 37-42.
- 98. Merlini, C.: Typical Heat Transfer Phenomena in a Natural Circulation Supercritical Pressure Water System. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 7.
- 99. Eckert, E. R. G.: Discussion of Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction for Fully Developed Turbulent Flow of Air and Supercritical Water With Variable Fluid Properties. Trans. ASME, vol. 76, no. 1, Jan. 1954, pp. 83-84.
- 100. Bringer, R. P.; and Smith, J. M.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. AIChE J., vol. 3, no. 1, Mar. 1957, pp. 49-55.
- 101. Schnurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1, Feb. 1969, pp. 16-20.
- 102. Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water and Steam at Variable Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region). Soviet Phys. - Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10, Oct. 1957, pp. 2196-2208.
- 103. Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Methods of Calculation of Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point. Energomashinostroenie, vol. 4, no. 1, 1958, pp. 8-11.
- 104. Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959, pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)
- 105. Miropolskii, Z. L.; Picus, V. J.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Regimes of Deteriorated Heat Transfer at Forced Flow of Fluids in Curvilinear Channels. Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference. Vol. 2. AIChE, 1966, pp. 95-101.
- 106. Krasnoshchekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Experimental Study of Heat Exchange in Carbon Dioxide in the Supercritical Range at High Temperature Range. High Temp., vol. 4, no. 3, May-June 1966, pp. 375-382.
- 107. Gunson, W. E.; and Kellogg, H. B.: Engineering Application Technique for Supercritical-Pressure Heat-Transfer Correlations. Paper 66-WA/HT-11, ASME, Nov. 1966.
- 108. Finn, Donald: Forced Convective Heat Transfer and Thermodynamics in the Super Critical Region. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Oklahoma, 1964.

- 109. Brokaw, Richard S.: Correlation of Turbulent Heat Transfer in a Tube for the Dissociating System N_2O_4 =2NO₂. NACA RM E57K19a, 1958.
- 110. Hess, H. L.; and Kunz, H. R.: A Study of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Hydrogen. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, no. 1, Feb. 1965, pp. 41-48.
- Martinelli, R. C., et al.: Isothermal Pressure Drop for Two-Phase Two-Component Flow in a Horizontal Pipe. Trans. ASME, vol. 66, no. 2, Feb. 1944, pp. 139-151.
- 112. Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053. (Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)
- 113. Wilson, Mahlon T.: Flow and Thermal Characteristics of Hydrogen Near Its Critical Point in a Heated Cylindrical Tube. Rep. LA-4172, Los Alamos Scientific Lab., May 1969.
- 114. Yamagata, Kiyoshi, et al.: Free Convective Heat Transfer to a Supercritical Fluid (Second Report). Technology Rept. Kyushu Univ., vol. 37, no. 1, 1964, pp. 47-51.
- 115. Wood, Rodney D.; and Smith, J. M.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region -Temperature and Velocity Profiles in Turbulent Flow. AIChE. J., vol. 10, no. 2, Mar. 1964, pp. 180-186.
- 116. Gili, L. E.; Hewitt, G. F.; and Lacey, P. M. C.: Sampling Probe Studies of the Gas Core in Annular Two-Phase Flow. Part II: Studies of the Effect of Phase Flow Rates on Phase and Velocity Distribution. Rep. AERE-R-3955, United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, 1963.
- 117. Bourke, P. J.; Pulling, D. J.; Gill, L. E.; and Denton, W. H.: The Measurement of Turbulent Velocity Fluctuations and Turbulent Temperature Fluctuations in the Supercritical Region by a Hot Wire Anemometer and a "Cold" Wire Resistance Thermometer. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 9.
- 118. Hall, W. B.; Jackson, J. D.; and Kahn, S. A.: An Investigation of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Carbon Dioxide. Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference. Vol. 1. AIChE, 1966, pp. 257-266.

- 119. Sabersky, Rolf H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.
- 120. Jackson, J. D.; and Evans-Lutterodt, K.: Impairment of Turbulent Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure CO₂ Caused by Buoyancy Forces. Res. Rep. N. E. 2, Univ. of Manchester, England, Mar. 1968.
- 121. Ito, H.: Friction Factors for Turbulent Flow in Curved Pipes. J. Basic Eng., vol. 81, no. 2, June 1959, pp. 123-134.
- 122. Dean, W. R.: The Streamline Motion of Fluid in a Curved Pipe. Phil. Mag., Ser. VII, vol. 5, no. 30, Apr. 1928, pp. 674-695.
- 123. Hendricks, R. C.; and Simon, F. F.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Flowing in a Curved Tube. Multi-Phase Flow Symposium. Norman J. Lipstein, ed., ASME, 1963, pp. 90-93.
- 124. Anon.: Heat Transfer to Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing Turbulently in Straight and Curved Tubes at High Heat Fluxes. NASA CR-678, 1967.
- 125. McCarthy, J. R., et al.: Investigation of Cooling Problems at High Chamber Pressures. Rep. 6529, Rocketdyne Div., North American Aviation (NASA CR-78634), Sept. 15, 1966.
- 126. Taylor, Maynard F.: Heat-Transfer Predictions in the Cooling Passages of Nuclear Rocket Nozzles. J. Spacecraft Rockets, vol. 5, no. 11, Nov. 1968, pp. 1353-1355.
- 127. Bartlit, J. R.; and Williamson, K. D., Jr.: Further Experimental Study of H₂O-LH₂ Heat Exchangers. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 11. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1966, pp. 561-567.
- 128. Shiralkar, B. S.; and Griffith, P.: The Effect of Swirl, Inlet Conditions, Flow Direction and Tube Diameter on the Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressure. Paper 69 WA/HT-1, ASME, Nov. 1969.
- 129. Ackerman, J. W.: Pseudo-Boiling Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Water in Smooth and Ribbed Tubes. Paper 69-WA/HT-2, ASME, Nov. 1969.
- 130. Kidd, G. J., Jr.: The Heat Transfer and Pressure Drop Characteristics of Gas Flow Inside Spirally Corrugated Tubes. Paper 69-WA/HT-3, ASME, Nov. 1969.
- 131. Hall, W. B.; Jackson, J. D.; and Watson, A.: A Review of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 3.

- 132. Hall, W. B.: The Effect of Buoyancy Forces on Forced Convection. Heat Transfer in a Vertical Pipe. Res. Rep. N. E. 1, Univ. of Manchester, England, Jan. 1968.
- 133. Hsu, Yih-Yun; and Smith, J. M.: The Effect of Density Variation on Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, no. 2, May 1961, pp. 176-182.
- 134. Papell, S. S.; and Brown, D. D.: Inlet Effects in Boiling and Near Critical Hydrogen Heat Transfer. Paper 69-HT-27, ASME, Aug. 1969.
- 135. Deissler, R. G.: Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction for Fully Developed Turbulent Flow of Air and Supercritical Water with Variable Fluid Properties. Trans. ASME, vol. 76, no. 1, Jan. 1954, pp. 73-85.
- 136. Deissler, Robert G.: Analysis of Turbulent Heat Transfer, Mass Transfer, and Friction in Smooth Tubes at High Prandtl and Schmidt Numbers. NACA Rep. 1210, 1955.
- 137. Goldmann, Kurt: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water and Other Fluids with Temperature-Dependent Properties. Chem. Eng. Progr. Symp. Ser., vol. 50, no. 11, 1954, pp. 105-113.
- 138. Dittus, F. W.; and Boelter, L. M. K.: Heat Transfer in Automobile Radiators of the Tubular Type. Univ. Calif. Publ. Eng., vol. 2, no. 13, 1930, pp. 443-461.
- 139. Van Driest, E. R.: On Turbulent Flow Near a Wall. Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute, University of California, Los Angeles, June 23-25, 1955, Paper XII.
- 140. Koppel, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.: Laminar Flow Heat Transfer for Variable Physical Properties. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 84, no. 2, May 1962, pp. 157-163.
- 141. Hall, W. B.; and Jackson, J. D.: Laminarization of a Turbulent Pipe Flow by Buoyancy Forces. Paper 69-HT-55, ASME, Aug. 1969.
- 142. Leontiev, A. I.: To the Question of the Impairment of Turbulent Convection Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressures at Forced Flow of Fluid in the Vertical Channels. Paper 69-HT-60, ASME, Aug. 1969.
- 143. Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 1289-1292.
- 144. Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug. 1968, pp. 696-709.

- 145. Krasnoshchekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Heat Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Piped Carbonic Acid and Water. NASA TT F-11335, 1967.
- 146. Deissler, Robert G.: Effect of Uniform Longitudinal Strain Rate on Weak Homogeneous Turbulence in a Compressible Flow. NASA TN D-2800, 1965.
- 147. Weiland, Walter F., Jr.: Measurement of Local Heat Transfer Coefficients for Flow of Hydrogen and Helium on a Smooth Tube at High Surface-to-Fluid Bulk Temperature Ratios. Chem. Eng. Progr. Symp. Ser., vol. 61, no. 60, 1965, pp. 97-105.
- 148. Taylor, Maynard F.: Experimental Local Heat-Transfer and Average Friction Data for Hydrogen and Helium Flowing in a Tube at Surface Temperatures up to 5600⁰ R. NASA TN D-2280, 1964.
- 149. Moretti, P. M.; and Kays, W. M.: Heat Transfer Through an Incompressible Turbulent Boundary Layer with Varying Free-Stream Velocity and Varying Surface Temperature. Rep. PG-1, Thermosciences Div., Mech. Eng. Dept., Stanford Univ., 1964.
- 150. Graham, Robert W.: Penetration Model Explanation for Turbulent Forced-Convection Heat Transfer Observed in Near-Critical Fluids. NASA TN D-5522, 1969.
- 151. Cornelius, Archie J.; and Parker, Jerald D.: Heat Transfer Instabilities Near the Thermodynamic Critical Point. Proceedings of the 1965 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. A. F. Charwat, ed., Stanford Univ. Press, 1965, pp. 317-329.
- 152. Thurston, Rodney S.: Thermal-Acoustic Oscillations Induced by Forced Convection Heating of Dense Hydrogen. Ph.D. Thesis, University of New Mexico, 1966.
- 153. Kafengauz, N. L.: On Physical Nature of Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressure with Pseudo-boiling. Heat Transfer-Soviet Res., vol. 1, no. 1, Jan. 1969, pp. 88-93.
- 154. Craya, Antoine; and Bouré, Jean: Sur un mécanisme de mise en oscillations dans les éncoulements diphasiques chauffés. Acad. Sci. Paris. Compt. Rend., ser. A, vol. 263, Oct. 3, 1966, pp. 477-480.
- 155. Harden, Darrel G.; and Boggs, J. H.: Transient Flow Characteristics of a Natural-Circulation Loop Operated in the Critical Region. Proceedings of the 1964 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. Warren H. Giedt and Salamon Levy, eds., Stanford Univ. Press, 1964, pp. 38-50.

- 156. Walker, Bill J.; and Harden, Darrel G.: Heat-Driven Pressure and Flow Transients in the Supercritical Thermodynamic Region. Paper 64-WA/HT-37, ASME, Nov. 1964.
- 157. Harden, Darrel G.; and Walker, Bill J.: The 'Density Effect' Model. Paper 67-WA/HT-23, ASME, Nov. 1967.
- 158. Friedly, J. C.; Maganaro, J. L.; and Kroeger, P. G.: A Simple Criterion for Predicting Flow Oscillations in Fluid Heat Exchangers Operating Near the Critical Pressure. Presented at the 1968 Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Case-Western Reserve Univ., Cleveland, Ohio, Aug. 19-21, 1968.
- 159. Wallis, G. B.; and Heasley, J. H.: Oscillations in Two-Phase Flow Systems. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, no. 3, Aug. 1961, pp. 363-369.
- 160. Armand, A. A.; and Krasheninnikov, V. V.: Dynamic Characteristics of Heat Exchangers Working in the Near-Critical Region. Thermal Eng., vol. 13, no. 1, 1966, pp. 83-89.
- 161. Smith, Ray V.: Two-Phase, Two Component Critical Flow in a Venturi. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Oxford, England, 1968.
- 162. Henry, Robert E.: A Study of One- and Two-Component, Two-Phase Critical Flows at Low Qualities. Rep. ANL-7430, Argonne National Lab., Mar. 1968.
- 163. Williamson, R. C.; and Chase, C. E.: Velocity of Sound at 1 MHz near the He⁴ Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 176, no. 1, Dec. 5, 1968, pp. 285-294.
- 164. van Dael, W.; van Itterbeek, A.; and Thoren, J.: Measurements of the Sound Velocity in the Critical Region of Argon. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering.
 Vol. 12. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1967, pp. 754-761.
- 165. Hesson, James C.; and Peck, Ralph E.: Flow of Two-Phase Carbon Dioxide Through Orifices. AIChE J., vol. 4, no. 2, June 1958, pp. 207-210.
- 166. Fauske, H.: Critical Two-Phase, Steam-Water Flows. Proceedings of the 1961 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. R. C. Binder, M. Epstein, R. L. Mannes, and H. T. Yang, eds., Stanford University Press, 1961, pp. 79-89.
- 167. Cruver, J. E.; and Moulton, R. W.: Metastable Critical Flow of Steam-Water Mixtures. Presented at the AIChE Fundamentals of Fluid Mechanics Symposium, Detroit, Mich., 1966.
- 168. Moody, F. J.: Maximum Flow Rate of a Single Component, Two-Phase Mixture.J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, no. 1, Feb. 1965, pp. 134-142.

- 169. Potter, J. A.; and Brill, F. Z.: Zero-Gravity Performance of a Supercritical Oxygen Storage and Supply System for Spacecraft Life Support. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 9. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1964, pp. 284-291.
- Mann, D. B.: The Thermodynamic Properties of Helium from 3 to 300 Degrees K Between 0.5 and 100 Atmospheres. Tech. Note 154, National Bureau of Standards, Jan. 1962.
- 171. Roder, H. M.; Weber, L. A.; and Goodwin, R. D.: Thermodynamic and Related Properties of Para-hydrogen from the Triple Point to 100^o K at Pressures to 340 Atmospheres. Monograph 94, National Bureau of Standards (NASA CR-64443), Aug. 10, 1965.
- 172. Woolley, Harold W.; Scott, Russell B.; and Brickwedde, F. G.: Compilation of Thermal Properties of Hydrogen in its Various Isotopic and Ortho-Para Modifications. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, vol. 41, no. 5, Nov. 1948, pp. 379-475.
- 173. Pew, K. A.; Hendricks, R. C.; and Simoneau, R. J.: NTWO A Nitrogen Property Program. Presented at NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Boulder, Colorado, June 17-19, 1970.
- 174. Weber, Lloyd A.: Thermodynamic and Related Properties of Oxygen from the Triple Point to 300 K at Pressures to 330 Atmospheres. Rep. 9710, National Bureau of Standards (NASA CR-99159), June 1968.
- 175. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres on Isochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, Jan.-Feb. 1969, pp. 25-36.
- 176. Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212.
- 177. Lyman, R. S.: Propane Thermodynamic Property Equations. Paper 68-WA/PID-7, ASME, Dec. 1968.
- 178. Maxwell, J. B.: Data Book on Hydrocarbons. D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., 1950.
- 179. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966).
- 180. Schmidt, Ernst, ed.: Properties of Water and Steam in SI Units. Springer Verlag New York, Inc., 1969.

- 181. Anon.: 1967 ASME Steam Tables, Thermodynamic and Transport Properties of Steam. ASME, 1967.
- 182. Keyes, F. G.; Keenan, J. H.; Hill, P. G.; and Moore, J. G.: A Fundamental Equation for Liquid and Vapor Water. Presented at the Seventh International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968.
- 183. Martin, J. J.: Correlations and Equations Used in Calculating the Thermodynamic Properties of Freon Refrigerants. Thermodynamic Transport Properties of Gases, Liquids, and Solids. ASME and McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1959, pp. 110-122.
- 184. Van Wie, Nelson A.; and Ebel, Robert A.: Machine Computation of the Thermodynamic Properties of Dichlorotetrafluoroethane. Progress in International Research on Thermodynamic and Transport Properties. Joseph F. Masi and Donald H. Tsai, eds., ASME and Academic Press, 1962, pp. 246-253.
- 185. Jacolin, Odile: Proprietes Physiques et Chimiques de L'ammoniac. Compilation Bibliographique. Rep. CEA-Bib-57, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, Saclay, France, Dec. 1965.
- 186. Doughty, D. L.; and Drake, R. M., Jr.: Free-Convection Heat Transfer From a Horizontal Right Circular Cylinder to Freon 12 Near the Critical State. Trans. ASME, vol. 78, no. 8, Nov. 1956, pp. 1843-1850.
- 187. Bonilla, C. F.; and Sigel, L. A.: High Intensity Natural Convection Heat Transfer Near the Critical Point. Chem. Eng. Prog. Symp. Ser., vol. 57, no. 32, 1961, pp. 87-95.
- 188. Skirpov, V. P.; and Potashev, P. I.: Heat Exchange With Carbon Dioxide Along Supercritical Isotherms Under Free-Convection Conditions. NASA TT F-11333, 1967.
- 189. Brodowicz, K.; and Bialokoz, J.: Free Convection Heat Transfer From a Vertical Plate to Freon-12 Near the Critical State. Archiwum Budowy Maszyn, vol. 10, no. 4, 1963, pp. 289-303.
- 190. Fritsch, C. A.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convective Heat Transfer to a Supercritical Fluid. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, pp. 1010-1016.
- 191. Fritsch, C. A.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convective Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water Experimental Measurements. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 85, no. 4, Nov. 1963, pp. 289-294.
- 192. Larson, J. R.; and Schoenhals, R. J.: Turbulent Free Convection in Near-Critical Water. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 88, no. 4, Nov. 1966, pp. 407-414.

- 193. Daniels, T. C.; and Bramall, J. W.: An Experimental Investigation of the Heating Mechanism of Carbon Dioxide Above and Below the Critical Point. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng., vol. 180, pt. 3c, pp. 247-259.
- 194. Van Putte, D. A.; and Grosh, R. J.: Heat Transfer to Water in the Near-Critical Region. Tech. Rep. No. 4, Purdue Univ., 1960.
- 195. Hahne, Erich W. P.: Wärmetransport durch natürliche Konvektion in Medien nahe ihrem kritischen Zustand. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 8, no. 3, Mar. 1965, pp. 481-497.
- 196. Chalfant, A. I.: Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Presented at the Reactor Heat Transfer Conference of 1956, New York, Nov. 1-2, 1956.
- 197. Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference of 1956. USAEC Rep. TID-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.
- 198. Goldmann, Kurt: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water at 5000 psi Flowing at High Mass Flow Rates Through Round Tubes. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, pp. 561-568.
- 199. Morra, Sabino G.; and Barger, J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. Rep. 1, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., June 1958. (Available from DDC as AD-203441.)
- 200. DelBene, J. V.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Freon 12. Tech. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1959.
- 201. Krasnoshchekov, E. A.; Protopopov, V. S.; Feng, Wang; and Kuraeva, I. V.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer for Carbon Dioxide in the Supercritical Region. Proceedings of the Second All-Soviet Union Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., California Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 26-35.
- 202. Holman, J. P.; Rea, S. N.; and Howard, C. E.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Freon 12 Near the Critical State in a Vertical Annulus. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 8, no. 8, Aug. 1965, pp. 1095-1102.
- 203. Hendricks, R. C.; Simoneau, R. J.; and Friedman, R.: Heat-Transfer Characteristics on Cryogenic Hydrogen from 1000 to 2500 psia Flowing Upward in Uniformly Heated Straight Tubes. NASA TN D-2977, 1965.
- 204. Bishop, A. A.; Krambeck, F. J.; and Sandberg, R. O.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Superheated Steam at High Pressure and High Prandtl Numbers. Paper 65-WA/HT-35, ASME, Nov. 1965.

- 205. Armand, A. A.; Tarasova, N. V.; and Konkov, A. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer From Wall to Steam Near the Critical Region. NASA TT F-11282, 1967.
- 206. Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 83-86, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)
- 207. Glickstein, M. R.; and Whitesides, R. H., Jr.: Forced-Convection Nucleate and Film Boiling of Several Aliphatic Hydrocarbons. Paper 67-HT-7, ASME, Aug. 1967.
- 208. Beech, J. C.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Kerosine. Rep. ERDE-14/R/66;
 WAC/173/015, Explosives Research and Development Center, England, Feb. 27, 1967.
- 209. Von Berg, R. L.; Williamson, K. D., Jr.; and Edeskuty, F. J.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Nitrogen in the Vicinity of the Critical Point. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering, vol. 15, 1970, p. 238-247.
- 210. Hay, R. D.: Experimental Data From a Closed Loop Supercritical Helium Heat Transfer System Between 4.2^o and 8^o K. Presented at NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969.
- 211. Povarnin, P. I.; and Malkina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1969, pp. 228-230.
- 212. Touba, R. F.; and McFadden, P. W.: Combined Turbulent Convection Heat Transfer to Near Critical Water. Tech. Rep. 18, Purdue Research Foundation, Jan. 1966. (Work done under Contract No. AT(11-1)-1177.)
- 213. Deissler, Robert G.; and Presler, Alden F.: Computed Reference Temperatures for Turbulent Variable-Property Heat Transfer in a Tube for Several Common Gases. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, pp. 579-584.
- 214. Petukhov, B. S.; and Popov, V. N.: Theoretical Calculation of Heat Exchange and Frictional Resistance in Turbulent Flow in Tubes of an Incompressible Fluid With Variable Physical Properties. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 1, July-Aug. 1963, pp. 69-83.

- 215. Popov, V. N.: Theoretical Calculation of Heat Transfer and Friction Resistance for Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Proceedings of the Second All-Soviet Union Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Hartnet, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., California Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 46-56.
- 216. Reichart, H.: The Principles of Turbulent Heat Transfer. Recent Advances in Heat and Mass Transfer. J. P. Hartnett, ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1961, pp. 223-252.
- 217. Melik-Pashaev, N. I.: Calculation of Convective Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressure. High Temp., vol. 4, no. 6, Nov.-Dec. 1966, pp. 789-798.

BIBLIOGRAPHY^a

Near-critical fluid properties: Internet/Near Stress Anon: 1967 ASME Steam Tables, Thermodynamic and Transport Properties of Steam. ASME, 1967. 181 Bagatskij, M. I.; Veronel, A. V.; and Guask, V. G.: Measurement of the Specific Heat C _v of Argon in the Immediate Vicinity of the T 4 Critical Point. Soviet PhysJETP, vol. 15, no. 2, Feb. 1963, pp. 517-518. 12 6 Benedict, Manson; Webb, George B.; and Rubin, Louis C.: An Empirical Equation for Thermodynamic Properties of Light Hydro-carbons and Their Matures. I. Methane, Ethane, Propane and n-Butune. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 4, no. 4, Apr. 1940, pp. 334-345. 12 Dirder, Dwain E.: Measurements of the Viscosity of Parahydrogen. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 42, no. 6, Mar. 15, 1965, pp. 2089-2100. 31 Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. 76 Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference. University of California, Los Angeles, Calif. June 16-18, 1969. 106 Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Raderd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen From 15 to 100% Att 1968. 10 Goldwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperture Relations of Fluid 10 Parahydrogen From 15 to 100% Att 1963. 10 6 Godwin, Robert D.: Durenodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures an
 Anon.: 1967 ABMS Steam Tables, Thermodynamic and Transport Properties of Steam. ASME, 1967. Bagatski, M. I.; Voronel', A. V.; and Gusak, V. G.: Measurement of the Specific Heat C_Q of Argon in the Immediate Vicinity of the Tritical Point. Sovied Phys. JETP, vol. 16, no. 2, Feb. 1963, pp. 517-513. Benedict, Manson, Webb, George B.; and Rubin, Louis C.: An Empirical Equation for Thermodynamic Properties of Light Hydrocarbox and Their Mattrees. I. Methane, Ethane, Progname and n-Butane. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 8, no. 4, Apr. 1940, pp. 334-345. Brokaw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. Presented at the International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968. Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. 26 Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity of Californi, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969. Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen from 15 to 100⁷ K at Pressures to 250 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 64, no. 1, 106, pp. 76-82. Goodwin, Rokert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100⁷ K at Pressures to 50 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, Jan., -Feb. 1969, pp. 25-36. Goodwin, Rokert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd and Teg. Nat. Bures us disdards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, Mar., Apr. 1967, pp. 1352. Goodwin, Rokert D.; Catical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 74, no. 6, NovDec. 1989, pp. 585-591. Goodwin, Rokert D.; Estimation of Critical Constants T_q, p. Grom the p(T) and
 Bagatskii, M. 1; Voronel', A. V.; and Gusak, V. G.: Measurement of the Specific Heat C_v of Argon in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. Sorted PhysJETP, vol. 16, no. 2, Prob. 1983, pp. 517-518. Benedict, Masson, Webb, Gorge B.; and Rubin, Louis C.: An Empirical Equation for Thermodynamic Properties of Light Hydrocarbons and Their Mixtures. I. Methane, Ethane, Propane and n-Butane. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 48, no. 4, Apr. 1940, pp. 334-345. Brokaw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. Presented at the International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968. Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969. Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968. Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolov, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal 28 Goodwin, Rokert D.; Diller, Devain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100⁶ X at Pressures to 50 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Burs. and Chem., vol. 78, no. 1, JamFeb. 1969, pp. 253-56. Goodwin, Rokert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Rokert D.: Formulation of A nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Rokert D.: Termohysteal Prepreties of Mutate Viscaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys., vol. 69, pp. 257-56. Go
Critical Point. Soviet PhysJETP, vol. 16, no. 2, Feb. 1963, pp. 517-518. 12 Benedict, Manson; Webb, George B.; and Rubin, Louis C.: An Empirical Equation for Thermodynamic Properties of Light Hydro- carbons and Their Mixtures. I. Methane, Ethane, Propane and n-Butane. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 8, no. 4, Apr. 1840, pp. 344-345. 12 Brokaw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. J Presented at the International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968. 31 10 Diller, D. E.; and Roder, M. : Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fhild Hydropen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969. 31 10 Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Para- hydrogen. NASA TN D-4441, 1968. 28 10 Goldwey, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal Eng., vol. 11, no. 5, 1964, pp. 78-32. 20 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100° K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36. 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Drumulation of Critical Density. J. Res., Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36. 10 Goodw
Benedict, Manson; Webb, George B.; and Rubin, Louis C.: An Empirical Equation for Thermodynamic Properties of Light Hydro- carbons and Their Mitures. I. Methane, Sthane, Propane and n-Butane. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 8, no. 4, Apr. 1940, pp. 334-345. 12 6 Brokaw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. Presented at the International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968. 31 10 Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at If to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogent Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969. 10 Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Para- hydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968. 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressures to 305 Atmospheres 11 Socotive, I. P.; and Sokhowa, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100 ⁶ K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 61, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192. 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres 175 7 Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonaalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591. (b) Goodwin
carbons and Their Mixtures. I. Methane, Ethane, Propane and n-Butane. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 8, no. 4, Apr. 1940, pp. 334-345.Brokaw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. Presented at the International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968.31Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference. University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969.31Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angelad M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Para- hydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968.178Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Baker, D. (19.64, pp. 78-82).101010Goldwin, Robert D.; Diller, Devain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100 ⁰ K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem vol. 67, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192.10Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Dressures to 350 Atmospheres175T71310Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_{e} , ρ_{e} from the $\rho(T)$ and $T(\rho)$ Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 21-227.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Meiting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. J. envelogi, June 1970.(c)Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State f
Brokkw, Richard S.: Statistical Mechanical Theories of Transport Properties. Presented at the International Conference on the 35 11 Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sey, 19-13, 1968. 11 10 Diller, D. E.; and Roder, M. S.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. 26 Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference. University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969. 10 Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen rom 15 to 100 K at Pressures to 320 Atmospheres of Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen From 15 to 100 K at Pressures to 330 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem vol. 73, no. 1, Jan Feb. 1969, pp. 25-36. 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, Jan Feb. 1969, pp. 25-36. 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T _e , p. Grom the (/T) and T(p) Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. (b) Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74, no. 0, Nov Dec. 1969, pp. 585-501. (b) Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T _e , p. Grom the (/T) and T(p) Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. (b) Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Congress, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the C
Diler, Dwain, E.; Measurements of the Viscosity of Parahydrogen. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 42, no. 6, Mar. 15, 1965, pp. 2089–2100. Diler, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.; Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm. Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16–18, 1969. Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.; Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Para- hydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968. Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.; The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal Eng., vol. 11, no. 9, 1964, pp. 78–82. Goodwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid Parahydrogen From 15 to 100 ⁰ K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 67, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192. Goodwin, Robert D.; Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres 175 7 18ochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25–36. Goodwin, Robert D.; Temulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1968, pp. 585-591. Goodwin, Robert D.; Thermolytosical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.; Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, Ne - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.; Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b) Bureau of Standards, Ne. Pelsescreey
Diller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm.DoDiller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm.DoDiller, D. E.; and Roder, H. M.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements on Fluid Hydrogen at 17 to 200 K and Pressures to 100 Atm.Diller, District Contension of Contension, Co
Presented at the NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, University of California, Los Angeles, Calif., June 16-18, 1969. Image: Colidberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Para-hydrogen, NASA TN D-4341, 1968. Image: Colidberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Para-hydrogen, NASA TN D-4341, 1968. Image: Colidberg, Fredric N.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal Eng., vol. 11, no. 9, 1964, pp. 78-82. Image: Colidberg, Fredric N.; and Fressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 67, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192. Image: Colidberg, Fredric N.; and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb, 1969, pp. 25-36. Image: Colidberg, Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec.
Goldberg, Fredric N.; and Haferd, Angela M.: Numerical Procedures for Calculating Real Fluid Properties of Normal and Parahydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968.178Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal2810Eng., vol. 11, no. 9, 1964, pp. 78-82.2810Goodwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid106Parahydrogen From 15 to 100° K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem vol. 67, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192.1757Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres I sochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36.1757Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_{e}, ρ_{c} from the $\rho(T)$ and $T(\rho)$ Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, June 1970.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures, J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, June 1970.(b)Green, M. S.; Viccentin-Missioni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117.8Greegorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermod
hydrogen. NASA TN D-4341, 1968. 28 Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal 28 Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal 28 Godwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid 10 Parahydrogen From 15 to 100° K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36. 175 Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres 175 Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres 175 JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591. (b) Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynsical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Meiting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b) Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Meiting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b) Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State
Golubev, I. F.; and Sokolova, V. P.: The Thermal Conductivity of Ammonia at Various Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal2810Eng., vol. 11, no. 9, 1964, pp. 78-82.Coodwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid10Parahydrogen From 15 to 100° K at Pressures to 350 Atmospheres. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem10vol. 67, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192.7Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres1757Isochores at I. 3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36.10Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 6, NovDec. 1989, pp. 585-591.10Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227.10Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, A - Phys. and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117.10Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 113-117.17Greegorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Cr
Eng., Vol. 11, no. 9, 1994, pp. 16-62. 6 Goodwin, Robert D.; Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Diller, Dwain E.; Roder, Hans M.; and Weber, Lloyd A.: Pressure-Density-Temperature Relations of Fluid 10 Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres 175 7 Isochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, Jan., -Feb. 1969, pp. 25-36. 175 7 Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591. (b) Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T _c , ρ _c from the ρ(T) and T(ρ) Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. (b) Bureau of Standards, June 1970. (b) Bureau of Standards, June 1970. (c) Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). 6 7 Greenon, No. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point. Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1966.
School M., Holder D.:Default P. Marker, Hans M., and Weber, Hold M., Telessifie Temperature Relations of FindTo 0 <t< td=""></t<>
vol. 67, no. 2, MarApr. 1963, pp. 173-192. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres Isochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36. Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591. Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_c , ρ_c from the $\rho(T)$ and $T(\rho)$ Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, June 1970. Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levell Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politeenico di Torino, Nov. 1966). Grevendonk, W.: Herreman, W.: DePesseroy, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., 18 avol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guidhner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Garbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and
Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermodynamic Properties of Fluid Oxygen at Temperatures to 250 K and Pressures to 350 Atmospheres1757Isochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36.106106Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591.106Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_c , ρ_c from the $\rho(T)$ and $T(\rho)$ Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat.106Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227.106106Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat.106Bureau of Standards, June 1970.107107107107Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117.107107Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35. Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966).1767Grewendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212.1767Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197.18
Isochores at 1.3 to 3.0 Times Critical Density. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Ser. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 1, JanFeb. 1969, pp. 25-36Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_c , ρ_c from the $\rho(T)$ and $T(\rho)$ Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards, June 1970.(b)Green, M. S.; Viccutini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117.20Greevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212.176Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197.18Guidner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348.19Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Layud Hydrogen. Vol. 50 fPure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, S3
 Jan Feb. 1969, pp. 25-36. Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, Nov Dec. 1969, pp. 585-591. Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_c: ρ_c from the ρ(T) and T(p) Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. (b) Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, Mar Apr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b) Bureau of Standards, June 1970. Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). Grevendonk, W.: Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Terromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., 18 vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
Goodwin, Robert D.: Formulation of a Nonanalytic Equation of State for Parahydrogen. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A -(b)Phys. and Chem., vol. 73A, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 585-591.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T _c , ρ _c from the ρ(T) and T(ρ) Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat.(b)Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227.(b)Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat.(b)Bureau of Standards, June 1970.(b)(c)(c)Green, M. S.; Vicchtini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical208Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117.(c)208Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966).1767Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212.1767Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968.188Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res.2510Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. </td
 Iniye, and Chelli, vol. 15A, no. 6, Nov Dec. 1959, pp. 583-591. Goodwin, Robert D.: Estimation of Critical Constants T_c, ρ_c from the ρ(T) and T(ρ) Relations at Coexistence. J. Res. Nat. Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, Mar Apr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b)Bureau of Standards, June 1970. Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical 20 Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guidher, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. 25 Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 Bureau of Standards. A - Phys. and Chem., vol. 74A, no. 2, MarApr. 1970, pp. 221-227. Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b)Bureau of Standards, June 1970. Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical 20 Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, 179 ro. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., 18 vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. 25 Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 Goodwin, Robert D.: Thermophysical Properties of Methane: Virial Coefficients; Vapor and Melting Pressures. J. Res. Nat. (b)Bureau of Standards, June 1970. Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical 20 8 Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, 179 7 no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
Bureau of Standards, June 1970. 20 Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. 20 Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). 179 Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. 176 Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. 18 Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. 19 Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. 25 Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 3 pp. 11-64. Vol. 40 Vol. 40 4
Green, M. S.; Vicentini-Missoni, M.; and Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Scaling-Law Equation of State for Gases in the Critical 20 8 Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. 7 7 Greegorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, 179 7 no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). 176 7 Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, 176 7 vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. 8 8 8 Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., 18 8 vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. 19 8 9 9 Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, 19 8 June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. 10 10 8 10 11 Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. 25 10 Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4. July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. 3 3
Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 18, no. 25, June 19, 1967, pp. 1113-1117. Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, 179 no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). 176 Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, 176 vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. 176 Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., 18 griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, 19 June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. 10 Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. 25 Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4. July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. 3 Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 3 p. 11-64. 11-64. 11-64.
 Gregorio, Paolo; and Merlini, Cesare: Thermodynamic Properties of Water in the Critical Region. Ricerche di Termotecnica, 179 7 no. 19, 1969, pp. 41-54 (see also PT IN 35, Politecnico di Torino, Nov. 1966). Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., 18 vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, 19 June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 Grevendonk, W.; Herreman, W.; DePesseroey, W.; and DeBock, A.: On the Shear Viscosity of Liquid Oxygen. Physica, vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 vol. 40, no. 2, Dec. 13, 1968, pp. 207-212. Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 Griffiths, Robert B.: Ferromagnets and Simple Fluids Near the Critical Point: Some Thermodynamic Inequalities. J. Chem. Phys., vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 vol. 43, no. 6, Sept. 15, 1965, pp. 1958-1968. Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 Griffiths, Robert B.: Thermodynamic Functions for Fluids and Ferromagnets Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 158, no. 1, June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. 25 10 Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
 June 5, 1967, pp. 176-197. Guildner, Leslie A.: Thermal Conductivity of Gases. II. Thermal Conductivity of Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4. July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A, Phys. and Chem., vol. 66, no. 4, July-Aug. 1962, pp. 341-348. Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 pp. 11-64.
Hammel, E. F.: Critical Phenomena in Fluids. Liquid Hydrogen. Vol. 5 of Pure and Applied Cryogenics. Pergamon Press, 1966, 3 3 pp. 11-64.
pp. 11-64.
Hanley, H. J. M.; and Childs, G. E.: Interim Values for the Viscosity and Thermal Conductivity Coefficients of Fluid He [*] Between 32 10
2 and 50 K. Cryogenics, vol. 9, no. 2, Apr. 1969, pp. 106-111.
Harry, David P., Hi: Formulation and Digital Coding of Approximate Hydrogen Properties for Application to Heat-Transfer and 16 8 Fibility Elew Computations, NASA TN D. 1664 (1662)
Finder Towe Computations. NASA IN D-1004, 1900.
Inc., 1954.
Jacolin, Odile: Proprietes Physiques et Chimiques de L'ammoniac. Compilation Bibliographique. Rep. CEA-Bib-57, Commissariat 185 7
à l'Energie Atomique, Saclay, France, Dec. 1965.
Johnson, Victor J., ed.: A Compendium of the Properties of Materials at Low Temperature, Phase I. National Bureau of Standards, 36 12
Dec. 1999.
Dec. 1956. bb. 1348-1350
Kestin, J.; Whitelaw, J. H.; and Zien, T. F.: The Viscosity of Carbon Dioxide in the Neighbourhood of the Critical Point. Physica. 30 10
vol. 30, no. 1, Jan. 1964, pp. 161-181.
Keyes, F. G.; Keenan, J. H.; Hill, P. G.; and Moore, J. G.: A Fundamental Equation for Liquid and Vapor Water. Presented at the 182 7
Seventh International Conference on the Properties of Steam, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 9-13, 1968.
KWOK, Y. C.; and Starling, K. E.: New Equation of State for Methane and Propane from Study of Isochoric and Multiproperty Analysis. (b)
ambie 1911 - 1912 - 191
reference list.

^bInformation pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.

	Refer- ence	Page
Near-critical fluid properties (cont.):		
Levell Sengers, J. M. H.; and Vicentini-Missoni, M.: Thermodynamic Anomalies Near the Gas-Liquid Critical Point. Proceedings of the Fourth Symposium on Thermophysical Properties. ASME, 1968, pp. 79-86.	21	8
Lyman, R. S.: Propane Thermodynamic Property Equations. Paper 68-WA/PID-7, ASME, Dec. 1968.	177	7
Maass, O.: Changes in the Liquid State in the Critical Temperature Region. Chem. Rev., vol. 23, no. 1, Aug. 1938, pp. 17-28.	8	5
Mann, D. B.: The Thermodynamic Properties of Helium from 3 to 300 Degrees K Between 0.5 and 100 Atmospheres. Tech. Note 154.	170	7
National Bureau of Standards, Jan. 1962. Martin, J. J.: Correlations and Equations Used in Calculating the Thermodynamic Properties of Freon Refrigerants. Thermodynamic Transport Properties of Gases, Liquids, and Solids. ASME and McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1959, pp. 110-122.	183	7
Maxwell, J. B.: Data Book on Hydrocarbons. D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., 1950. Michels, A.; Blaisse, B.; and Michels, C.: The Isotherms of CO ₂ in the Neighbourhood of the Critical Point and Round the Coexistence	178 9	7 6
Line. Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), Ser. A, vol. 160, no. 902, June 1, 1937, pp. 358-375.		
Obert, Edward F.: Concepts of Thermodynamics. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1960.	11	6
Pew, K. A.; Hendricks, R. C.; and Simoneau, R. J.: NTWO - A Nitrogen Property Program. Presented at NAS/NRC Cryogenic	173	7
Engineering Conference, Boulder, Colorado, June 17-19, 1970.		_
Roder, H. M.; weber, L. A.; and Goodwin, R. D.: Inermodynamic and Related Properties of Para-hydrogen from the Triple Point to 100° K at Pressures to 340 Atmospheres. Monograph 94, National Bureau of Standards (NASA CR-64443), Aug. 10, 1965.	171	1
Bureau of Standards, Dec. 1961.	14	c
Rowlinson, John S.: Liquids and Liquid Mixtures. Butterworths Scientific Publ., 1959.	2	3
Schmidt, Ernst, ed.: Properties of Water and Steam in SI Units. Springer Verlag, New York, Inc., 1969.	180	7
Sengers, Jan V.; and Levelt Sengers, Anneke: The Critical Region. Chem. Eng. News, vol. 46, no. 25, June 10, 1968, pp. 104-118.	5	3
Sengers, Jan V.: Thermal Conductivity Measurements at Elevated Gas Densities Including the Critical Region. Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. of Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1962.	24	10
Sengers, J. V.: Transport Properties of Compressed Gases. Recent Advances in Engineering Science. Vol. 3. A. C. Eringen, ed., Gordon and Breach Science Publ., 1969, pp. 153-196.	34	10
Sokolova, V. P.; and Golubev, I. F.: Thermal Conductivity of Methane at Different Temperatures and Pressures. Thermal Eng., vol. 14, no. 4, 1967, pp. 123-126.	27	10
Stiel, Leonard I.; and Thodos, George: The Prediction of the Transport Properties of Pure Gaseous and Liquid Substances. Progress in International Research on Thermodynamic and Transport Properties. ASME, 1962, pp. 352-365.	33	10
Strobridge, Thomas R.: The Thermodynamic Properties of Nitrogen from 64 to 300° K Between 0.1 and 200 Atmospheres. Tech. Note 129, National Bureau of Standards, Jan. 1962.	13	6
Van Wie, Nelson A.; and Ebel, Robert A.: Machine Computation of the Thermodynamic Properties of Dichlorotetrafluoroethane. Progress in International Research on Thermodynamic and Transport Properties. Joseph F. Masi and Donald H. Tsai, eds., ASME and Academic Press, 1962, pp. 246-253.	184	7
Vennix, Alan J.: Low Temperature Volumetric Properties and the Development of an Equation of State for Methane. Ph.D. Thesis, Rice University, 1966.	15	8
Vicentini-Misson, M.; Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.; and Green, M. S.: Thermodynamic Anomalies of CO ₂ , Xe. and He ⁴ in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev. Letters, vol. 22, no. 9, Mar. 3, 1969, pp. 389-393.	22	8
Vicentini-Missoni, M.; Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.; and Green, M. S.: Scaling Analysis of Thermodynamic Properties in the Critical Region of Fluids, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Sec. A., Phys. and Chem., vol. 73, no. 6, NovDec. 1969, pp. 563-583.	23	8
Weber, Lloyd A.: Thermodynamic and Related Properties of Oxygen from the Triple Point to 300 K at Pressures to 330 Atmospheres. Rep. 9710. National Bureau of Standards (NASA CR-99159). June 1968.	174	7
Widom, B.: Intermolecular Forces and the Nature of the Liquid State. Science, vol. 157, no. 3787, July 28, 1967, pp. 375-382.	4	3
Woolley, Harold W.; Scott, Russell B.; and Brickwedde, F. G.: Compilation of Thermal Properties of Hydrogen in its Various	172	7
Ziebland, H.; and Burton, J. T. A.: The Thermal Conductivity of Nitrogen and Argon in the Liquid and Gaseous States. Brit. J. Appl.	29	10
Phys., vol. 9, no. 2, Feb. 1958, pp. 52-59. Zinman, Walter G.: Oscillations Near the Critical Point, Paper D-7, NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Boulder, Colo.,	(b)	
June 17-19, 1970. Zwickler, R. • Die Uterscheidung eines flüssigen und gasförmigen Zustands oberhalb des kritischen Punktes - Energie vol. 20	37	13
no. 7/8, July/Aug. 1968, pp. 223-227.	51	15
Pseudocritical properties:		
Griffith, J. D.; and Sabersky, R. H.: Convection in a Fluid at Supercritical Pressures. ARS J., vol. 30, no. 3, Mar. 1960, pp. 288-291.	81	22
Hendricks, Robert C.; Graham, Robert W.; Hsu, Yih Y.; and Friedman, Robert: Experimental Heat-Transfer Results for Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing in Tubes at Subcritical and Supercritical Pressures to 800 Pounds Per Square Inch Absolute. NASA TN D-3095,	41	14
1966. Hendricke B. C. & Orzham, B. W. e Han, V. H. and Madrinan, A. J. C. and Ministry of Madrinan Mark Transfer in D. W. et al. C.		1 14
critical Pressure States. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 2, Feb. 1962, pp. 244-252.	42	14
Jones, G. O.; and Walker, P. A.: Specific Heats of Fluid Argon Near the Critical Point. Proc. Phys. Soc., Sec. B, vol. 69, pt. 12, Dec. 1956, pp. 1348-1350.	38	13

 $^{b}\ensuremath{\text{Information}}$ pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.

	Refer- ence	Page
Pseudocritical properties (cont.): Kafengauz, N. L.: On Physical Nature of Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressure with Pseudo-boiling. Heat Transfer-Soviet Res., vol. 1, no. 1, Jan 1969, pp. 88-93	153	60
Knapp, Karl K.; and Sabersky, Rolf H.: Free Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 1966, pp. 41-51.	82	22
Nishikawa, Kaneyawu; and Miyabe, Kiyoji: On the Boiling-Like Phenomena at Supercritical Pressures. Mem. Fac. Eng. Kyushu Univ., vol. 25, no. 1, Dec. 1965, pp. 1-25.	83	22
Thurston, R. S.; Rogers, J. D.; and Skoglund, V. J.: Pressure Oscillations Induced by Forced Convection Heating of Dense Hydrogen. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 12, K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1967, pp. 438-451.	40	14
Zuber, Novak: An Analysis of Thermally Induced Flow Oscillations in the Near-Critical and Super-Critical Thermodynamic Region. General Electric Co. (NASA CR-80609), May 25, 1966.	39	14
Zwickler, R.: Die Uterscheidung eines flüssigen und gasförmigen Zustands oberhalb des kritischen Punktes. Energie, vol. 20, no. 7/8, July/Aug. 1968, pp. 223-227.	37	13
Heat-transfer regions I and Ia: McCarthy, J. R.; and Wolf, H.; The Heat Transfer Characteristics of Gaseous Hydrogen and Helium. Rep. RR 60-12. Rocketdyne	43	16
Div., North American Aviation, Inc. (AEC Rep. NP-10572), Dec. 1960. McCarthy, J. R.; and Wolf, H.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Gaseous Hydrogen at High Heat Flux and High Pressure in a	44	16
Smooth, Round, Electrically Heated Tube. ARS J., vol. 30, no. 4, Apr. 1960, pp. 423-425. Taylor, Maynard F.: Correlation of Local Heat-Transfer Coefficients for Single-Phase Turbulent Flow of Hydrogen in Tubes with	45	16
Temperature Ratios up to 23. NASA TN D-4332, 1968. Taylor, Maynard F.: A Method of Correlating Local and Average Friction Coefficients for Both Laminar and Turbulent Flow of Gases	46	16
Through a Smooth Tube with Surface to Fluid Bulk Temperature Ratios from 0.35 to 7.35. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 8, Aug. 1967, pp. 1123-1128.		
Heat-transfer region II:		
McAdams, William H.: Heat Transmission. Third ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1954.	48	17
Températures entre Fluide et Paroi (Canal Cylindrique). Rep. CEA-R-2499, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, Grenoble, France, Oct. 1964.		10
Heat-transfer region III:		
Giarratano, P. J.; and Smith, R. V.: Comparative Study of Forced Convection Boiling Heat Transfer Correlations for Cryogenic Fluids. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 11. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1966, pp. 492-506.	50	17
Hendricks, Robert C.; Graham, Robert W.; Hsu, Yih Y.; and Friedman, Robert: Experimental Heat-Transfer Results for Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing in Tubes at Subcritical and Supercritical Pressures to 800 Pounds Per Square Inch Absolute. NASA TN D-3095, 1966.	41	14
Hendricks, R. C.; Graham, R. W.; Hsu, Y. Y.; and Friedman, R.: Experimental Heat Transfer and Pressure Drop of Liquid Hydrogen Flowing Through a Heated Tube. NASA TN D-765, 1961.	51	17
Hsu, Yih-Yun; Cowgill, Glenn R.; and Hendricks, Robert C.: Mist-Flow Heat Transfer Using Single-Phase Variable-Property Approach. NASA TN D-4149, 1967.	49	17
Perroud, Paul; and Rebière, Jean: Convection Forcee de L'Hydrogene Liquide. 2 Ème Partie: Cas de Grands écarts de Températures entre Fluide et Paroi (Canal Cylindrique). Rep. CEA-R-2499, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, Grenoble, France, Oct. 1964.	47	17
Perroud, Paul; and Rebière, Jean: Convection Forcee De L'Hydrogene Liquide. 2 Ème (Suite): Cas de Grands écarts de Températures entre Fluide et Paroi (Canal Rectangulaire). Note ASP no. 64/06, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, May 1964.	53	18
Tong, L. S.: Boiling Heat Transfer and Two-Phase Flow. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1965.	52	17
Heat-transfer region IV - Peculiarities: Cumo, Maurizio; Farello, Giovanni E.; and Ferrari, Guiseppe: Bubble Flow up to the Critical Pressure. Paper 69-HT-30, ASME, Aug. 1969.	84	22
Dean, L. E.; and Thompson, L. M.: Study of Heat Transfer to Liquid Nitrogen. Paper 56-SA-4, ASME, June 1956.	79	22
Dickinson, N. L.; and Welch, C. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water. Trans. ASME, vol. 80, no. 3, Apr. 1958, pp. 746-752. Domin, G.: Waermeuebergang in Kritischen and Überkritischen Bereichen von Wasser in Rohren. Brennstoff-Wärme-Kraft, vol. 15,	64 58	20 20
no. 11, Nov. 1963, pp. 527-532. Goldmann, Kurt: Special Heat Transfer Phenomena for Supercritical Fluids. Rep. NDA-2-31, Nuclear Development Corp. of	78	22
America, 1956. Griffith, J. D.; and Sabersky, R. H.: Convection in a Fluid at Supercritical Pressures. ARS J., vol. 30, no. 3, Mar. 1960, pp. 289-291	81	22
Graham, Robert W.; Hendricks, Robert C.; and Ehlers, Robert C.: Analytical and Experimental Study of Pool Heating of Liquid Hydrogen Over a Range of Accelerations, NASA TN D-1883, 1964.	62	20
Hauptmann, Edward G.: An Experimental Investigation of Forced Convective Heat Transfer to a Fluid in the Region of Its Critical Point. Ph.D. Thesis, California Institute of Technology, 1966.	70	20
Hendricks, R. C.; Graham, R. W.; Hsu, Y. Y.; and Medeiros, A. A.: Correlation of Hydrogen Heat Transfer in Boiling And Supercritical Pressure States. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 2, Feb. 1962, pp. 244-252.	42	20
Hines, W. S.; and Wolf, H.: Pressure Oscillations Associated with Heat Transfer Hydrocarbon Fluids at Supercritical Pressures and Temperatures. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 3, Mar. 1962, pp. 361-366.	76	22
	Refer- ence	Page
--	----------------	------
Heat_transfer region IV - Deculiarities (cont.)		
Hole-mainter region iv - recommented (contr). Holt, V. E.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convection Heat Transfer Up to Near-Critical Conditions. Nucleonics, vol. 21, no. 8, Aug. 1963, pp. 122-125.	63	20
Hsu, Y. Y.; Hendricks, R. C.; and Graham, R. W.: Discussion of Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water at 5000 psi Flowing at High Mass Flow Rates Through Round Tubes. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, pp. D-185 to D-186.	77	22
Hsu, Y. Y.: Discussion of An Investigation of Heat Transfer of Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under Supercritical Conditions. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. D-188 to D-189.	69	20
Kahn, Sardar A.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluids at the Critical Point. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Manchester, England, 1965.	73	22
Knapp, Karl K.; and Sabersky, Rolf H.: Free Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 1966, pp. 41-51.	82	22
Koppel, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 585-590.	59	20
McCarthy, J. R.; Trebes, D. M.; and Seader, J. D.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Nitrogen Tetroxide at High Heat Fluxes and in Axially Curved Flow Passages. Paper 67-HT-59, ASME, Aug. 1967.	75	22
Miller, W. S.; Seader, J. D.; and Trebes, D. M.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Bull. Inst. Intern. Froid, Annexe No. 2, 1965, pp. 173-190.	55	20
Monroe, A. G.; Bristow, H. A. S.; and Newell, J. E.: Heat Transfer to Boiling Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pressures. J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pt. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624.	80	22
Nishikawa, Kaneyawu; and Miyabe, Kiyoji: On the Boiling-Like Phenomena at Supercritical Pressures. Mem. Fac. Eng. Kyushu Univ., vol. 25, no. 1, Dec. 1965, pp. 1-25.	83	22
Petukhov, B. S.; Krasnoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 569-578.	60	20
Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957, pp. 776-783.	54	19
Schmidt, E.; Eckert, E. R. G.; and Grigull, U.: Heat Transfer by Liquids Near the Critical State. Trans. No. F-TS-527-RE, Air Material Command, Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio, Apr. 26, 1946.	6	19
Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boller Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033. 1959. Shiralkar, B. S.; and Griffith, Peter: Deterioration in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressure and High Heat Fluxes. J.	67 74	20
Shiralkar, B. S.; and Griffith, P.: The Effect of Swirl, Inlet Conditions, Flow Direction and Tube Diameter on the Heat Transfer to Effect of Swirl, Inlet Conditions, Flow Direction and Tube Diameter on the Heat Transfer to	128	46
Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963, pp. 237-244	56	20
Styrikovich, M. A.; Shitsman, M. E.; and Miropolskii, Z. L.: Certain Data on the Temperature Region of Vertical Boiler Pipes at Near-Critical Pressures, Teploenergetika, vol. 3, 1956, pp. 32-36.	71	22
Styrikovich, M. A.; Miropolski, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Pressure Region Under Forced Convection. Mitt. Ver. Grosskesselbesitzer, vol. 61, Aug. 1959, pp. 288-294.	72	22
Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.	61	20
Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.	65	20
Thompson, W. R.; and Geery, E. L.: Heat Transfer to Cryogenic Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 7. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1962, pp. 391-400.	68	20
Wood, Rodney D.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region: Experimental Investigation of Radial Temperature and Velocity Profiles. Ph.D. Thesis, Northwestern University, 1963.	66	20
Yamagata, K.; Nishikawa, K.; Hasegawa, S.; and Fujii, T.: Forced Convective Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.	57	20
Heat transfer in free convection systems:		
Bonilla, C. F.; and Sigel, L. A.: High Intensity Natural Convection Heat Transfer Near the Critical Point. Chem. Eng. Prog. Symp. Ser., vol. 57, no. 32, 1961, pp. 87-95.	187	26
Brodowicz, K.; and Bialokoz, J.: Free Convection Heat Transfer From a Vertical Plate to Freon-12 Near the Critical State. Archiwum Budowy Maszyn, vol. 10, no. 4, 1963, pp. 289-303.	189	26
Daniels, T. C.; and Bramall, J. W.: An Experimental Investigation of the Heating Mechanism of Carbon Dioxide Above and Below the Critical Point. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng., vol. 180, pt. 3c, pp. 247-259.	193	26
Doughty, D. L.; and Drake, R. M., Jr.: Free-Convection Heat Transfer From a Horizontal Right Circular Cylinder to Freon 12 Near the Critical State. Trans. ASME, vol. 78, no. 8, Nov. 1956, pp. 1843-1850.	186	26
Dubrovina, E. N.; and Skripov, V. P.: Convective Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Supercritical Region. Proceedings of the Second All-Soviet Union Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., California Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 36-45.	85	25
Fritsch, C. A.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convective Heat Transfer to a Supercritical Fluid. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, pp. 1010-1016.	190	26
Fritsch, C. A.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convective Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water Experimental Measurements. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 85, no. 4, Nov. 1963, pp. 289-294.	191	26

	Refer- ence	Page
Heat transfer in free convection systems (cont.):		
Goldstein, R. J.; and Aung, W.: Heat Transfer by Free Convection from a Horizontal Wire to Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Paper 67-WA/HT-2, ASME, Nov. 1967.	86	27
Graham, Robert W.; Hendricks, Robert C.; and Ehlers, Robert C.: Analytical and Experimental Study of Pool Heating of Liquid	62	26
Green, J. R.; and Hauptmann, E. G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer from a Cylinder in Carbon Dioxide Near the Thermodynamic Critical Point. ASME Paper 70-HT/SPT-36, National Space Technology and Heat Transfer Conference, Los Angeles, Calif.,	(b)	
June 21-24, 1970. Griffith, J. D.; and Sabersky, R. H.: Convection in a Fluid at Supercritical Pressures. ARS J., vol. 30, no. 3, Mar. 1960, pp.	81	22
289-291. Grigull, U.; and Abadzic, E.: Heat Transfer From a Wire in the Critical Region. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Sumpsium on Heat Transfor and Eluid Dynamics of Near Critical Eluida, Brittal, Eryland, Man. 27, 20, 1062	87	27
Hahne, Erich W. P.: Natural Convection Heat Transfer Through an Enclosed Horizontal Layer of Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Wärme-und Stolfübertragung, vol. 1, no. 3, 1968, pp. 190-196.	88	27
Hasegawa, Shu; and Yoshioka, Keisuke: An Analysis for Free Convective Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluids. Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference, Vol. 2. AIChE, 1966, pp. 214-222.	89	27
Holt, V. E.; and Grosh, R. J.: Free Convection Heat Transfer Up to Near-Critical Conditions. Nucleonics, vol. 21, no. 8, Aug. 1963, pp. 122-125.	63	26
Knapp, Karl K.; and Sabersky, Rolf H.: Free Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 1966, pp. 41-51.	82	22
Larson, J. R.; and Schoenhals, R. J.: Turbulent Free Convection in Near-Critical Water. J. Heat Transfer. vol. 88, no. 4, Nov. 1966, pp. 407-414.	192	26
Nishikawa, Kaneyawu; and Miyabe, Kiyoji: On the Boiling-Like Phenomena at Supercritical Pressures. Mem. Fac. Eng. Kyushu Univ., vol. 25, no. 1, Dec. 1965, pp. 1-25.	83	26
McAdams, William H.: Heat Transmission. Third ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1954.	48	27
Park, E. L., Jr.; Colver, C. P.; and Sliepcevich, C. M.: Nucleate and Film Boiling Heat Transfer to Nitrogen and Methane at Elevated Pressures and Large Temperature Differences. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 11. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1966, pp. 516-529.	(b)	
Parker, J. D.; and Mullin, T. E.: Natural Convection in the Supercritical Region. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 1.	90	22
Sciance, C. T.; Colver, C. P.; and Sliepcevich, C. M.: Pool Boiling of Methane Between Atmospheric Pressure and the Critical Pressure. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 12. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1967, pp. 395-408.	(b)	
Simon, H. A.; and Eckert, E. R. G.: Laminar Free Convection in Carbon Dioxide Near Its Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 6, no. 8, Aug. 1963, pp. 681-690.	92	28
Simoneau, R. J.; and Baumeister, K. J.; Experimental Effects of Pressure, Subcooling and Diameter on Thin Wire Film Boiling. Paper J-3, NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Boulder, Colo., June 17-19, 1970.	(b)	
Skirpov, V. P.; and Potashev, P. I.: Heat Exchange With Carbon Dioxide Along Supercritical Isotherms Under Free-Convection Conditions. NASA TT F-11333, 1967.	188	26
Sparrow, E. M.; and Gregg, J. L.: The Variable Fluid-Property Problem in Free Convection. Trans. ASME, vol. 80, no. 4, May 1958, pp. 879-886.	91	27
Heat transfer in loops - natural convection systems:	151	21
the 1965 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. A. F. Charwat, ed., Stanford Univ. Press, 1965, pp. 317-329.	151	
Paris. Compt. Rend., ser. A, vol. 263, Oct. 3, 1966, pp. 477-480.	154	64
Transfer, vol. 8, no. 3, Mar. 1965, pp. 481-497.	195	31
Proceedings of the 1964 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. Warren H. Giedt and Salamon Levy, eds., Stanford Univ. Proceedings of the 1964 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. Warren H. Giedt and Salamon Levy, eds., Stanford Univ.	155	31
Harden, Darrel G.; and Walker, Bill J.; The ''Density Effect'' Model Paper 67-WA/HT-23 ASME Nov 1967	157	64
Herkenrath, H.; and Mörk-Mörkenstein, P.: 2,4 MW Druck- und Siedewasserkreislauf zur Untersuchung des Wärmeübergangs.	(b)	
Holman, J. P.; and Boggs, J. H.: Heat Transfer to Freen 12 Near the Critical State in a Natural-Circulation Loop. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 82, no. 3, Aug. 1960, pp. 221-226.	96	29
Merlini, C.: Typical Heat Transfer Phenomena in a Natural Circulation Supercritical Pressure Water System. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27, 20, 1668, Paper 7.	98	30
Schmidt, E.: Heat Transmission by Natural Convection at High Centrifugal Acceleration in Water-Cooled Gas Turbine Blades. ASME General Discussion on Heat Transfer. Sent. 11-13, 1951, pp. 361-373	93	28
Schnidt, E.: Wärmetransport durch Natürliche Konvektion in Stoffen Bei Kritischen Zustand. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 1, no. 1, 1960, pp. 92-101.	94	28
	L	1

 $^{\mbox{b}}\mbox{Information pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.}$

	Refer- ence	Page
Heat transfer in loops - natural convection systems (cont.):		
Schmidt, E.: Heat Transfer by Natural Convection. Presented at the ASME-IME International Heat Transfer Conference, Boulder, Colo., Aug. 28-Sept. 1, 1961.	95	28
Schmidt, E.; Eckert, E. R. G.; and Grigull, U.: Heat Transfer by Liquids Near the Critical State. Trans. No. F-TS-527-RE, Air Material Command, Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio, Apr. 26, 1946.	6	28
Tanger, G. E.; Lytle, J. H.; and Vachon, R. I.: Heat Transfer to Sulfur Hexafluoride Near the Thermodynamic Critical Region in a Natural-Circulation Loop. J. Heat Transfer. vol. 90, no. 1, Feb. 1968, no. 37-42	97	27
Van Putte, D. A.; and Grosh, R. J.: Heat Transfer to Water in the Near-Critical Region. Tech. Rep. No. 4, Purdue Univ., 1960.	194	31
Walker, Bill J.; and Harden, Darrel G.: Heat-Driven Pressure and Flow Transients in the Supercritical Thermodynamic Region. Paper 64-WA/HT-37, ASME, Nov. 1964.	156	64
Wallis, G. B.; and Heasley, J. H.: Oscillations in Two-Phase Flow Systems. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, no. 3, Aug. 1961, pp. 363-369.	159	65
Heat transfer in forced convection systems:		
Armand, A. A.; Tarasova, N. V.; and Konkov, A. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer From Wall to Steam Near the Critical Region. NASA TT F-11282, 1967.	205	34
Arp, V.; Giarrantano, P. J.; and Snyder, N. S.: Helium Heat Transfer. Paper B-2, NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Boulder, Colo., June 17-19, 1970.	(b)	
Beech, J. C.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Kerosine. Rep. ERDE-14/R/66; WAC/173/015, Explosives Research and Development Center, England, Feb. 27, 1967	208	34
Bishop, A. A.; Krambeck, F. J.; and Sandberg, R. O.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Superheated Steam at High Pressure and High Prandtl Numbers Paper 65-WA/HT-35 ASME Nov. 1965	204	34
Bourke, P. J.; and Denton, W. H.: An Unusual Phenomenon of Heat Transfer Near the Critical Point. Rep. AERE-M-1946, United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, Aug. 1967	(b)	
Bourke, P. J.; Pulling, D. J.; Gill, L. E.; and Denton, W. H.: Forced Convective Heat Transfer to Turbulent CO ₂ in the Super- critical Region. Part 1. Rep. AFRE-R-5952. United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, 1969.	(b)	
Bringer, R. P.; and Smith, J. M.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. AIChE J., vol. 3, no. 1, Mar. 1957, pp. 49-55.	100	35
Brokaw, Richard S.: Correlation of Turbulent Heat Transfer in a Tube for the Dissociating System N2O4=2NO2. NACA RM E57K19a, 1958.	109	37
Chalfant, A. I.: Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Presented at the Reactor Heat Transfer Conference of 1956, New York, Nov. 1-2, 1956.	196	33
Dean, L. E.; and Thompson, L. M.: Study of Heat Transfer to Liquid Nitrogen. Paper 56-SA-4, ASME, June 1956.	79	33
DelBene, J. V.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Freon 12. Tech. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1959.	200	33
Dickinson, N. L.; and Welch, C. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water. Trans. ASME, vol. 80, no. 3, Apr. 1958, pp. 746-752.	64	37
Domin, G.: Waermeuebergang in Kritischen and Überkritischen Bereichen von Wasser in Rohren. Brennstoff-Wärme-Kraft, vol. 15, no. 11, Nov. 1963, pp. 527-532.	58	33
Eckert, E. R. G.: Discussion of Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction for Fully Developed Turbulent Flow of Air and Supercritical Water With Variable Fluid Properties. Trans. ASME. vol. 76, no. 1, Jan. 1954, pp. 83-84.	99	35
Finn, Donald: Forced Convective Heat Transfer and Thermodynamics in the Super Critical Region. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Oklahoma, 1964.	108	28
Glickstein, M. R.; and Whitesides, R. H., Jr.: Forced-Convection Nucleate and Film Boiling of Several Aliphatic Hydrocarbons. Paper 67-HT-7. ASME. Aug. 1967.	207	34
Goldmann, Kurt: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water at 5000 psi Flowing at High Mass Flow Rates Through Round Tubes. Inter- national Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1963, np. 561-568	198	33
Green, J. R.; and Hauptmann, E. G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer from a Cylinder in Carbon Dioxide Near the Thermodynamic	(b)	
Critical Point. ASME Paper 70-HT/SPT-36, National Space Technology and Heat Transfer Conference, Los Angeles, Calif., June 21-24, 1970.		
Gunson, W. E.; and Kellogg, H. B.: Engineering Application Technique for Supercritical-Pressure Heat-Transfer Correlations. Paper 66-WA/HT-11, ASME, Nov. 1966	107	37
Hay, R. D.: Experimental Data From a Closed Loop Supercritical Helium Heat Transfer System Between 4.2° and 8° K. Presented at NAS/NEC Cryogenic Engineering Conference. University of California. Los Argeles, Calif. June 16-18, 1969	210	34
Hauptmann, Edward G.: An Experimental Investigation of Force Convective Heat Transfer to a Fluid in the Region of Its Critical Point Ph. D. Thesis, Collifornia Institute of Technology, 1986	70	36
Hendricks, R. C.; Simoneau, R. J.; and Friedman, R.: Heat-Transfer Characteristics on Cryogenic Hydrogen from 1000 to 2500 psia Flowing Inward in Uniformuly Heated Straight Tubes. NASA TN D-2027, 1965	203	33
Hendricks, Robert C.; Graham, Robert W.; Hsu, Yih Y.; and Friedman, Robert: Experimental Heat-Transfer Results for Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing in Tubes at Subcritical and Supercritical Pressures to 800 Pounds Per Square Inch Absolute. NASA TN D-3095,	41	37
1966. Hendricks, R. C.: Graham, R. W.: Hsu, Y. Y. and Medeiros, A. A. Correlation of Hydrogen Heat Transfer in Boiling And	42	38
Supercritical Pressure States. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 2, Feb. 1962, pp. 244-252.	14	
Hess, H. L.; and Kunz, H. R.: A Study of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Hydrogen. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, no. 1, Feb. 1965, pp. 41-48.	110	38
Holman, J. P.; Rea, S. N.; and Howard, C. E.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Freon 12 Near the Critical State in a Vertical Annulus. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 8, no. 8, Aug. 1965, pp. 1095-1102.	202	33

^bInformation pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.

 Internet in the order of an exection ystems (eq.). Jacksan, J., S., and Parane Latteries, K. L. (patternet of Turbulent Force Convection Bast Transfer to Supercritical Pressure CO2 Cauced by Dosymery Forces. Rev. Rep. K. E. 2, Univ. of Macheneter, Sealand, Mar. 1988. Jackanow, C., S. Minder of New Convection Red Transfer to Sellum I. Paper Rel. J. ASA/NRC Crogenic Expineering Conference, Boilder, Chiu., June 11-70, 1979. Karegagian, N., Lio O Paysian I batter of Itel Transfer to Sellum I. Paper Rel. J. MAS/NRC Crogenic Expineering Conference, Science 11, J. 1999. Karegagian, N., Lio O Paysian I batter of Itel Transfer in the Critical Tressore with Pseudo-booling. Hest Transfer. ASSR, 1981, pp. 358-360. Karamoberhov, E. A.; and Protoppov, Y. S. : Experimental Budy of Bata Exchange in the Supercritical Range Transfer. ASSR T P. 1135, 1987. Karamoberhov, E. A.; and Protoppov, Y. S. : Experimental Budy of Bata Exchange in the Supercritical Range in the Supercritical Region. The Conference on Hest and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Carler, Jr., J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., California Univ., Press, 1996, J. 24-35. Marritell, R. C., et al.: Lockington Dresso, De Roy Component Fast in a Histonstal Pressorem. Spin Bears One Roy Conference on Hest and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Carler, Jr., J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., California Univ., Press, 1996, J. 24-35. Marritell, R. J., et al. 1990. Marritell, R. J., et al.: Beat Transfer to Water and Sean N Variable Specific Hest in Near-Critical Region. Transfer to Mater and Sean Near the Critical Pressures. Bod. J., and Massan, M. E. : Reprime Nation Conference Convection Hest Transfer to Fast and Sean Near the Critical Pressures. Bail. Near Neurol. J. Activ., Spin, 99, 93-101. Moregabill, Z. L., PREM, Y. J. 1, and SHEMAN, M. E. 1990. Moregabill, Z. L., PREM, Y. J. 1, and SHEMAN, M. E. 1990. <l< th=""><th></th><th>Refer- ence</th><th>Page</th></l<>		Refer- ence	Page
 Janssen J. D.; and Fenze-Laterong. K.: Impairment of Turkinite Tyreed Convection Hast Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Concentration Hast Transfer to Supercritical Region During the Flow of Presed Concentration Hast Transfer to Supercritical Region During the Flow of Presed Concentration Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Transfer to Supercritical Region During the Flow of Presed Concentration Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Transfer to Composed Hast Hast Supercritical Region During the Flow of Presed Concentration Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Concentration Hast Transfer to Hast and Stars Transfer to Lipid Hast Concentration Hast Transfer to Hast and Stars Transfer to Hast and Lipid Transfer to Hast and Stars Transfer to Lipid Hast Concentration Hast Transfer to Hast and Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Transfer to Hast and Hast Transfer to Lipid Hast Concentration Hast Transfer to Hast and Ha	Heat transfer in forced convection systems (cont.):	· _ · · ·	
 Johannes, C.: Stadter of Porced Convection Heat Transfer to Hellum 1. Page's D-3, NAS/NIC Cryogonic Eggmeering Conference. Joulet, C.G., June IT-31, 1970, Kalenguz, K. L.: OP-Popical Nature of Heat Transfer in the Critical Pressure with Pseudo-boiling. Heat Transfer-Soviet Res., Vol. 1, no. 1, Jun 1990, pp. 88-530. Kappel, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.: Turbulet Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. International Developments in Heat Transfer. AMS, 1040, pp. 585-500. Kransobchoky, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Experimental Body of Heat Exchange in Carbon Deskie in the Supercritical Image in the Supercritical Region Dating the Plane All Soviet Disk. Nat. 71 (2014), 1997. Kransobchoky, E. A. (2014)	Jackson, J. D.; and Evans-Lutterodt, K.: Impairment of Turbulent Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Caused by Buoyancy Forces. Res. Rep. N. E. 2, Univ. of Manchester, England, Mar. 1968.	CO ₂ 120	42
 Kajengar, N. L.; Or Physical Nature of Heat Transfer is Supercritical Pressure with Pseudo-holling. Heat Transfers. Active Nature 3, 198–33. Koppel, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.; Turbulet Ret Transfer in the Critical Region. Informational Developments in heat Transfer. ASSE, 1961, pp. 555-50. Kranscheldov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.; Experimental Study of Heat Exchange in Carbon Disade in the Supercritical Region at mgb recogneture Range. High Termy, vol. 4, no. 3, Mary-Law 1966, pp. 375-382. Kranscheldov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.; Heat Exchange in the supercritical Region During the Fole of Pseud Carbon Acid and Water Nath TF -1158, 1967. Kranscheldov, E. A.; Protopopov, V. S.; Heat Carbon, Eds. Al: Activity that on the International Region Physical National Development Acid and Water Nath TF -1158, 1967. Kranscheldov, E. A. J., Entitust, and E. R. G. Eskert, eds., Catifornia Univ. Press, 1969, pp. 28-35. Murophiki, Z. J.; J. & Statusta, M. E.; Heat Transfer to Vater and Steam Warahie Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region). Microphiki, Z. J.; J. and Statusan, M. E.; Heat Transfer to Vater and Steam Warahie Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region). Strict Pips., Teck. Phys., vol. 19, no. 19, 1957, pp. 213-220. Miropolkil, Z. L.; and Statusan, M. E.; Heat Transfer to Statust and Steam Nar the Critical Prosture Statustical Development Rest and Exception Physical Prostures and Elevation Pressures. 199 Miropolkil, Z. L.; Nets, V. J.; and Statusan, M. E.; Regines of Deterrorsteet Heat Transfer and Circleware and Elevation Pressures 7, 199, pp. 111, Neur 1957, pp. 213-220. Miropolkil, J. L.; Press, V. J.; and Statusan, M. E.; Regines of Deterrorsteet Heat Transfer and Circleware and Elevation Pressures 7, 199, pp. 111, Neur 1957, pp. 214-20. Miropolkil, J. L.; Press, V. J.; and Statusan, M. E.; Regin Reginford Statusta Pressures 2, 104, 06, pp. 49-10	Johannes, C.: Studies of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Helium I. Paper B-3, NAS/NRC Cryogenic Engineering Conference Boulder, Colo., June 17-19, 1970.	ce, (b)	
 Kappol, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.; Turbulent Heal Transfer in the Critical Region. International Developments in Heal Transfer. Starber, Bol, D., 565-500. Kransochtekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.; Experimental Study of Heal Exchange in Carkon Dixade in the Supercritical Range at High Temperature Range. (In B) Temp., 70:1. An o, May-Jound 1066, pp. 373-302. Kransochtekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.; Heal Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Piped Carbonic Acid and Water. NaSh TT F-1135, 1967. Kransochtekov, E. A.; Protopopov, V. S.; Heal Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Piped Carbonic Acid and Water. NaSh TT, F-1135, 1967. Kransochtekov, E. A.; Drotopopov, V. S.; Peng, Wang: and Karava, I. V.; Experimental Investigation of Heat Tamber for Carbon Diadic in the Supercritical Region. Post Two-These Teo-Component Flow in a Morizontal Pipe. Trans. ASME, 101. C. Gakley, Ar., J. P. Hartsett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., Califormia Univ. Press. 1966, pp. 26-35. Murinell, R. S., Stedfer, J. D.; and Trebes, D. M.; Forced-Cotwection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. 59 Bull. Inst. Intern. Froid, Annexe No. 2, 1985, pp. 173-109. Mirropolkil, Z. J.; and Stimana, M. E.; Head Transfer to Delta Transfer to Mater and Steam Near the Critical Point. Soviet Phys Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10. Oct. 1957, pp. 2185-2289. Mirropolkil, C. J., Fruits, V. A. B.; R. Rogittene of Deteriorated Heat Transfer at Forced Flow of Fluids in Carbon Diad. N. B.; Rogittene of Caschello tool Bull Culculus at Low Temperatures and Elevited Press. 199, 50-101. Morrew, A. G., Fortow, M. A. S.; Rogittene of Caschello tool Bull Culculus at Low Temperatures and Elevited Press. 199, 50-101. Morrew, A. G., Fortow, M. A. S.; Rogittene of Caschello tool Bull Culculus at Low Temperatures and Elevited Press. 199, 50-101. Morrew, A. G., Forto	Kafengauz, N. L.: On Physical Nature of Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressure with Pseudo-boiling. Heat Transfer-Soviet R	tes., 153	34
 Krassochridov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Experimental Study of Heat Exchange in Carbon Davide in the Supercritical Range 106 Ti High Temperature Range, High Temp, vol. A. no. 3, Marvinue 1066, pp. 937-932. Krassochridov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Fest Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Piped Carbonic Acid and Wates. NaSA TT F: 11355, 1987. Krassochridov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Fest Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Piped Carbon Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Carkey, Ary, J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., Califormu Univ. Press. 1966, pp. 26-36. Martinell, R. C., et al.: Stochrenal Presser Den for Two-Phase Two-Component Flow in a Horizontal Pipe, Trans. ASME, vol. 66, no. 2, Feb. 1944, pp. 138-151. Miller, W. S.; Seeder, J. D., and Trebos, D. M.: Parced-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Buller, W. S.; Seeder, J. D., and Stitmann, M. E.: Med Transfer to Martin and Steam Near the Critical Point, Bresser Prind, Annexe No. 2, 1955, pp. 137-180. Miropolkin, J. C., Heav, N. J., and Stitmann, M. E.: Med Transfer to Dulting Liquids at Low Team of Flow of Fluids in 105 Soviet Phys Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10. Oct. 1997, pp. 2166-2288. Miropolkin, C., and Stitman, M. E.: Med Transfer to Dulting Liquids at Low Teamperatures and Elevated Pressure. J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, et al. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 619-624. Soviet Phys Tech. June 1958. An All M. E.: Heat Transfer to Dulting Liquids at Low Teamperatures and Elevated Pressure. J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, et al. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624. Morroy, A.G.; Heat Transfer J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Prose. Tech. 199 Speceritical Pros. J. Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 Speceritical Conditions, Int	Koppel, L. B.; and Smith, J. M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. International Developments in Heat Transfer ASME. 1961, pp. 585-590.	r. 59	33
 Kraznochebelov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.; Heat Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Paped Carbonic Acid and Water, NASA TT P-1035, 1967. Kraznochebelov, E. A.; Probopov, V. S.; Peng, Wang, and Korzeva, I. V.: Experimental Investigation of Heat and Mass Transfer. for Carbon Diodic in the Supercritical Region. Proceedings of the Second Atl-Source thion Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Hartnett, and E. R. G. Eckerf, eds., Callorina Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 26-35. Martinell, R. C., et al.; Isobitrmal Pressures Drey for Two-Phase Two-Component Flow in a Horizontal Pupe. Trans. SMRE, vol. 66, no. 2, reb. 1944, pp. 139-151. Miller, W. S.; Seader, J. D.; and Treubes, D. M.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Japaid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Bull, Inst. Interns. Truid, Amese No. 2, 1965, pp. 137-190. Miropolkil, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point. Science of the Tarin International Heat Transfer to Valer and Steam Near the Critical Point. Science of the Tarin International Heat Transfer Conference, Vol. 2, AIChE, 1996, pp. 95-101. Morroy, A.G.; Pattiow, H.A. S.; and Neell, D. E.: Heat Transfer to Fulds at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 Barzen, J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pl. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624. Morray, S.M. G.; Hand Kang, M. D.; Bartone H.A. D. D.; AD-20341.) Petubbor, B.; Kraanaachekaw, E. A.; and Protopopov, Y. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fulds at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 Barzen, J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pl. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624. Povarnin, P., J. and Malkinn, L. S.; Scial Flewaring of Heat Transfer to Fulds at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 Barzenk, S. K. Kanaachekaw, E. A.; and Protopopov, Y. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fulds Flowing in Pipes Under Supercritical Conditions. Inferthetical Region of	Krasnoshchekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Experimental Study of Heat Exchange in Carbon Dioxide in the Supercritical Ra at High Temperature Range. High Temp., vol. 4, no. 3, May-June 1966, pp. 375-382.	inge 106	37
 Krannschelekov, E. A.; Protopopov, V. S.; Peng, Wang, and Kurseva, I. V.: Experimental Investigation of tread Mass Transfer. 102 Carbon Diodic in the SuperviseItal Region. Proceedings of the Second ALE-Sovie Unito Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. 101 C. Carley, Jr., J. P., Hartnett, and E. R. G. Edwert, eds., Catilornia Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 24-55. Martinelli, R. C., et al., Isothermal Pressure Drop for Twu-Phase Twu-Component Flow in a Horizontal Pipe. Trans. ASME, vol. 66, no. 2, Feb. 1944, pp. 139-151. Miller, W. S.; Seader, J. D.; and Trebos, D. M.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Biller, W. S.; Seader, J. D.; and D. Oct. 1977, pp. 2196-2208. Miropolskil, Z. L.; and Biltsman, M. E.; Mentos of Calculation of Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point, Encorropolskil, Z. L.; and Biltsman, M. E.; Mentos of Calculation of Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point, Encorropolskil, Z. L.; Press, V. J.; and Biltsman, M. E.; Mentos of Calculation of Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point, Encorropolskil, Z. L.; Piese, V. J.; and Biltsman, M. E.; Regimes of Deterioratel Heat Transfer at Furced Flow of Flakis in 105 Gurvilinara, C. J., Pits, V. J.; and Siltsman, M. E.; Mentos and Deterioratel Heat Transfer to Philos 4100, pp. 96-101. Morropolskil, Z. L.; Piese, Y. J.; and Siltsman, M. E.; Kentos Coll.; E. (Matto) Control Control Pressures and Elevated Pressures. Morra, Soltho G.; and Barger, J. P.; Experimetal Investigation of Heat Transfer to Philos at Supercritical Pressures. Morra, Subachestis hat, T. Feb, Jave 1983, (Vasiluble from DDC Cas AD-20441.) Petkibov, B. S.; Karamochekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.; An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Plowing in Plues Under Supercritical Conditions. Instigne Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. Interna	Krasnoshchekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: Heat Exchange in the Supercritical Region During the Flow of Piped Carbonic A and Water. NASA TT F-11335, 1967.	Acid 145	34
 Voi. 1. C. Galley, Jr., J. P., Harlen, and E. R. G. ECCP, 605., Lattornia Dury, Press, 1966, pp. 295. Wartinelli, R. C., et al.: Stohermal Pressure Drog for Two-Phase Two-Component Flow in a Hortzonatal Pipe. Trans. ASME, 111 Willer, W. S., Sader, J. D., and Trobes, D. M.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Bull, Inst. Intern. Froid, Annees No. 2, 1965, pp. 173-190. Miropolski, C. L.; and Sthaman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water and Steam at Variable Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region). Sortet Phys Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10. Oct. 1957, pp. 2196-2208. Miropolski, Z. L.; Neid, N. J.; and Sthaman, M. E.: Regimes of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point. Theorematical Pressures of the Tard International Heat Transfer Conference, Vol. 2. ACIE, 1966, pp. 95-101. Morrea, A.S., C.; Freistew, H. A.S.; and Neevil, J. E.: Heat Transfer to Dising Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pressures. J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pt. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624. Morrea, Saho, S.; Heat Transfer In a Single-Phase Medium Under Super-ritical Conditions. High Tomp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug, 1968, pp. 686-709. Pettakhov, B., S.; Kraismachekov, E. A.; and Protingspov, N. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Doubles (1997), pp. 767-83. Povarnin, P. I.; and Makina, L. I.: Special Patters of Heat Gransfer to Carbon Eleving in Pipes Under Supervisition Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer to Carbon Eleving in Pipes Under Supervisition Conditions. J. 1987, pp. 216-23. Povarini, P. I.; and Makina, L. I.: Special Patters of Heat Pressures. Heat Transfer Conference of 1960, Super Trias. No. 1977, pp. 214-20. Povarini, P. I.; and Makina, L. I.: Special Patters of Heat Printers to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Conference of 1960, Sup. 402,	Krasnoshchekov, E. A.; Protopopov, V. S.; Feng, Wang; and Kuraeva, I. V.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer for Carbon Dioxide in the Supercritical Region. Proceedings of the Second All-Soviet Union Conference on Heat and Mass Transfe	r. 201	33
Miller, W. S.; Seador, J. D.; and Trebes, D. M.: Furcel-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures.5538Bull, Inst., Intern., Froid, Ames No. 2, 1965, pp. 173-190.10236Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.; Meth Transfer to Water and Stam at Variable Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region).102Soviet Phys Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10. Oct. 1957, pp. 2196-2208.103Miropolskii, Z. L.; nucl. Shitsman, M. E.; Kelpines of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point.103Miropolskii, Z. L.; nucl. No. 1, and Shitsman, M. E.; Regines of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Fued Flow of Fhilds in103Miropolskii, Z. L.; nucl. No. 1, and Shitsman, M. E.; Regines of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Elevated Pressores.60Morrea, A. G., Britow, H. A. S.; and Newam, J. E.; Reginies of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.76Worra, Sabino G., and Barger, J. P.; Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.76Petukhov, B. S.; Krasmochekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fhilds Flowing in Pipes Under Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.71Povariun, P. I.; and Makina, L. I.; Specific Features of Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.7473poverlue, P. Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.8174Povariun, P. J.; and Makina, L. I.; Specific Features of Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.8174Poverlue, P. Heat Transfer to Fhilds at Supercritical Pressures.81	 Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Harnett, and E. R. G. Eckert, eds., Cantornia Univ. Press, 1966, pp. 26-35. Martinelli, R. C., et al.: Isothermal Pressure Drop for Two-Phase Two-Component Flow in a Horizontal Pipe. Trans. ASME, vol. 66, no. 2, Feb. 1944, pp. 139-151. 	, 111	38
Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shifsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water and Steam at Variable Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region). 102 36 Soviet Phys. Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10, Oct. 1957, pp. 2169-2208. 103 36 Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shifsman, M. E.: Methods of Calculation of theat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point. 103 36 Miropolskii, Z. L.; Pieux, V. J.; and Shifsman, M. E.: Regimes of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Funce of Flow of Fluids in 103 36 Miropolskii, Z. L.; Pieux, V. J.; and Shifsman, M. E.: Regimes of Deteriorated Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 80 37 Morres, A.S., Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pl. 11, Nov, 1952, pp. 613-624. 80 33 38 Morras, ASL, B.: Heat Transfer to Binds at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 33 Rep, J., Massechusetis first. Tech., June 1958. (Available from DDC as AD-203411.) 144 57 Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet 80 37 Res, vol. 1, no. 4, July 1969, pp. 224-230. 27 30 7, aut 1957, pp. 76-73. Powrath, P. L.; and Malkina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Water, and Transfer Conference of 1963. 37 Subersky, Rolf H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection H	Miller, W. S.; Seader, J. D.; and Trebes, D. M.: Forced-Convection Heat Transfer to Liquid Hydrogen at Supercritical Press Bull. Inst. Intern. Froid, Annexe No. 2, 1965, pp. 173-190.	sures. 55	38
Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Methods of Calculation of Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Noar the Critical Point. 103 36 Energomashinostroetic, ou. 4, no. 1, 1958, pp. 8-11. 105 37 Curvilinear Channels, Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer to Boiling Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pressures. 105 37 Morros, A. G.; Firstow, H. A. S.; and Newell, J. E.: Heat Transfer to Boiling Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pressures. 109 33 Morra, Sabino G.; and Barger, J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 33 Rop, J., Massachusetts Inst. Tech., June 1958. (Available from DDC as AD-20341.) 144 57 Petukkov, B. S.; Heat Transfer to Sluids Power Fitterial Conditions. High Tenp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug. 144 57 1968, pp. 686-706. 144 163 37 Petukkov, B. S.; Kraamoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet Res., 1961, pp. 569-578. 211 34 Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1969, pp. 222-30. 90 90 90 90 90 90 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 <td< td=""><td>Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water and Steam at Variable Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region Soviet Phys Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10, Oct. 1957, pp. 2196-2208.</td><td>a). 102</td><td>36</td></td<>	Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water and Steam at Variable Specific Heat (in Near-Critical Region Soviet Phys Tech. Phys., vol. 2, no. 10, Oct. 1957, pp. 2196-2208.	a). 102	36
Miropolskii, Z. L.: Picus, V. J.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Regimes of Deteriorated Heat Transfer at Forced Flow of Fluids in 105 Curvillaer Channels, Proceedings of the Tird International Heat Transfer Conference. Vol. 2, ACIE, 1966, pp. 50-101. 30 Morros, Shino G.; and Barger, J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech. 199 Rop, I. Massachusetis Inst. Tech., Jume 1958. (Available from DDC as AD-20341.) 144 Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug. 144 1968, pp. 666-709. 60 Petukhov, B. S.; Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug. 144 190 Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet 211 Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1960, pp. 228-230. 143 37 Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957, pp. 776-783. 54 Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer to Fluids Piction Experimental Investigations of Inglity-Loaded Bolier Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959. 67 Schmidt, K. R. : Thermoforymain Investigations of Highty-Loaded Bolier Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959. 67 33 Sc	Miropolskii, Z. L.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Methods of Calculation of Heat Transfer to Water and Steam Near the Critical Point. Energomashinostroenie, vol. 4, no. 1, 1958, pp. 8-11.	103	36
Monroe, A. G.; Bristow, H. A. S.; and Newell, J. E.: Heat Transfer to Boling Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pressures.6033Sures, J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pt. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624.19933Morra, Sabino G.; and Barger, J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fhuks at Supercritical Pressures. Tech.19933Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Dhase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug.14457Potkakov, B. S.; Krast Transfer in a Single-Dhase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet211Petukhov, B. S.; Krastmoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under60Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet211Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1969, pp. 228-200.78Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957, pp. 776-783.54Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference197of 1956. USAEC Rep. TD: 7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 1499-1508.67Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Shitsman, M. E.: Iteat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 9, no. 1, 10135Peb. 1969, pp. 16-20.5633pp. 33-64. 1982. (Trans. by Dept, of Scientific and	Miropolskii, Z. L.; Picus, V. J.; and Shitsman, M. E.: Regimes of Deteriorated Heat Transfer at Forced Flow of Fluids in Curvilinear Channels. Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference. Vol. 2. AIChE, 1966, pp. 95-101.	105	37
Morra, Sabino G.; and Barger, J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech.19933Rep. 1, Masschusetts Inst. Tech., June 1956. (Available from DDC as AD-20341.)Petukhov, B. S.: Krasnoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 560-578.60Powarnin, P. I.; and Malkina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 560-578.71Powarnin, P. I.; and Malkina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet211Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1959, pp. 228-230.73Powarlin, S. Stransfer to Fluids in the Regton of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957,54Sp. 776-783.70Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference197of 1956. USAEC Rep. TDD-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.60Schmidt, K. R. Thermodynamic Investigations of Ilighily-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AKC-tr-4033, 1959.67Schmur, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1, 10135Schinsman, M. E.: Instransfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1, 1959.104Sp. 237-244.5633Shitisman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Point. FepLonergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959.104sp. 237-2	Monroe, A. G.; Bristow, H. A. S.; and Newell, J. E.: Heat Transfer to Boiling Liquids at Low Temperatures and Elevated Pro- sures. J. Appl. Chem., vol. 2, pt. 11, Nov. 1952, pp. 613-624.	es- 80	33
Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug.144571968, pp. 666-709.6037Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 569-578.60Potukhov, B. S.; Krasnoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under60Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 569-578.211Powarnin, P. I; and Makina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet211Rendall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference197of 1956. USAEC Rep. TD-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.54Subersky, Rolf H.; and Haupmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J.119Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.67Schnidt, N. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Schnidt, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963.56yp. 237-244.Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959.104yp. 83-66, 1962. (Trans. by Autional Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)112Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer to Supercritical Florinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (U	Morra, Sabino G.; and Barger, J. P.: Experimental Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Tech Rep. 1, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., June 1958. (Available from DDC as AD-203441.)	199	33
Petukhov, B. S.; Krasnoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Flowing in Pipes Under6037Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer ASME. 1961, pp. 568-578.6037Povarnin, P. I.; and Malkina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet211Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1690, pp. 228-230.33Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957,54sp., 776-783.37Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference197of 1956, USAEC Rep. TD-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.54Subersky, Roff H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J.119Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.67Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Schnurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1.101Feb. 1969, pp. 16-20.5633pp. 237-244.5156Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point, Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1.20694949494949558-72. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech, Norkshire, England, No. RTS 1229.)10491379437 <td>Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Au 1968, pp. 696-709.</td> <td>ոց. 144</td> <td>57</td>	Petukhov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Au 1968, pp. 696-709.	ոց. 144	57
Povarnin, P., I.; and Makina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer Soviet211Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957, pp. 776-783.37Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference197Sabersky, Rolf H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J.119Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 167, pp. 149-1508.67Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Schnurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1.101Feb. 1069, pp. 16-20.5656Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transferston at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963, pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept, of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)104Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer Dro Science and Teacher, Vorkshire, England, No. RTS 1233.)206Stekly, Z. J. J.; Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956, Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.)119Sternan, N. S. 37-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)208Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes, J. Heat Transfer11Sternan, N. S. 37-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)208Swenson, H. S.;	Petukhov, B. S.; Krasnoschekov, E. A.; and Protopopov, V. S.: An Investigation of Heat Transfer to Fluids Flowing in Pipes I Supercritical Conditions. International Development in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 569-578.	Under 60	37
 Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fuids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 1957, 34 gp. 776-783. Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference 197 Sabersky, Rolf H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. 119 Hat Mass Transfer vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508. Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959. Schnurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1. Feb. 1969, pp. 16-20. Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963. pp. 237-244. Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959, pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.) Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 83-86, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.) Stekly, Z. J., Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.) Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liguids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053. (Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.) Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans-fer to	Povarnin, P. I.; and Matkina, L. I.: Special Features of Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Heat Transfer So Res., vol. 1, no. 4, July 1969, pp. 228-230.	oviet 211	34
Iradiadi, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Conference19733of 1956. USAEC Rep. TD-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.Sabersky, Rolf H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J.119Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.67Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Schnurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1.101Feb. 1969, pp. 16-20.56Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963.56pp. 237-244.51Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959,104pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept, of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)104Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2,(b)Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.)51Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053.112Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans-61Granas, No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)33Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercri	Powell, Walter B.: Heat Transfer to Fluids in the Region of the Critical Temperature. Jet Propulsion, vol. 27, no. 7, July 19: pp. 776-783.	54	31
Sabersky, Rod H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J.11941Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.67Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Schmidt, K. R.: Thermodynamic Investigations of Highly-Loaded Boiler Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.67Shifsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963.56sp. 237-244.5456Shifsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959,10497. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)104Shifsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer to Coling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1,20698.366, 1962. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)104Sterklaw, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Cooling of Mater Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1,20698.366, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)112Sterklaw, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053.112112Sterman, N. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp.1281289-1292. <td>Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Confe of 1956. USAEC Rep. TID-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.</td> <td>erence 197</td> <td>33</td>	Randall, David G.: Some Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction Experiments with Supercritical Water. Reactor Heat Transfer Confe of 1956. USAEC Rep. TID-7529, pt. 3, Nov. 1957, pp. 21-49.	erence 197	33
Schmidt, K. R.: Infermodynamic investigations of highly-Loaded Boiter Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959.6733Schmurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1.10135Schmurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1.10135Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963,5633pp. 237-244.Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959,10437pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)10437Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1,20634pp. 83-86, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)20634Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053.11238(Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Transfer of Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp.1431289-1292.1289-1292.14333Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 19	Sabersky, Koll H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. In Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.	nt. J. 119	41
Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 1963, pp. 237-244.5633Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959, pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)10437Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 68-68, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)20634Stekly, Z. J. J.; Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.)(b)Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053. (Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)11238Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans- fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.33Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 1289-1292.143Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967. Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.	Schmidt, N. R.: Inermodynamic investigations of highly-Loaded Boiter Heating Surfaces. AEC-tr-4033, 1959. Schnurr, N. M.: Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide in the Immediate Vicinity of the Critical Point. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, n Feb. 1969, pp. 16-20.	io. 1, 101	35
Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, 1959, pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)10437Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 83-86, 1862. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)20634Stekly, Z. J. J.; Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.)(b)Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053. (Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)11238Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Transfer fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.37Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 1289-1292. Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967. Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.65	Shitsman, M. E.: Impairment of the Heat Transmission at Supercritical Pressures. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 2, SeptOct. 19 pp. 237-244.	63, 56	33
Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 83-86, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)20634Stekly, Z. J. J.; Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.)(b)Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053.11238(Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans- fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.6137Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 1289-1292.14333Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.6534Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.160	Shitsman, M. E.: Heat Transfer to Water, Oxygen, and Carbon Dioxide in the Critical Region. Teploenergetika, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 58-72. (Trans. by Dept. of Scientific and Industrial Research, London, England, No. RTS 1229.)	. 1959, 104	37
Stekly, Z. J. J.; Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2, (b) Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.) Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053. 112 38 (Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.) Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans- 61 37 fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484. Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 143 33 1280-1292. Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan 65 34 Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967. 1967. 4 Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point (b) Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.	Shitsman, M. E.: Investigation of Heat Transfer During Cooling of Water Near the Critical Point. Teploenergetika, vol. 9, no. pp. 83-86, 1962. (Trans. by National Lending Library for Science and Tech., Yorkshire, England, No. RTS 2133.)	. 1, 206	34
Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 2046-2053.11238(Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans- fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.6137Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 1289-1292.14333Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.6534Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.694	Stekly, Z. J. J.; Ferran, R. J.; and Barger, J. P.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Fluorinated Hydrocarbons. Progr. Rep. 2 Massachusetts Inst. Tech., 1956. (Under Contract Nonr-1841-14.)	2, (b)	
Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat Trans- fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484. 61 37 Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 143 33 1289-1292. Tanaka, H.: Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan 65 34 Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967. 1967. Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point (b) Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969. 1969.	Stermann, L. S.: Study of Heat Exchange During Boiling of Liquids in Tubes. Zh. Tekhn. Fiz., vol. 24, no. 11, 1954, pp. 204 (Trans. No. RJ-421, Assoc. Tech. Services, 1955.)	16-2053. 112	38
Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 143 33 1269-1292. Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan 65 34 Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967. 1967. 65 34 Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Nichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point (b) Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969. 65 34	Swenson, H. S.; Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. J. Heat T fer, vol. 87, no. 4, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.	'rans- 61	37
Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan 65 34 Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967. 1967. 65 5 Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point (b) Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969. 65 34	Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, 1289-1292.	pp. 143	33
Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Hirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critical Point (b) Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.	Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium. Tokyo, Japan Sept. 1967	. 65	34
	Tanaka, Hiroaki; Nishiwaki, Niichi; Ilirata, Masuru; and Tsuge, Ayao: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluid Near Critica Flowing in Circular Tube. Dept. Mech. Eng., Faculty of Eng., Univ. Tokyo, Japan, circa 1969.	il Point (b)	

 $^{^{}b}\ensuremath{\text{Information pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.}$

	Refer-	Page
 Heat transfer in forced convection systems (cont.): Thompson, W. R.; and Geery, E. L.: Heat Transfer to Cryogenic Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Advances in Cryogenic Hydrogen at Supercritical Pressures. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 7. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1962, pp. 391-400. 	68	33
Touba, R. F.; and McFadden, P. W.: Combined Turbulent Convection Heat Transfer to Near Critical Water. Tech. Rep. 18, Purdue Research Foundation, Jan. 1966. (Work done under Contract No. AT(11-1)-1177.)	212	34
Von Berg, R. L.; Williamson, K. D., Jr.; and Edeskuty, F. J.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Nitrogen in the Vicinity of the Critical Point. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering, vol. 15, 1970, p. 238-247.	209	34
Wilson, Mahlon T.: Flow and Thermal Characteristics of Hydrogen Near Its Critical Point in a Heated Cylindrical Tube. Rep. LA-4172, Los Alamos Scientific Lab., May 1969.	113	39
Wood, Rodney D.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region: Experimental Investigation of Radial Temperature and Velocity Profiles. Ph.D. Thesis, Northwestern University, 1963.	66	40
Yamagata, Kiyoshi, et al.: Free Convective Heat Transfer to a Supercritical Fluid (Second Report). Technology Rept. Kyushu Univ., vol. 37, no. 1, 1964, pp. 47-51.	114	39
 Heat transfer in forced convection systems - detailed investigation into mechanisms: Bourke, P. J.; Pulling, D. J.; Gill, L. E.; and Denton, W. H.: The Measurement of Turbulent Velocity Fluctuations and Turbulent Temperature Fluctuations in the Supercritical Region by a Hot Wire Anemometer and a "Cold" Wire Resistance Thermometer. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids. Bristol England Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 9. 	117	41
Gill, L. E.; Hewitt, G. F.; and Lacey, P. M. C.: Sampling Probe Studies of the Gas Core in Annular Two-Phase Flow. Part II: Studies of the Effect of Phase Flow Rates on Phase and Velocity Distribution. Rep. AERE-R-3955, United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority 1963	116	40
Hall, W. B.; Jackson, J. D.; and Kahn, S. A.: An Investigation of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Carbon Dioxide. Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference. Vol. 1. AIChE, 1966, pp. 257-266.	118	41
Hauptmann, Edward G.: An Experimental Investigation of Forced Convective Heat Transfer to a Fluid in the Region of Its Critical Point. Ph.D. Thesis, California Institute of Technology, 1966.	70	40
Jackson, J. D.; and Evans-Lutterodt, K.: Impairment of Turbulent Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure CO ₂ Caused by Buoyancy Forces. Res. Rep. N. E. 2, Univ. of Manchester, England, Mar. 1968.	120	42
Kahn, Sardar A.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluids at the Critical Point. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Manchester, England, 1965.	73	40
Sabersky, Rolf H.; and Hauptmann, Edward G.: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Carbon Dioxide Near the Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 10, no. 11, Nov. 1967, pp. 1499-1508.	119	41
Suiraikar, B. S.; and Grinith, Peter: Deterioration in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressure and High Heat Fluxes. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1, Feb. 1969, pp. 27-36.	74	42
LA-4172, Los Alamos Scientific Lab., May 1969.	113	39
Ph.D. Thesis, Northwestern University, 1963.	115	40
AIChE. J., vol. 10, no. 2, Mar. 1964, pp. 180-186.	115	40
Geometric effects: Ackerman, J. W.: Pseudo-Boiling Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Water in Smooth and Ribbed Tubes. Paper 69-WA/HT-2, ASME Nov. 1960	129	46
Anon.: Heat Transfer to Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing Turbulently in Straight and Curved Tubes at High Heat Fluxes. NASA CR-678, 1967.	124	43
Bartlit, J. R.; and Williamson, K. D., Jr.; Further Experimental Study of H ₂ O-LH ₂ Heat Exchangers. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering, Vol. 11, K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1966, pp. 561-567.	127	46
Dean, W. R.: The Streamline Motion of Fluid in a Curved Pipe. Phil. Mag., Ser. VII, vol. 5, no. 30, Apr. 1938, pp. 674-695. Hall, W. B.; Jackson, J. D.; and Watson, A.: A Review of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures.	122	43
Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 3.		10
Hall, W. B.: The Effect of Buoyancy Forces on Forced Convection. Heat Transfer in a Vertical Pipe. Res. Rep. N. E. 1, Univ. of Manchester, England, Jan. 1968.	132	48
Hendricks, R. C.; and Simon, F. F.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Flowing in a Curved Tube. Multi-Phase Flow Symposium. Norman J. Lipstein, ed., ASME, 1963, pp. 90-93.	123	43
Hsu, Yih-Yun; and Smith, J. M.: The Effect of Density Variation on Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, no. 2, May 1961, pp. 176-182.	133	48
Ito, H.: Friction Factors for Turbulent Flow in Curved Pipes. J. Basic Eng., vol. 81, no. 2, June 1959, pp. 123-134. Jackson, J. D.; and Evans-Lutterodt, K.: Impairment of Turbulent Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure CO ₂ Caused by Buoyancy Forces. Res. Rep. N. E. 2, Univ. of Manchester. England. Mar. 1968.	121 120	43 42
Kidd, G. J., Jr.: The Heat Transfer and Pressure Drop Characteristics of Gas Flow Inside Spirally Corrugated Tubes. Paper 69-WA/HT-3, ASME, Nov. 1969.	130	46

Geometric effects (cont.):		
McCarthy, J. R.; Trebes, D. M.; and Seader, J. D.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Nitrogen Tetroxide at High Heat Fluxes and in Axially Curved Flow Passages. Paper 67-HT-59, ASME, Aug. 1967.	75	45
McCarthy, J. R., et al.: Investigation of Cooling Problems at High Chamber Pressures. Rep. 6529, Rocketdyne Div., North American Aviation (NASA CR-78634), Sept. 15, 1966.	125	43
Owhadi, Ali; Bell, K. J.; and Crain, Berry, Jr.: Forced Convection Boiling Inside Helically-Coiled Tubes. Int. J. Heat Mass	(b)	
Papell, S. S.; and Brown, D. D.: Inlet Effects in Boiling and Near Critical Hydrogen Heat Transfer. Paper 69-HT-27, ASME, Aug. 1969.	134	48
Shiralkar, B. S.; and Griffith, Peter: Deterioration in Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressure and High Heat Fluxes. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 91, no. 1, Feb. 1969, pp. 27-36.	74	48
Shiralkar, B. S.; and Griffith, P.: The Effect of Swirl, Inlet Conditions, Flow Direction and Tube Diameter on the Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressure. Paper 69 WA/HT-1, ASME, Nov. 1969.	128	46
Taylor, Maynard F.: Heat-Transfer Predictions in the Cooling Passages of Nuclear Rocket Nozzles. J. Spacecraft Rockets, vol. 5, no. 11, Nov. 1968, pp. 1353-1355.	126	43
Wood, Rodney D.; and Smith, J. M.: Heat Transfer in the Critical Region - Temperature and Velocity Profiles in Turbulent Flow. AIChE. J., vol. 10, no. 2, Mar. 1964, pp. 180-186.	115	48
Theoretical considerations in forced convection:		
Deissler, R. C.: Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction for Fully Developed Turbulent Flow of Air and Supercritical Water with Variable Fluid Properties, Trans, ASME, vol. 76, no. 1, Jan. 1954, pp. 73-85,	135	50
Deissler, Robert G.: Analysis of Turbulent Heat Transfer, Mass Transfer, and Friction in Smooth Tubes at High Prandtl and Schmidt Numbers, NACA Rep. 1210, 1955,	136	57
Deissler, Robert G.; and Presler, Alden F.: Computed Reference Temperatures for Turbulent Variable-Property Heat Transfer in a Tube for Several Common Gases. International Developments in Heat Transfer. ASME, 1961, pp. 579-584.	213	52
Deissler, Robert G.: Effect of Uniform Longitudinal Strain Rate on Weak Homogeneous Turbulence in a Compressible Flow. NASA	146	57
Dittus, F. W.; and Boelter, L. M. K.: Heat Transfer in Automobile Radiators of the Tubular Type. Univ. Calif. Publ. Eng., vol. 2, no. 13, 1930, up. 443-461.	138	51
Eckert, E. R. G.: Discussion of Heat Transfer and Fluid Friction for Fully Developed Turbulent Flow of Air and Supercritical Water With Variable Fluid Properties, Trans, ASME, vol. 76, no. 1, Jan. 1954, pp. 83-84.	99	51
Graham, Robert W.: Penetration Model Explanation for Turbulent Forced-Convection Heat Transfer Observed in Near-Critical Fluids.	150	59
Goldmann, Kurt: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water and Other Fluids with Temperature-Dependent Properties. Chem. Eng. Progr. Symp. Ser., vol. 50, no. 11, 1954, pp. 105-113.	137	51
Goldmann, Kurt: Special Heat Transfer Phenomena for Supercritical Fluids. Rep. NDA-2-31, Nuclear Development Corp. of America, 1956.	78	52
Hall, W. B.; Jackson, J. D.; and Kahn, S. A.: An Investigation of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Carbon Dioxide, Proceedings of the Third International Heat Transfer Conference, Vol. 1. AIChE, 1966, pp. 257-266.	118	41
Hall, W. B.: The Effect of Buoyancy Forces on Forced Convection. Heat Transfer in a Vertical Pipe. Res. Rep. N. E. 1, Univ. of Manchester, England, Jan. 1968.	132	54
Hall, W. B.; Jackson, J. D.; and Watson, A.: A Review of Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Fluids at Supercritical Pressures. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, District. Experimental New OR 00, 1000 Departure.	131	54
Hall, W. B.; and Jackson, J. D.: Laminarization of a Turbulent Pipe Flow by Buoyancy Forces. Paper 69-HT-55, ASME, Aug. 1969. Hendricks, Robert C.; Graham, Robert W.; Hsu, Yih Y.; and Friedman, Robert: Experimental Heat-Transfer Results for Cryogenic	141 41	55 59
Hydrogen Flowing in Tubes at Subcritical and Supercritical Pressures to 800 Pounds Per Square Inch Absolute. NASA TN D-3095, 1966.	110	52
ness, n. L., and Kuiz, n. K.: A study of Forced Convection near transfer to supercritical hydrogen. J. near transfer, vol. 87, no. 1, Feb. 1965, pp. 41-48.	199	50
nsu, fin-fun; and Smith, J. M.: The Effect of Density Variation on Heat Transfer in the Critical Region. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, no. 2, May 1961, pp. 176-182.	133	53
May 1962, pp. 157-163.	140	54
Leontrey, A. 1.: To the Question of the Impairment of Turbulent Convection Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressures at Forced Flow of Fluid in the Vertical Channels. Paper 69-HT-60, ASME, Aug. 1969.	142	55
Meine-Pashaev, N. I.: Calculation of Convective Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressure. High Temp., vol. 4, no. 6, NovDec. 1966, pp. 789-798.	217	52
Moretti, P. M.; and Kays, W. M.: Heat Transfer Through an incompressible Turbulent Boundary Layer with Varying Free-Stream Velocity and Varying Surface Temperature. Rep. PG-1, Thermosciences Div., Mech. Eng. Dept., Stanford Univ., 1964.	149	58
Petuknov, B. S.: Heat Transfer in a Single-Phase Medium Under Supercritical Conditions. High Temp., vol. 6, no. 4, July-Aug. 1968, pp. 696-709.	144	57
Petukhov, B. S.; and Popov, V. N.: Theoretical Calculation of Heat Exchange and Frictional Resistance in Turbulent Flow in Tubes of an Incompressible Fluid With Variable Physical Properties. High Temp., vol. 1, no. 1, July-Aug. 1963, pp. 69-83.	214	52

^DInformation pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.

	Refer- ence	Page
 Theoretical considerations in forced convection (cont.): Popov, V. N.: Theoretical Calculation of Heat Transfer and Friction Resistance for Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Proceedings of the Second All-Soviet Union Conference on Heat and Mass Transfer. Vol. 1. C. Gazley, Jr., J. P. Hartnet, and E.R.G. Eckert, eds., California Univ. Press. 1966, pp. 46-56. 	215	52
Reichart, H.: The Principles of Turbulent Heat Transfer. Recent Advances in Heat and Mass Transfer. J. P. Hartnett, ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1961, pp. 223-252.	216	52
Simoneau, Robert J.; and Williams, James C. III: Laminar Couette Flow with Heat Transfer Near the Thermodynamic Critical Point. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 12, no. 1, Jan. 1969, pp. 120-124.	(b)	
Szetela, E. J.: Heat Transfer to Hydrogen Including Effects of Varying Fluid Properties. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 8, Aug. 1962, pp. 1289-1292.	143	55
Tanaka, H.; Nishiwaki, N.; and Hirata, M.: Turbulent Heat Transfer to Supercritical Carbon Dioxide. Presented at the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers 1967 Semi-International Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 1967.	65	52
Taylor, Maynard F.: Experimental Local Heat-Transfer and Average Friction Data for Hydrogen and Helium Flowing in a Tube at Surface Temperatures up to 5600 ⁰ R. NASA TN D-2280, 1964.	148	58
Van Driest, E. R.: On Turbulent Flow Near a Wall. Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute, University of California, Los	139	51
Weiland, Walter F., Jr.: Measurement of Local Heat Transfer Coefficients for Flow of Hydrogen and Helium on a Smooth Tube at High Surface-to-Fluid Bulk Temperature Ratios. Chem. Eng. Progr. Symp. Ser., vol. 61, no. 60, 1965, pp. 97-105.	147	58
Oscillations: Armand, A. A.: and Krasheninnikov, V. V.: Dynamic Characteristics of Heat Exchangers Working in the Near-Critical Revion	160	65
Thermal Eng., vol. 13, no. 1, 1966, pp. 83-89.	100	
Boure, Jean: The Oscillatory Behavior of Heated Channels. An Analysis of the Density Effect. Part I - The Mechanisms (Nonlinear Analysis). Rep. CEA-R-3049, pt. 1, Centre D'Etudes Nucleaires De Grenoble, France, Sept. 1966. Bouré, Jean: The Oscillatory Thresholds (Linearized Analysis). Rep. CEA-R-3049, pt. 2, Centre D'Etudes Nucleaires De Grenoble, France, Sept. 1966.	(b)	
Cornelius, Archie J.; and Parker, Jerald D.: Heat Transfer Instabilities Near the Thermodynamic Critical Point. Proceedings of the 1965 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. A. F. Charwat, ed., Stanford Univ. Press, 1965, pp. 317-329.	151	60
Craya, Antoine; and Bouré, Jean: Sur un mécanisme de mise en oscillations dans les éncoulements diphasiques chauffés. Acad. Sci. Paris. Compt. Rend., ser. A, vol. 263, Oct. 3, 1966, pp. 477-480.	154	64
Friedly, J. C.; Maganaro, J. L.; and Kroeger, P. G.: A Simple Criterion for Predicting Flow Oscillations in Fluid Heat Exchangers Operating Near the Critical Pressure. Presented at the 1968 Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Case-Western Reserve Univ., Cleveland, Ohio, Aug. 19-21, 1968.	158	65
Harden, Darrel G.; and Boggs, J. H.: Transient Flow Characteristics of a Natural-Circulation Loop Operated in the Critical Region. Proceedings of the 1964 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. Warren H. Giedt and Salamon Levy, eds., Stanford Univ. Press, 1964, pp. 38-50.	155	64
Harden, Darrel G.; and Walker, Bill J.: The "Density Effect" Model. Paper 67-WA/HT-23, ASME, Nov. 1967.	157	64
Hendricks, Robert C.; Graham, Robert W.; Hsu, Yih Y.; and Friedman, Robert: Experimental Heat-Transfer Results for Cryogenic Hydrogen Flowing in Tubes at Subcritical and Supercritical Pressures to 800 Pounds Per Square Inch Absolute. NASA TN D-3095, 1966.	41	61
Hendricks, R. C.; Graham, R. W.; Hsu, Y. Y.; and Medeiros, A. A.: Correlation of Hydrogen Heat Transfer in Boiling And Super- critical Pressure States. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 2, Feb. 1962, pp. 244-252.	42	60
Hines, W. S.; and Wolf, H.: Pressure Oscillations Associated with Heat Transfer Hydrocarbon Fluids at Supercritical Pressures and Temperatures. ARS J., vol. 32, no. 3, Mar. 1962, pp. 361-366.	76	22
Kafengauz, N. L.: On Physical Nature of Heat Transfer at Supercritical Pressure with Pseudo-boiling. Heat Transfer-Soviet Res., vol. 1, no. 1, Jan. 1969, pp. 88-93.	153	60
McCarthy, J. R.; Trebes, D. M.; and Seader, J. D.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Nitrogen Tetroxide at High Heat Fluxes and in Axially Curved Flow Passages. Paper 67-HT-59, ASME, Aug. 1967.	75	60
McCarthy, J. R., et al.: Investigation of Cooling Problems at High Chamber Pressures. Rep. 6529, Rocketdyne Div., North American Aviation (NASA CR-78634), Sept. 15, 1966.	125	60
Merlini, C.: Typical Heat Transfer Phenomena in a Natural Circulation Supercritical Pressure Water System. Presented at the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Symposium on Heat Transfer and Fluid Dynamics of Near Critical Fluids, Bristol, England, Mar. 27-29, 1968, Paper 7.	98	60
Thurston, Rodney S.: Thermal-Acoustic Oscillations Induced by Forced Convection Heating of Dense Hydrogen. Ph.D. Thesis, University of New Mexico, 1966	152	60
Thurston, R. S.; Rogers, J. D.; and Skoglund, V. J.; Pressure Oscillations Induced by Forced Convection Heating of Dense Hydro-	40	63
 Walker, Bill J.; and Harden, Darrel G.: Heat-Driven Pressure and Flow Transients in the Supercritical Thermodynamic Region. Paper 64-WA/HT-37, ASME. Nov. 1964. 	156	64
Wallis, G. B.; and Heasley, J. H.: Oscillations in Two-Phase Flow Systems. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, no. 3, Aug. 1961, pp. 363-369.	159	65
Zinman, Walter G.: Oscillations Near the Critical Point. Paper D-7, NAS/NRD Cryogenic Engineering Conference, Boulder, Colo., June 17-19, 1970.	(b)	
Zuber, Novak: An Analysis of Thermally Induced Flow Oscillations in the Near-Critical and Super-Critical Thermodynamic Region. General Electric Co. (NASA CR-80609), May 25, 1966.	39	61

^bInformation pertinent to the subject, but not referenced in the text.

111

	Refer- ence	Page
Choking phenomenon:		
Cruver, J. E.; and Moulton, R. W.: Metastable Critical Flow of Steam-Water Mixtures. Presented at the AIChE Fundamentals of Fluid Mechanics Symposium, Detroit, Mich., 1966.	167	67
Fauske, H.: Critical Two-Phase, Steam-Water Flows. Proceedings of the 1961 Heat Transfer and Fluid Mechanics Institute. R. C. Binder, M. Epstein, R. L. Mannes, and H. T. Yang, eds., Stanford University Press, 1961, pp. 79-89.	166	67
Henry, Robert E.: A Study of One- and Two-Component, Two-Phase Critical Flows at Low Qualities. Rep. ANL-7430, Argonne National Lab., Mar. 1968.	162	65
Hesson, James C.; and Peck, Ralph E.: Flow of Two-Phase Carbon Dioxide Through Orifices. AIChE J., vol. 4, no. 2, June 1958, pp. 207-210.	165	66
Moody, F. J.: Maximum Flow Rate of a Single Component, Two-Phase Mixture. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, no. 1, Feb. 1965, pp. 134-142.	168	67
Smith, Ray V.: Two-Phase, Two Component Critical Flow in a Venturi. Ph. D. Thesis, University of Oxford, England, 1968.	161	65
Williamson, R. C.; and Chase, C. E.: Velocity of Sound at 1 MHz near the He ⁴ Critical Point. Phys. Rev., vol. 176, no. 1, Dec. 5, 1968, pp. 285-294.	163	66
van Dael, W.; van Itterbeek, A.; and Thoren, J.: Measurements of the Sound Velocity in the Critical Region of Argon. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 12. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1967, pp. 754-761.	164	66
Zero gravity: Potter, J. A.; and Brill, F. Z.: Zero-Gravity Performance of a Supercritical Oxygen Storage and Supply System for Spacecraft Life Support. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Vol. 9. K. D. Timmerhaus, ed., Plenum Press, 1964, pp. 284-291.	169	68